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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of AustAsia Group Limited
and its subsidiaries (“AustAsia” or “the Group”), | am pleased to
present the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022
to the shareholders.

SOLID REVENUE AND VOLUME GROWTH AMID
CHALLENGING ENVIRONMENTS

2022 was a year full of challenges for China’s economy and
businesses. Compared to 2021, the Gross Domestic Product
(GDP) increased by only 3% (2021: 8.1%), representing one of the
lowest year of economic growth in over 30 years. Particularly, in
the 2nd half of 2022, due to the prevailing anti-Covid-19 policies
and restrictions, most of Chinese enterprises faced difficulties
such as customer demand contraction, supply chain disruptions
and weakening growth expectations.

EMMEARR

NABREBIEBARAT (BRI s [AREH])
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Even under such circumstances, AustAsia achieved a solid
revenue growth of 7.8%, to approximately 563 million US$, mainly
due to a 20.9% increase in raw milk sales volume compared
to 2021. This strong volume increase was attributable to a big
improvement in milk yield and a larger herd size. For the year
2022, both our raw milk production volume and sales volume
reached the highest level in the Group’s history. According to
Frost & Sullivan, the Group was the 3rd largest raw milk producer
in China’s dairy farm operating industry in 2022 in terms of raw
milk production.

UNPARALLELED OPERATING COMPETITIVENESS
WITH DIVERSIFIED CUSTOMER BASE

With deep expertise in large-scale dairy farm operations, we
continue to be ranked as No.1 in terms of average milk yield
(“AMY") per milkable cow (Ton/Head/Year) for 8 consecutive
years. In 2022, our AMY reach 13.3 tons, further solidify our
position as one of the most efficient and highest productive dairy
farm operators in China. Our product qualities, such as raw milk
protein content, fat content, aerobic plate count and somatic cell
count are significantly better than the national standards of China
and some of developed countries such as the US and the EU.

As we are the only large-scale independent high quality raw
milk suppliers in the industry, we have been able to develop and
maintain a well-diversified downstream customer base. Such
customers include leading national and regional dairy products
manufacturers, as well as emerging dairy brands that have gained
popularities among younger generations with fresh images. Unlike
most of our competitors who are controlled by their respective
downstream customers and are restricted from developing
outside customers, we believe that our approach of developing
and maintaining diversified customers is more sustainable
and provides a mutually-beneficiary solution for the long-term
development of the dairy products supply chain in China. We
will continue to develop new raw milk customers to maximize our
output and supply coverage.

BMEE N EBERT  RENERKABELERE? 8%
ZH563HEETT  TEARFERNEEER2021F
HIN20.9% - HEARDERNERRENE KRR
B RFBREIEK - 20226 RPNERNESE M
HESWEIALERES HFa/KF - RIBHEHF
DRIXEER - REEAE2022FE RN FBIEES
= KRB EER -

BRBENEERFERRSRILEFER

BENARRDEBEXESE T ENREEE M
RMGERESFOFTHENE (B/ B/ F)&
BNFARE— - R2022%F  HANFHENHEE
B13.308 - E—FEE T HIUEATERRR L&
SENPNTREEEE . i c RPNERED
E(WREHMPHNEAEZE  EhaE BEEEE
BL AR HRRENTRENER  RESHE
EEN:DIETE R

BHREMREARE - KR ENELEE R HE
B RMEARRNERZTETHEPE - %%
EPEREANBERMIEIHBEER - ARE
BB SESFE - RKBTROFTEILRmME -
BAZHIHTEEE THEP RXBRRAEIN
EPHMBFHF IR BAME  RAFZEMER
ZCEPNTRAERAAFHEL - RPEIERH
EENRHEREHTEESEMNOBRRT R - M
RBEFRETNRHMNESL  KAREHESHM
MEEMHEEEX -



NEW INITIATIVES TO ENHANCE VERTICAL
INTEGRATIONS AND IMPROVE PRODUCTIVITIES

Our First in-house pre-mix feed mill has started production in
March 2023. This will improve feed quality and help us control
feed costs in an environment where the continuingly increasing
feed material costs put great pressure on our operation and
profitability.

Over the years, we have made constant investments in improving
genetic qualities of our cattle. We believe that animal breeds and
genetics are key foundations for dairy and beef cattle farming
operations. We were among the first dairy farm operators in China
to successfully implement in vitro fertilisation (“IVF") and embryo
transfer (“ET") technology in our dairy farms. As compared to the
common industry practice of relying on imported frozen bovine
semen, the adoption of IVF technology can significantly shorten
generation interval, effectively increase pregnancy rates, optimize
genetic traits and re-productivity of dairy cows. In 2023, we
will build large size core herd centers and expand the genetic
improvement program in our farms with ET technology, which can
significantly enhance milk yield and cattle health.

BUILD A SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS WITH MINIMAL
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

Our vision is to become one of the top 3 dairy farm operators in
the world in terms of operational efficiency and eco-sustainability.
We are committed to building a sustainable business and
operating model that minimizes our impact on the environment.
We have set medium to long term sustainability targets. We
will continue to improve our operational efficiency such as
average milk yield to reduce the GHG emission per ton of raw
milk produced. Our continued emphasis on animal welfare will
also enable us to raise healthier cows and cattle, which in turn
increases productivity and efficient use of resources such as feed
and water. We will continue to explore new technologies and build
additional facilities that increase resource usage efficiency and
waste management. We will also explore the use of green energy
such as photovoltaic power generation to generate electricity for
our production activities.
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We have forward-looking plan in mind for the use of renewable
energy in our farms, 1 photovoltaic power generation project
contract and 4 biogas power generation project contracts were
signed in 2022, which was our first movement to optimize the
energy structure. The photovoltaic and biogas power generation
projects can not only enable our farms to use green electricity to
reduce GHG emission, but also benefit the society by integrating
the green power into the state grid.

In 2022, We have signed a 5-year RMB1.05 billion
sustainability-linked club loan (“SLL") to finance the construction
of two new dairy farms in Dezhou, Shandong. This SLL is our
first sustainability finance which demonstrates our commitment to
sustainable development. The loan interest rate is linked to 3 key
sustainability performance indicators (“Sustainable KPIs") namely
the use of green energy, reduction of GHG emission through
upgrading technology and improvement on animal welfare.
Dongying Shenzhou AustAsia Dairy Farm (‘DSAA”), one of our
dairy farms in Shandong, is the first and only dairy farm in China
that has been recognized by the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural
Affairs of the PRC in January 2022 as having both zero bovine
tuberculosis and zero brucellosis, establishing a benchmark for
the industry

SUCCESSFUL LISTING TO SUPPORT FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

In December 2022, we accomplished an important milestone of
being listed successfully on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The
Group now is an independent public company and has direct
access to international capital and equity markets. Even though
the global and Hong Kong stock markets have been extremely
volatile and the immediate share price performances of AustAsia
less encouraging, we believe that in longer term, becoming a
public company will bring significant benefits and value to the
stakeholders, customers and employees of the Group. We have
strong belief that with AustAsia’s unique and leading position in
the industry, with its experienced and dedicated management
team and its willingness of striving for best possible operational
excellency, we can overcome every short-term difficulties and
cyclicality to generate healthy and satisfactory long-term value
and return to our shareholders.
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IN CLOSING

AustAsia is well positioned to continue its growth in the world’s
largest dairy market by providing premium raw milk to Chinese
customers. As we work towards this direction, we are committed
to highest level of operating efficiency, high quality standards and
sustainable farming practices.

As Chairman of AustAsia, it has been my great honor to work with
all stakeholders and | want to thank each and every person for
their contribution towards making the Group a success.

| would like to show my appreciation to our business partners,
suppliers, staff and shareholders, who have been a part of our
development story. We look forward to continuing our trusted
long-term relationship with them.

| thank AustAsia’s management team and all our employees for
their continuous commitment and hard work during hard and
uncertain times, especially the period of Covid-19 in which we all
experienced difficulties in almost every respect of our lives. | also
want to thank my fellow Directors on the Board for their dedicated
stewardship of the Group and enabling us to navigate well through
2022. | look forward to continuing this onward journey with all of
you.

Chairman of the Board of Directors

TAN YONG NANG
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Locations of Production Units

EEEVHE

Chifeng, Inner Mongolia

Dongying, Shandong
IWRRE REEP
4 dairy farms 3 dairy farms
4405 3EMHHOE
1 beef cattle feedlot
VR4 FRS \ et eas eedlet

1 feed mill

1 B 878N TR

South China Sea Islands

4 L
1:32000000

Tai’an, Shandong

WRRR

1 sales and distribution company

Dezhou, Shandong
1REERDHE LT

7 !
2 dairy farms 1 dairy farm
2 B A5 1B 4405

Notes: All entities shown in this map are fully owned by AustAsia Group Ltd
it BT EEREREEEGRAREZERA -



Raw Milk Production volume (tons)
FERpEE (Hf)

1 8-9y 759,800
565,400 982,800

638,800 I

CAGR:
FIGEEIERE : 11.1%

2019 2020 2021 2022

Raw Milk Sales Volume (tons)

EResE ()
CAGR:
EEAMER : 10.1%
20.9%
712,800
533,800 ©33,800 589,800 I
2019 2020 2021 2022

Raw Milk Average Sellmg Price (RMB/kg)
RRMNEEEE (ARYE Tx)

-2 9%

479

2019 2020 2021 2022
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Average Milk Yield per Milkable Cow
(tons/head/year)

con W BERB4GEE (M EF)
FHERBER 1 20.1% 470/}
12.7

2019 2020 2021 2022

Beef Sales Volume (tons)

P4 SHE (W)

22'1y 11,338

9,118 9,285
I I I

2019 2020 2021 2022

CAGR:
FIEAERE : 30.0%

Beef Average Selllng Price (RMB/ton)
N4HEEE(ARY W)

\ '5-3%»
32,515 85.065 33501
I I I I
2019 2020 2021 2022
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Segment Revenue (USD million)

117,950

DEBA (BEXETRT)
= Raw milk ~ ® Beefcattle ~® Ancillary
R e Hith
CAGR:
FHUERERE  17.0% 521.9
404.8
351.5 43.0
349.8
2019 2020 2021 2022
Herd Size of Dairy Cows (heads)
Mo HERE (F)
L] (ialves & heifers = Milkable cows
CAGR: A RERF REF
FHEEHERE : 11.1% 106,174
91,779
86,040
53,735
52,439

2019 2020 2021 2022

Segment Gross Profit (USD million)
2WERN (BBXET)

= Raw milk  ® Beefcattle = Ancillary

JREH ks Hity
175.9
150.2
130.7
1216
2019 2020 2021 2022

Herd Size of Beef Cattle (heads)

4B RE (5R)
CAGR: 29,615
BEAHER  20.1%
FIEAMRE 1 20.1% 25 414
19,386
17,086 I
2019 2020 2021 2022
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2022 2021
20224 20214
FINANCIAL DATA USD’000 USD’000 Change
BB EE FTEx FE7T gk
Revenue WA 562,786 521,921 +7.8%
Gross profit EH 130,673 175,897 -25.7%
Profit before tax 758 Al ) 7 25,443 107,006 -76.2%
Profit for the year FRFE 23,394 104,572 -77.6%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company NARHER AEG
A 23,394 104,572 -77.6%
Basic earnings per share (USD) FRERZH (FTT) 0.04 0.17 -76.5%
Restated
&5
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2022 2021 Change
BRERIEE 20224F 20214 28
Annualised average milk yield per BEKH4FNF TS
milkable cow (tons) EfhE (BE) 13.3 12.7 +4.7%
Herd size of dairy cows (heads) P EERE (58) 117,950 106,174 +11.1%
Herd size of beef cattle (heads) WA-EF IR (3R) 29,615 25,414 +16.5%

During the Reporting Year, the increase in the Group's revenue
was mainly due to the strong increase in sales volume of raw milk
as a result of stronger performance in milk yield and larger herd
size. However, as disclosed in the Prospectus, we had expected
to record a decrease in profit for 2022 as compared to 2021.
During the Reporting Year, profit for the year was USD23.4 million
(2021: USD104.6 million), representing a decrease of 77.6% YoY,
which was mainly due to:

a) A decrease in gross profit of the Group’s business to
USD130.7 million (2021: USD175.9 million), representing a
decrease of 25.7% or USD45.2 million. The drop in gross
profit is mainly due to lower average selling price of raw
milk and higher feed costs incurred for the Group’s raw
milk and beef cattle businesses. Average selling price
of raw milk decreased by 7.4% YoY to USD688/ton or
RMB4,650/ton during the Reporting Year (2021: USD743/
ton or RMB4,789/ton).

RBEFE  AEEHRAENEZEHRREED
HERAENERA A MNFEHRAERAMBEZIE
ne ST - BANIRAREIRATINEE - 8220214 - &
B TBEAR 2022 F X3 R T R - RIREFE -
FRFEAE23.4FEETT(2021F 1 104.6B 8%
JT) R TE77.6%  TERHER :

a) AREBEBHNENTEEZ130.7TEEET
(20214 : 175.9H &%) * T T257%
HA52EHEET c EFTHRIDEZHRER
M FEERERASEEN R ER S
EBELEMEABAEN - RBEFE - R
BRI EER L T R7.4% 688,/
WE s A RR#E4,6507T WA (20214 : 7433
JT,/ MAEk AR#E4 7897 ) -
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In 2022, the feed cost per kilogram of raw milk increased
to RMB2.44 (2021: RMB2.10), representing a significant
increase of 16%, which contributed to the decrease in
gross profit compared to 2021. The increase in feed cost
is a result of the ongoing geo-political tensions between
Ukraine and Russia as well as the on-going Covid-19
outbreak resulting in disruption in supply chains globally,
which have a ripple effect on the supply price of the
Group’s feed.

Sales volume of the Group’s ancillary business, which
comprises mainly of branded milk products, weakened
in 2022 primary due to the spike in Covid-19 infections
towards the end of 2022 which led to more people opting
to stay home and hence lower demand of milk products
from large-scale cafes and milk tea stores and resulted
in the Group experiencing a lower sales of branded milk
products towards the year end.

Higher losses arising from changes in fair value of other
biological assets. The Group recorded a loss of USD23.4
million (2021: USD11.3 million), representing an increase
of USD12.1 million. The Group measures its biological
assets to derive at market prices based on certain key
assumptions such as milk price and feed cost. Changes in
the assumptions, which are reviewed by an independent
qualified professional valuer and the Group’s management
periodically, may affect the fair value of the biological
assets significantly. The continuing increase in feed cost
throughout the year especially in the last quarter of the
year resulted in lower valuation of the Group’s biological
asset which was measured as at 31 December 2022.

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a higher
finance cost which amounted to USD32.5 million (2021:
USD21.6 million), representing a YoY increase of 50.3%.
The increase in overall finance cost was mainly a result of
i) the continuing hikes of interest rates by the US Federal
Reserve resulting in higher borrowing expenses for the
Group’s loan denominated in USD, ii) higher interest
expenses pertaining to lease liabilities mainly as a result
of the Group’s additional leases of land in connection with
Pure Source Farm 3 and iii) additional borrowing drawdown
especially in the last two months of the year to meet the
expectations of funding needed in relation to Pure Source
Farm 3 which was commencing operation in 2023.
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Primarily as a result of the above, compared to an increase
in revenue by 7.8%, the Group’s profit for the year showed a
significant YoY decline of 77.6%, which was representative of
the operating environment and factors affecting the results of the
Group’s operations in the first half of 2022 as disclosed in the
Prospectus, which continued to persist through to the end of the
Reporting Year, and was largely in line with the decrease in profit
from continuing operations recorded in the six months ended 30
June 2022 compared to the same period in 2021 as disclosed in
the Prospectus.

BUSINESS AND OPERATIONAL UPDATE

Pure Source Farm 3: the production of raw milk has commenced
in January 2023. In view of growing demand of specialty milk to
better satisfy diversified customers’ needs, we plan to produce
A2 raw milk, a specialty milk, in this farm and make it a dedicated
farm within our dairy farm portfolio to supply specialty milk.

The construction of our in-house feed mill has completed in
February 2023. The feed mill will be able to supply pre-mixed
feed, flaked corn and pallets for internal consumption at our dairy
farms and beef cattle feedlots in 2023.

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

As disclosed in the “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” section
in the Prospectus, the Company intended to use all of the
net proceeds of the global offering of the Company’s shares
conducted in 2022 to build farm facilities and to purchase
equipment for Pure Source Farm 4, where construction was at the
time expected to commence in April 2023.

The Directors propose to change the use of the net proceeds to
pay for contractors and equipment vendors of Pure Source Farm
3, which were originally expected to be satisfied with internally
generated cash flows and bank loans. Please see “Report of
Directors” pages 82 to 84 for further details and reasons for the
change in use of proceeds.
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

2022 was a year full of challenges for China's economy.
Compared to 2021, the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) increased
by 3% only (2021: 8.1%), representing one of the lowest growth
rates in over 30 years. Per capita GDP of China reached
RMB85,700, also increased by 3% compared to 2021. In the 2nd
half of 2022, most of Chinese enterprises were facing challenges
such as customer demand contraction, supply chain disruptions
and weakening expectations.

Unlike the overall economy, the supply of raw milk in Mainland
China continued its strong momentum. According to the National
Statistical Bureau, total domestic raw milk production volume in
2022 was 39.4 million tons (2021: 36.8 million tons), representing
a 6.8% increase and was the 5th year of consecutive growth. In
comparison, the volume of imported milk products decreased
for the 1st time in more than 10 years by 18%, mainly due to
the weaker-than-expected demand and relatively high prices
compared to domestic milk products.

The Chinese government has put the development of dairy and
dairy farming industries as one of its priorities. In recent years,
relevant industrial authorities and ministries have issued policies
and directives to promote the self-sufficient growth of dairy
product supply chain. Such policies encouraged investments
in large-scale and modernized dairy farms, supported vertical
integration and consolidations. In early 2022, the Ministry of
Agriculture and Rural Affairs (2ZE2H#) further issued (Action
Plan to improve competitiveness of dairy industry in the period
of 14th Five — Year) ([ +HE | i35S N7 E)). The Action
Plan stated that by 2025, the domestic raw milk production volume
will reach 41 million tons, the annualised average milk yield per
milkable cow will reach 9 tons, and the no. of dairy farms with 100
heads of heed or more will account for 75% of total no. of dairy
farms. It was estimated that by the end of 2022, there were 6.2
million heads of Holstein dairy cows in China, representing a 10%
increase from 2021.

In 2022, due to the global price increases in agricultural, grain
and feed products caused by geopolitical conflict between
Ukraine and Russia, as well as high inflation of prices of utilities
in developed countries, the whole dairy farming industry in China
faced significant pressure of rising feed costs. Imported feeds,
such as soy bean meal, alfalfa, oat, etc., all experienced double-
digit price increases leading to industrial wide margin contraction
to China’s dairy farm operators.
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The landscape of beef cattle industry in China was very different
from that of dairy. In 2022, for the first time, the total supply of
beef cattle exceeded 10 million tons, reaching approximately 10.4
million tons, representing a YoY growth of 11.3%. Additionally, the
imported beef cattle volume also showed strong supply growth in
2022 with a YoY increase of 15.5% to 2.69 million tons. China has
become the third largest nation in beef production and second
largest nation in beef consumption. However, beef consumption
in China on a per capita basis was only 7.3 kg of beef in 2022,
which was significantly lower compared to all developed countries
and some of the developing countries, and ranked out of top 30
of all nations. Similar to dairy farms operators, beef cattle farm
operators also faced high feed cost pressure and disruptions to
supply chain logistics in 2022.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are one of the top five dairy farm operators in China, ranking
third, fourth and fifth among all dairy farm operators in China in
terms of sales volume, sales value and production volume of raw
milk in 2021. We provide premium raw milk to a well-diversified
customer base of downstream dairy product manufacturers. We
have a diverse customer base, ranging from leading national
and regional dairy product manufacturers (including Mengniu
(54), Bright Dairy (JtFA), Meiji (3)8), Junlebao (B4 E), New
Hope Dairy (¥1#% 2£%L%), Jiabao (%) and Classykiss (1)),
to emerging dairy brands (such as Chi Forest (JTRFM) and
Honest Dairy (f§%&')), and we are not reliant on our Controlling
Shareholders as our downstream customers. We are valued by
our customers for our stable supply of high-quality and traceable
raw milk in a large scale, which has enabled our customers to
promote their various high-end milk product offerings catering to
end customers.

We have two main business segments, namely our raw milk
business and beef cattle business. We also engage in an ancillary
business, namely the sales of milk products under our own brand
“RISHMS AustAsia”. Our integrated farming model includes (i)
dairy cow breeding and farming, raw milk production, and sales
of raw milk, and (ii) beef cattle breeding and farming, and sales of
beef cattle. Our business segments are described below:
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Raw Milk Business

We breed and raise dairy cows on our large-scale dairy farms,
and sell raw milk to downstream dairy product manufacturers in
China for further processing into premium dairy products. Our
well — diversified customer base includes (i) leading national and
regional dairy product manufacturers and (ii) emerging dairy
brands.

Beef Cattle Business

We started our beef cattle farming operations in 2018, pursuing
the rapidly increasing demand for beef products in China. We
raise beef cattle on our large-scale beef cattle feedlots, and sell
beef cattle to food service companies in China such as Zuo Ting
You Yuan (% BEAPT) and premium beef processors for further
processing into beef products. Our beef cattle business operates
synergistically with our raw milk business. By using steers from
our dairy herd for beef cattle stock, we are able to utilise the
resources of our raw milk business to develop our beef cattle
business.

Ancillary Business

In addition to our two main business segments, we also sell our
milk products under our own brand 245 AustAsia” to large-
scale cafes, milk tea stores, bakeries and refreshment chains in
China.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
Raw Milk Business

In 2022, 87.2% of our revenue was derived from the raw milk
business. We have achieved significant increases in some of the
major operating indicators:

o Revenue generated from sales of raw milk was
approximately USD491 million, representing an increase of
12% compared to that of 2021;

° The annual milk yield per milkable cow amounted to 13.3
tons (2021: 12.7 tons), representing a YoY growth of 4.7%;

. The total milk production for the year reached
approximately 759,800 tons (2021: 638,800 tons),
representing a YoY growth of 18.9%;
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The total milk sales volume reached approximately 712,800 tons
(2021: 589,800 tons), representing a YoY growth of 20.9%;

On the other hand, the average selling price of raw milk
decreased by 7.4% YoY to USD688/ton or RMB4,650/ton during
the Reporting Year (2021: USD743/ton or RMB4,789/ton). The
decrease in average selling price in USD also contributed by
the sustained unfavourable exchange rate of the local currency
in Mainland China against USD during the last quarter of the
financial year.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, we faced continuous increase
in our feeding costs, which reflected both the growth in our
operational scale as well as an increase in the price of feed and
feed additives in line with the market trend, and had expected
feeding costs to continue to be a major component of our cost
of sales going forward. During the Reporting Year, facing the
significant pressure of feed costs increase, our cost of sales
increased by 12.0% from USD438.0 million in 2021 to USD490.5
million in 2022, and our cost of sales before raw milk fair value
adjustments increased by 28.7% from USD284.3 million in 2021
to USD365.7 million in 2022. The increase in our cost of sales
was in line with the growth in our revenue and the market trend of
increasing prices of feed and feed addictives. In particular, our
direct materials costs mainly consist of feed cost increased by
34.7% from USD202.7 million in 2021 to USD273.0 million in 2022,
primarily due to an increase in our consumption as our cow herd
expanded and an increase in the procurement costs of feed and
feed additives.

We continued to mitigate the impact arising from the increase in
feed costs through measures such as optimizing the structure of
feed formula, enhancing the absorbance and conversion rate of
dairy cows, and leveraging on centralized procurement activities.
The direct feed cost per kilogram of raw milk (milking cow only)
was RMB2.44/kg (2021: 2.10/kg), representing a YoY increase of
RMBO0.34/kg, or 16%.

Dairy Farms

As at 31 December 2022, we owned and operated ten large-scale
dairy farms in Shandong and Inner Mongolia of the PRC with dairy
cows of 117,950 heads (2021: 106,174 heads), including 60,554
heads of milkable cows (2021: 53,735 heads). The aggregate
gross land area of our dairy farms was approximately 14,657 mu.
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Beef Cattle Business

Our beef cattle business operates synergistically with our raw milk
business. By using the dairy herd as the breeder for beef cattle
stock, we optimise the resources of our dairy farms and maximise
the value creation from the dairy cow breeding and farming value
chain. Furthermore, we may leverage our expertise in genetic
breeding of dairy cattle to improve the productivity of our beef
cattle. By the end of 2022, we owned and operated two large-
scale beef cattle feedlots with a total herd size of 29,615 heads of
beef cattle (2021: 25,414 heads).

In 2022, revenue from beef cattle business accounted for 9.9% of
our total revenue and reached USD55.7 million, representing an
increase of 10.3% compared to that of 2021. The total volume of
beef cattle sold was 11,338 tons (2021: 9,285 tons), representing
a 22.1% of sales volume growth. Due to the difficulties in
transportation logistics and periodical Covid-19 related policies,
the demand and price of beef cattle showed some instabilities
during the year. The average selling price per ton showed a 5.3%
decline, from RMB35,065 per ton of 2021, to RMB33,201 per ton.
On the other hand, similar to that of dairy farm operations, the
costs of beef cattle also increased notably, putting pressure on
the gross profit margin of this business segment.

Ancillary Business

In 2022, revenue from the ancillary business was approximately
USD16.6 million, accounted for 2.9% of our total revenue. The
revenue declined from USD33.4 million in 2021 significantly,
mainly due to the Covid-19 related lockdown policies that caused
many downstream coffee and milk-tea chains to cease operation.

Breeding

We implement a genetic improvement program to enhance the
breed of our dairy cows. As compared to the common industry
practice of relying on imported bovine semen, we use in vitro
fertilisation (“IVF”) and embryo transfer (“ET”) breeding technology
to breed better dairy cows. A high genomic female core herd is
the fundamental element for genetic improvement of a dairy cattle
breed. With the high genomic female core herd, we can improve
the herd genetic traits from both parental sides. The common
industry practice used by other large-scale farms only improves
the paternal side with semen. As of 31 December 2022, we had a
core herd of over 4,400 heads of dairy cows. With the core herd,
we also plan to produce embryos for other farms or bull stations
to improve their herd genetic value and create high-end bulls. In
2022, we transferred around 9,000 IVF embryos.
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Quality Control

As a raw milk producer and supplier, we put product quality
as highest priority. We are certificated by the Standard Quality
Food (“SQF") Programme, which is a rigorous and credible food
safety and quality programme that is recognised by retailers,
brand owners, and food service providers world-wide. We have
completed renewal and new application of SQF certificates from
December 2022 to February 2023 and all our dairy farms have
been SQF certified (SQF Food Safety Code for Primary Animal
Production Edition 9 for Raw Milk) as of 10 February 2023.

We implement a rigorous internal quality control system to
ensure high standards of our raw milk and beef cattle. We have
established a set of standard operating procedures for each
business operation throughout the process of production of
raw milk and beef cattle, including breeding and reproduction,
feeding, milking, identification and treatment of disease, veterinary
assistance, quality control and inventory management. Our
internal control policies also cover routine business operation of all
business lines and functional departments such as procurement,
capital allocation, insurance, dairy farm employees and regulate
our business procedures with strict quality control and safety
management measures.

Customers

Unlike most of our competitors who only have limited customer
base due to their shareholding structure constraints, we are an
independent dairy farm operator and have a well-diversified
customer base, we serve both leading national and regional
dairy product manufacturers such as Mengniu (54) and Bright
Dairy (¥BH), Meiji (BB4), Junlebao (E%%E), New Hope Dairy
(A EILE), Jiabao (£E) and Classykiss (1)),
rapidly-growing emerging dairy brands (such as Chi Forest (7T
SRFHM) and Honest Dairy (f5&)). In 2022, there were 15 active
dairy product enterprises as our raw milk customers and top five
customers accounted for 75% of our total revenue from sales of
raw milk. The number of customers is expected to grow further in
2023.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The following table sets forth the details of the Group's
consolidated revenue for the years indicated:

5t % (5 B8
WA
TR AKERARFENEABAFE

2022 2021

20224 20214

USD’000 UsSD’000

20224 20214

SFEEm FE1

Types of goods Raw milk =g 7k Ll 490,501 438,038
Beef cattle JR¥H 55,708 50,500
Ancillary business AL 16,577 33,383
562,786 521,921

During the financial year, the Group's revenue increased by 7.8%
YoY to USD562.8 million (2021: USD521.9 million). The increase
was mainly due to the strong increase in sales volume of raw milk
as a result of stronger performance in milk yield and larger herd
size during the Reporting Year.

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and ASP of raw milk for the years indicated:
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BRFE

2022 2021
2022F 20216

Sales Sales Sales Sales
revenue volume ASP revenue volume ASP
HEWA HE  FHYEE HEWA HE THER
USD’000 tons USD/ton UsD’000 tons USD/ton
TER W Ex/W FEL N A
Raw milk R 490,501 712,767 688 438,038 589,769 743

The Group’s total revenue of the sales of raw milk increased by
12.0% YoY to USD490.5 million during the financial year (2021:
USD438.0 million). The increase was mainly due to the increase
in sales volume of raw milk. The increase was partially offset by
a decrease in overall average selling price during the Reporting
Year.

Average selling price of raw milk decreased by 7.4% YoY to
uSDe88/ton or RMB4,650/ton during the Reporting Year (2021:
USD743/ton or RMB4,789/ton).

RAFBEFEE - AEBEHEES R LU AR L2
M12.0% %4905 A &3 T (20214 : 438.08 B%
JL) ° RZIBANEE R ER NS E LA - sZILINI D
WiRE FENEETEG TRATRE -

RMEFE  BRDFHEBRLL TE7.4% 2688
Er WESK AR 4,6507T  HE (20214 : 743%
gt/ sk AR #E4,7897T ) ©
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Total sales volume of raw milk increased by 20.9% YoY to
approximately 712.8 thousand tons during the Reporting Year
(2021: 589.8 thousand tons), mainly due to the rise in average
yield per milkable cow and the contribution of sales volume of raw
milk from newly acquired farms in June 2021.

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and ASP of our beef cattles for the years indicated:

BERE W R D

RBEFE  RENBHEERLIER20.9%E4
712.8 T W (20214 : 589.8 T W) - TEHNEFIEK
BEFHENE EA KRR 202156 AFKREKS
WERAHNEHEER ©

TRMIFTEEAFHERA - HERTFHEE
HORES

2022 2021
2022F 20216

Sales Sales Sales Sales
revenue volume ASP revenue volume ASP
HEWA HE THUEE  HEKRA HE THERE
USD’000 tons USD/ton UsSD’000 tons USD/ton
TER M Ex/W T B X/
Beef cattle LS 55,708 11,338 4,913 50,500 9,285 5,439

The Group’s total revenue from sales of beef cattle increased by
10.3% year on year to USD55.7 million during the financial year
(2021: USD50.5 million). The increase was mainly due to the
increase in sales volume of beef cattle. The increase is partially
offset by decrease in overall average selling price achieved
during the reporting year.

Average selling price of beef cattle drop by 9.7% year on year to
USD4,913/ton or RMB33,201/ton during the Reporting Year (2021:
USD5,439/ton or RMB35,065/ton).

Total sales volume of beef cattle increased by 22.1% year on year
to approximately 11,338 tons during the Reporting Year (2021:
9,285 tons), mainly due to the higher number heads sold during
the Reporting Year.

Sales volume for the Group’s ancillary business, which comprises
mainly of dairy products, has further weakened during the end
of 2022 when the spike in Covid-19 infections resulted in more
people opting to stay home and hence resulted in lower demand
of milk products from large-scale cafes and milk tea stores.

RATBEE - NEBHEAFOBUAR LIS M
10.3% &55.7H &3 (20214 : 505BEET) °
ZEMEBHRARAFHEEE I - ZIB IO RS
FENEEFHERE TR -

RFEFE  AFFHEEBRLE THKI7%=4,913
X7,/ WAk AR¥33,2017T WA (20214 : 5,439
E5T,/ WEEk AR #35,0657T ) o

RBEFE AFHBEERLER221%EY
11,3380f (20214 : 9,285MF) * TEMNRBEFE
HENAF SN -

R2022F RCovid-19RA SR EHFE Z NBIZERFE
R - B KRB I GEE R EE A LR S E SRR K
AREFNEMER (TECRARR) WEEE—F
AES5S o
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HERA
AEENHEXRATEARBPRAFTERAERK
TREIINARFEHERARRAA :

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales primarily consisted of cost of raw milk
and beef cattle. The following table sets forth the breakdown of
the cost of sales for the years indicated:

2022 2021

2022 20214

USD’000 USD’000

FTEx FE=T

Costs of sales of raw milk BT 89 85 65 Ak AR 490,501 438,038

Costs of sales of beef cattle AR EEKA 55,708 50,500

Costs of sales of ancillary business H B EER A 14,486 30,846

Cost of sales HERAR 560,695 519,384
Raw Milk Business RER R

TREIRARFERMPEBOHEEX AR

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost of sales of

the raw milk business for the years indicated: 4 -
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 % USD’000 %
TET % FET %
Direct Materials HEME 273,003 74.7% 202,710 71.3%
Labor Costs 85 TR A 19,502 5.3% 16,501 5.8%
Utilities NEEIE 38,502 10.5% 33,774 11.9%
Depreciation of property, M BEREETE

plant and equipment 16,657 4.6% 14,312 5.0%
Transportation fees EREA 18,051 4.9% 16,971 6.0%
Total a&t 365,715 100% 284,268 100.0%

During the Reporting Year, direct materials (mainly from silage,
forage grass, corn and soy-bean products) costs of raw milk
business amounted to USD273.0 million (2021: USD202.7 million),
representing a YoY growth of 34.7%, mainly due to the increase in

feed prices and the increase in the number of lactating cows.

RBEFE  RRNESNEEMR (FE2FF
WE - FARRZEM) KA A273.08 &%t (2021
F:202.788%EmT) ALER3A7%  TE2HR
ERHES ERR R A E B o
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Feed prices had significantly increased, globally and domestically
as a result of the ongoing geo-political tensions between Ukraine
and Russia as well as the on-going COVID-19 outbreak resulting
in temporary disruptions in supply chain. The Group implemented
various measures to enhance and streamline the procurement
process so as to reduce purchasing costs. The Group has
partially mitigated the impact of feed price increases on cost of
sales through improving the formula by adjusting the feed mix,
enhancing the health of cows, raising milk yield and reducing
expenditure.

Beef Cattle Business

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost of sales of
the beef cattle business for the years indicated:

BERE W R D

HREREERERY FEBA R EEZ RN
RFERICOVID-19Z EE MR E P E - 23K
K B RS RHE S K8 L3R o A5 BEREUE R4 5 A0
R ECRBRE - URRERERAE - AEEBEB
FAREARBEEICER S - WRNFEE - RRED
ERBITE - HTE D EAEEARHER LR HEE
BRAHFE -

SRS
TREFINARFEAF R HEKANRAD

2022 2021
20224 20214

USD’000 % USD’000 %

FEx % FE=T %

Direct Materials HEME 32,925 78.6% 23,442 81.6%

Labor Costs and Overhead costs 28 TR A Ik 82 AR 6,632 15.8% 3,835 13.3%
Depreciation of property, M BEREETE

plant and equipment 2,332 5.6% 1,460 51%

Total A&F 41,889 100% 28,737 100%

During the Reporting Year, direct materials (mainly silage, forage
grass, corn and soy-bean products) costs of the beef cattle
business amounted to USD32.9 million (2021: USD23.4 million),
representing a YoY growth of 40.5%, mainly due to the increase in
feed prices and the increase in the number of beef cattle lots.

Feed prices had significantly increased, globally and domestically
as a result of the ongoing geo-political tensions between Ukraine
and Russia as well as the on-going COVID-19 outbreak resulting
in disruption in supply chain. The Group implemented various
measures to enhance and streamline the procurement process
so as to reduce purchasing costs. The Group has lowered cost
of sales through improving the formula by adjusting the feed mix,
enhancing the health of beef cattle and reducing expenditure.

RREFE - AFEBNEEME (ZZ2RFF - K
BHEARRERM) KAAE32.9BEZET (20214 -
23.4HEBEIT) FALLIERE40.5%  TEmAFLHE
& R R WS RSN -

D

B S e B B 7R T 2 P R IBUR B B R B R IA
RFFEMCOVID-19RIEE M B EH - 2N E
M ERHBE IR RIS EFR o AN S B ERER S 1E e A0 38 e
BERBIRE - U ERBAR - REBEBAE
FRHE R BER T ~ BRATRERM D - )
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Gross Profit

The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and

SR

TREINBRMIEBZRATRFENENRENXH

gross profit margin of our business for the years indicated: il
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Gross profit Gross profit Gross profit Gross profit
EA EH
uUsD’000 margin USD’000 Margin
TER ER=E FET EAE
Raw milk JREH 124,786 25.4% 153,770 35.1%
Beef cattle BES 3,796 7.0% 19,590 38.8%
Ancillary Hitb 2,091 12.6% 2,537 7.6%
Total &t 130,673 23.2% 175,897 33.7%

In general, when milk prices increase, the Company’s profitability
will increase correspondingly under normal operation condition.

During the Reporting Year, gross profit of the Group’s dairy
farming business amounted to USD124.8 million (2021: USD153.8
million), representing a decrease of 18.8% YoY, which was mainly
due to the decrease in sales price of raw milk and higher feed
cost incurred. Gross profit margin of the Group’s dairy farming
business decreases to 25.4% (2021: 35.1%) which was mainly
due to lower average selling price of raw milk and increase in
feed prices in 2022.

Losses Arising from Changes in Fair Value Less Costs to
Sell of Other Biological Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the biological assets of the Group were
valued at USD495.4 million (31 December 2021: USD477.7 million)
by an independent qualified professional valuer, Jones Lang
LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, representing
an increase of 3.7% YoY, mainly due to the increase in herd size.

—RWE  ARRMBFAENEEREERRTE
BEE REHNER OISR EEL R

RBEFE  AEENFEBEEBHENA124.8
BEET (20214 : 1563.8F&EET) * RLED
18.8%  EEERANRERIMNEE TR MELERN
FRLAK ARG N o ANEE BB ER TR ER D
£25.4% (20214 : 35.1%) * 5 F BRMAMN20224F
KRBT EE T REARHER L -

REEMENEEAABEREERETEEHNE
B
M2022F 12310 » AEBMNEMEERB LA
ERBEGHEMPEBRTEETHREREBERAA]
(HBA495. 4B E3ET (20214128310  477.78
BXEjr) RHER3 7% EXZE2aREFEHE=E
DnATEL -
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Losses arising from changes in the fair value of less cost to sells
of other biological assets were USD23.4 million (2021: USD11.3
million). The higher losses are mainly a result of higher feed cost
and lower raw milk price used in the assumption to derive the fair
value of biological assets. In 2022, the feed cost per kilogram of
raw milk increased to RMB2.44 (2021: RMB2.10), representing a
significant increase of 16%. Coupled with a lower average selling
price of raw milk during the year, contributed to the higher amount
of fair value losses recorded for the reporting year of 2022. In
2021, the increase in feed cost is at a smaller percentage to
RMB2.10 (2020: RMB1.87), representing an increase of 12%.
However, on the other hand, average selling price in 2021 has
increased to RMB4,789 from RMB4,371, representing an increase
of 10% which help to reduce the overall losses arising from
changes in fair value less costs to sell of other biological assets in
2021.

Gains Arising on Initial Recognition of Raw Milk at Fair
Value Less Costs to Sell at the Point of Harvest

During the Reporting Year, the gains arising on initial recognition
of raw milk at fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest
amounted to USD124.8 million (2021: USD153.8 million),
representing a decrease of 18.9% YoY, mainly due to the
decrease in average selling price and higher feed cost recorded
during the financial year.

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) required that
raw milk harvested was initially measured at fair value less costs
to sell, and the difference between the fair value less costs to sell
and the actual costs incurred was charged to profit or loss.

Other Income and Gains

During the Reporting Year, other income amounted to USD7.4
million (2021: USD14.0 million) which mainly consisted of
government grants, insurance claims, technical service fees and
gain from bargain purchase. The higher amount recorded in 2021
was mainly due to a one-off exceptional gain arising from bargain
purchase of a subsidiary amounting to USD7.2 million. The higher
amount recorded in 2021 was also due to foreign exchange gain
recognised amounting to USDO0.8 million.

BERE W R D

REEMEMEEARBERBEEREAEENER
B23.4B8FEIT(2021F : 11.3EBXET) ° B5E
BN EEHREEEMEELAABENREPHE
AT EmBAERRARERNREAER - KR2022
F RPN TREARKAEINEARE2.447T
(20214 : ARM2.107T) » AIREIN T 16% ° 40
ZERERDOFHEERE - BHR2022FEFE
SRR EEEIEE M - R20214F » FRAANE
MO BA DR - BEARME2.107T (20204 -
ARBEA187TT)  IMNT12% ° R > B—HME
2021 FMIFHEEHRARBAITITEAZARE
4,7897C © EAT10% - AR EIE2021F kA E
hAEMBERARBEREER AN EEEE -

HBRERFZEQAABEREERNENSRIRLN
BEERRE

RIBEFE - HWRERIEZA R EBERBEEX AT S
BRERNEAMNREA124.8F8ETT (20214 -
153.8EEXET) * ALEEK18.9%  EFEZHRN
1E B B JE A 19 & (B R K I SRR AN 38 4 o

(EIFR B A5 3R 5 22 A1) ([KBIFR M B SR ) BRE
WHEN RPN FRAABEREEXATE 2
REBEREERARERESORAZ B Z/E
AR e

Ht A R Wz

(20215 : 14.0BEETT) - R2021FHFEFH
CHENFTEHRNZERE —HNBRAREEL XM
SEREINE7 2AEETT ° 2021 F B E S BN
F—RERHERINEWZ08EEET °
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Other Expenses

During the Reporting Year, other expenses amounted to USD6.8
million (2021: USD1.4 million), representing an increase of
386% YoY mainly due to foreign exchange losses and loss on
modification of leases recognised during the Reporting Year. The
Group has revised the lease tenure of certain lands used for its
dairy business and has recognised the associated loss arising
from this revision during the Reporting Year.

Finance Costs

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a higher finance
cost which amounted to USD32.5 million (2021: USD21.6 million),
representing a YoY increase of 50.3%. The increase in overall
finance cost was mainly a result of i) the continuing hikes of
interest rates by the US Federal Reserve resulting in higher
borrowing expenses for the Group’s loan denominated in USD,
ii) higher interest expenses pertaining to lease liabilities mainly
as a result of the Group’s additional leases of land in connection
with Pure Source Farm 3 and iii) additional borrowing drawdown
especially in the last two months of the year to meet the
expectations of funding needed in relation to Pure Source Farm 3
which was commencing operation in 2023.

Profit before Tax, Profit for the Year and Profit Attributable
to Owners of the Company

Profit before tax was USD25.4 million in the Reporting Year,
representing a decrease by 76.2% YoY, while profit for the year
was USD23.4 million, representing a decrease by 77.6% YoY.
Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to USD23.4
million during the Reporting Year (2021: USD104.6 million),
representing a drop by 77.6% YoY. This was mainly due to:

a) A decrease in gross profit of the Group’s business to
USD130.7 million (2021: USD175.9 million), representing a
decrease of 25.7% or USD45.2 million. The drop in gross
profit is mainly due to lower average selling price of raw
milk and higher feed costs incurred for the Group's raw
milk and beef cattle businesses. Average selling price
of raw milk decreased by 7.4% YoY to USD688/ton or
RMB4,650/ton during the Reporting Year (2021: USD743/
ton or RMB4,789/ton).

Htpix

REFE  HthHX A6.8EEFEIT (20214 ¢
14BFEET) » FLEN386% @ EEXZANER
EFERANINEEBRIEKNBEEE - RIWEF
B AEBBBITHANREBIANE T LiE
TRHERP B RERZIS R EE AR A8 -

7l FR A

RREFE  AEEHRSESNRBMERE - A32.5
BEETL(2021F : 216 EEZEL) © ALEMNT
50.3% ° HERMERK AL INEZHNI) EHHF
BMBEHAEBUETLHENERNEBER X E
meinEaBEEENFERZEN  T2RER
AEBERBISIFLHEE T - Riii) RRE %
BR(CERFANZEMRER) LURZ R 20234
IR B ERBUS M ABERE STk -

BAIAE - FRABAREQAES AEERE

HEFENRATFE A 4ABEET B TE
76.2% c MEAFNBEE23.465EET B TR
77.6% RWMEFE - ARARBEEAEBENEA
23.4BEFITL(20214F : 104.6EE%ET) ' AT
77.6%  ETEZHN:

a) REBEBHNEFNTHEE130.7TEEET
(20214F : 175.98&% L) * T T257%
WA5.2EEETL c EFMTHRIDIEZHRER
MEFEERERASER R ER S
EBELENRARKAEN - RBEFE @ R
KN T EE R T 7.4% =688 7T,
WEsk AR #4,6507T B (20214 : 7433
7T,/ MRE AR#E4,7897T IE) -
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In 2022, the feed cost per kilogram of raw milk increased
to RMB2.44 (2021: RMB2.10),
increase of 16%, which contributed to the decrease in
gross profit compared to 2021. The increase in feed cost
is a result of the ongoing geo-political tensions between
Ukraine and Russia as well as the on-going Covid-19
outbreak resulting in disruption in supply chains globally,
which have a ripple effect on the supply price of the
Group’s feed.

representing a significant

Sales volume of the Group’s ancillary business which
comprises mainly of branded milk products weakened
in 2022 primary due to the spike in Covid-19 infections
towards the end of 2022 which led to more people opted to
stay home and hence lower demand of milk products from
large-scale cafes and milk tea stores and resulted in the
Group experiencing a lower sales of branded milk products
towards the year end.

Higher losses arising from changes in fair value of other
biological assets. The Group recorded a loss of USD23.4
million (2021: USD11.3 million),
of USD12.1 million. The Group measures its biological
assets to derive at market prices based on certain key
assumptions such as milk price and feed cost. Owing to
the continuing increase in feed cost throughout the year

representing an increase

especially in the last quarter of the year resulting in lower
valuation of the Group’s biological asset.

BERE W R D

20224  FF 57 ERHBA SRR A iz
AR#E2 4478 (20214 : AR¥2.107T)
BE L T716% @ BEEFBR2021F T ©
ﬁﬂﬂﬁimmmﬁ%1&%%%&5@9@%%&

BB N Covid- 19 15 E B 2 Bkt
ﬂ’éﬁiqﬂlﬁﬁ ' a&ﬁﬁm%ﬁﬁ}%ﬂrw@{%ﬁﬁéi
HETE

2022 » AEENHMER (EERER
BB MEEEE  TEEANEER
2022 F KIFH IR Covid-19 A S IEBHE
%AU%E% L KB N0 R 35S &Y
FERERBRE  EMERAREBERAF
REFHR AR EERETERNER

HMAEMEEN AR BES B EEE
e AREBEERISEIE23.48 &3 T (2021
F:11.38FEmL)  WMT12. 188X
T AEBMERE T EE/RE (MO HE
BREARKA)FEEEMEENTHE
e HRERN(EERFANEE —EEE)
R AT A SRR EBEMEEMNS
ERFK -
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During the reporting year, the Group recorded a higher finance
cost amounted USD32.5 million (2021: USD21.6 million),
representing a YoY increase of 50.3%. The increase in overall
finance cost was mainly a result of i) the continuing hikes of
interest rates by the US Federal Reserve resulting in higher
borrowing expenses for the Group’s loan denominated in USD,
i) higher interest expenses pertaining to lease liabilities mainly
a result of the Group’s additional leases of land in connection
with Pure Source Farm 3 and iii) additional borrowing drawdown
especially in the last two months of the year to meet the
expectations of funding needed in relation to Pure Source Farm 3
that will commence operation in 2023.

Profit for the year in 2022 was also impacted by a tax expense
of USD2.0 million recorded by the Group in 2022 which is lower
than that in 2021 of USD2.4 million. The lower income tax expense
was mainly attributable to a one-off deferred income tax expense
recognised in 2021 amounting to USDO0.6 million. Excluding the
impact from deferred income tax in 2021, the Group recognised
an increase of USDO0.2 million of income tax during the reporting
year. The slight increase in income tax is consistent with the
higher revenue generated by the Group in 2022 which resulted in
higher withholding taxes arising from the payment of royalty fees
by the subsidiaries in Mainland China to the Company.

During the Reporting Year, basic and diluted earnings per Share
of the Company (the “Share”) was USD0.04 (2021: USDO0.17 per
Share).

Non-IFRS Financial Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements which
are presented in accordance with IFRSs, we also use non-
IFRS measures as additional financial measures, which are not
required by, or presented in accordance with, IFRSs. We believe
that such non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons of operating
performance from period to period and company to company by
eliminating potential impacts of certain items described below.
We believe that these measures provide useful information
to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they
help our management. However, our presentation of these
non-IFRS measures may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures presented by other companies. The use of these non-
IFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool and should not
be considered in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of,
our results of operations or financial condition as reported under
IFRSs.

RBEFE  AEEHSESNRENKE - B32.5
BABEET(2021F : 216 EE3ET)  ALLEMT
50.3% ° BEEBERK AL NEZLHNI) EHHT
BNEERALENETHENERNEER X E
m-inEEaEREMAERZIEN  FERER
REBRBRBUSIFIAE L - Kiill) RREZ
BR(CERFANZEMREAR) LURZB1K2023F
PR ENERBIS3NREEBERES TN -

2022 F M F MFE TN B AN & B £ 2022 F 15 F 18
FAX20BEBETNTE  ZSEEN2021FH2.4
BBEL - IEHAIHL ETBRHMN 2021 FHER
B — KB EHREZ0.6 AEXETT ° 5/FR2021
FREMBROTER  AEEBRBRBEFER
FTERiE N0 2EEFET - ATEHR A EHUEMERE
EE2022FELEMNRSRA B EERRAPERK
HMHHB AR MARR L EERBMEEN
TEFNFLG 0

RFEFE AR ANEREAREEHFE0.04
EJT (20214F : BIKOA7ETT) ©

(BB EER) MBHEER

REARMBRB(ERFBHREER) 27 0EE 8
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TR & 2RI ) TR TE & 33 SR AR IR K B PR B 7 T o5 2
)25 - RARBR - ZFI(BERMBRSEER)
AERREEBERTXMAE THENEELE -
RUBTRAMERIRAARZKEXERTTE
o ZARE  REAEREFE/REBEREMAL
THEMFERMANGAEEXRBRHTERER
TWEENEEETHMIEABER —&K - R
- B2 NZEIRCKBEEFBREER)FE
ERA R EEEEM AR 2 AUE BN ER
RETHER - ARSI (ERMBREER)AE
BRERAITTAFERRYE - B ANERERMAR
ECEBRP B REER) RENZLEZERM BN
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We add back share-based payment expenses and listing
expenses to derive adjusted net profit from the year. We define
EBITDA as profit for the year plus (i) depreciation of property,
plant and equipment, (ii) depreciation of right-of-use assets, (iii)
amortisation of intangible assets, (iv) interest expenses minus
interest income and (v) income tax expenses. We add back
share-based payment and listing expenses charged in profit or
loss to EBITDA to derive adjusted EBITDA. Share-based payment
expenses represent employee benefit expenses incurred in
connection which are primarily non-cash in nature.

The following table sets out a reconciliation from profit for the year

BERE W R D

BFBARDBERONRA R MR ME -
B ABEFRLH - RPEEBITDAR R AFA
FEMENE  BERSRBITE : (HVEAEEE
WE : (IEREEZE  (iv)FEHR ARSI
A R(WFIBERES « MK ARGD BERHM K
R EEEMBR A INE ZEBITDA » LAEHA
FIEEEBITDA o LARRD B ERE A B A5 FTHEE
EEERAAY  E—MAXFTZEIFBESME -

TREFIR AR R 00 AR S 3F R R B 7

to non-IFRS measures for the financial years indicated:

WELEAD T EIRTOEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FET FEx
Profit for the year FRFE 23,394 104,572
Add: o
Share based payment expenses AR BEE R 13,395 16,036
Listing expenses charged in profit or loss BERNRE EmHX 8,914 -
Adjusted net profit (non-IFRS measure) FRKFHRAR (ECERR B
BREER)FTRER) 45,703 120,608
Profit for the year FAFE 23,394 104,572
Add: hn
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEREETE 21,469 18,692
Depreciation of right of use assets TREEENE 3,241 2,828
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESN 356 345
Interest expenses FEREZ 32,527 21,635
Income tax expenses FriSHiA > 2,049 2,434
Less: DA
Interest income FLEYA (488) (611)
EBITDA (non-IFRS measure) EBITDA (kBB R E
EADFEER) 82,548 149,895
Add: o
Share based payment expenses VARG (0 BERE A R X 13,395 16,036
Listing expenses charged in profit or loss BESNRE LR 8,914 -
Adjusted EBITDA (non-IFRS measure) KAREBITDA (GECEIFR BT 15
WEER)FTEIRE) 104,857 165,931
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EBITDA (Non-IFRS Measure)

During the Reporting Year, EBITDA has decreased to USD82.5
million (2021: USD149.9 million) which represents a drop of
44.9%. The drop in EBITDA during the Reporting Year is mainly
attributable to (i) decrease in overall gross profit by 25.7% during
the Reporting Year, (ii) one off listing expenses recognised
amounting to USD8.9 million in connection with the Company’s
initial public offering and global offering and (iii) higher losses
from changes in fair value in other biological assets during the
reporting year amounting to USD23.4 million (2021: USD11.3
million).

Adjusted EBITDA (Non-IFRS Measure)

During the Reporting Year, adjusted EBITDA has decreased to
USD104.9 million (2021: USD165.9 million) which represents a
drop of 36.8%. The drop in EBITDA during the Reporting Year is
mainly attributable to (i) decrease in overall gross profit by 25.7%
during the Reporting Year and (ii) higher losses from changes
in fair value in other biological assets during the reporting year
amounting to USD23.4 million (2021: USD11.3 million).

Adjusted Net Profit (Non-IFRS Measure)

During the Reporting Year, adjusted net profit decreased to
USD45.7 million (2021: 120.6 million) which represents a drop of
62.1%. The drop is largely attributable to (i) overall decrease in
gross profit to USD130.7 million (2021: USD175.9 million), which
represents a drop of 25.7%, (ii) higher losses from changes in
fair value in other biological assets during the Reporting Year
amounting to USD23.4 million (2021: USD11.3 million) and (iii)
higher financing costs amounting to USD32.5 million (2021:
USD21.6 million).

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the Reporting Year, the Group funded its cash
requirements principally through a combination of cash generated
from operating activities, bank borrowings and net proceeds from
the global offering of the Company.

EBITDA (F (EIfR B T & 22 R ) it BIE#E)
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EBITDARAEFZRAN()BREFERNBEEN T
257%  (INVERBBAARRERAREE L 2B
EH—RELEMAZ8.9BEETLL(i)REFENA
HAEMEEAREBEZSEENEEIEINE23.4
BEZXET(2021F : 11.3HEET) °

EAREBITDA GE(RRMBHEER) B
=)

RIREFE - LHAZEBITDAR L E104.98 B ETT
(20214 : 165.9E&*E7L) ' B 36.8% ° HEF
FEREBITDARADEBRZHA(NREFENEE
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M3EEET) °
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The following table sets forth our cash flows for the reporting
years indicated:

BERE W R D

TREFIRFPRATREFENRSRE

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

USD’000 USD’000

FET FEr

Net cash flows from operating activities KRB EAMNIRSREFE 160,750 114,794

Net cash flows used in investing activities KREEHMARSREFE (167,293) (223,643)

Net cash flows from financing activities BB ESHEENASREFHE 44,539 87,556
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents R4 MBS ZEYILMN,

CRA) 28R 37,996 (21,293)

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes, net SMNEERE B EFE (3,003) 121

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year F#3R & NIRE&ZEY 22,145 43,317

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FRRASEBSEEY 57,138 22,145

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

During the Reporting Year, net cash flows from operating activities
was USD160.8 million. For the year ended 31 December 2021, net
cash flows from operating activities was USD114.8 million.

Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

During the Reporting Year,
activities was USD167.3 million, which was mainly attributable
to (i) payments for biological assets of USD170.7 million and
(ii) payments for purchases of property, plant and equipment of
USD92.4 million, partially offset by the proceeds from the disposal
of biological assets of USD95.0 million.

net cash flows used in investing

For the year ended 31 December 2021, net cash flows used
in investing activities was USD223.6 million, which was mainly
attributable to (i) payments for biological assets of USD132.7
million, payments for acquisition of subsidiaries of USD115.5
million and (iii) payments for purchases of property, plant and
equipment of USD68.3 million, partially offset by the proceeds
from the disposal of biological assets of USD92.0 million.

REFDELENRSREFHE

RBEFE  CEFHEENIRESTEFHEA160.8
BEET  cHE2021F12A31BILFEE K25
HEANBESREFERI1148BEBET °

REZHMAREREFR

RWEFE  REZHFARSREFER167.38
BE FERA)VEMEENFKI7T0.7TEEETR
(INBEME  BERLENR2IBEEET  HH
EEMEEMSHIE.0EBETBOEE -

HE2021F12A31HIEFE  BEEZHMARS

MEFHEACIABETL TEXRA)AEMEE

132 78&ET » (I REHBARMNHK11558
EETK(NEEDE BEAREMNK8.3EEE

T WHEEMEEMBSRIBER OBEEXTHDK

35



36 AustAsia Group Ltd.
MEEEARARA

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DN

Interest-Bearing Borrowings sFEMER
2022 2021
2022 20214
Effective Effective
interest interest
BBA= ERFI%
rate (%) Maturity USD’000 rate (%) Maturity UsD’000
(%) Z8 A SEESTE (%) | = FE=1
Current BN R
Bank loans - secured BTER - BER 3.8-5.08 2023 67,104 3.85-5.22 2022 25,056
bank loans - secured RERITERNEET S -
BHA 4.21-7.29 2023 57,540 4.13-7.3 2022 40,500
124,644 65,556
Non-current JEENHR
Bank loans - secured BTER - BER 4.21-7.29  2024-2028 187,282 41373 2023-2026 202,422
311,926 267,978
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Analysed into: DM
Bank loans: RITER
Within one year or on demand —FARIRERK 124,644 65,556
In the second year FF 47,931 70,024
E=FEFERF
In the third to fifth years, inclusive (BEEREMTE) 128,974 132,398
Above five years RFEUE 10,377 -
311,926 267,978
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Net Cash Flows Generated from Financing Activities

During the Reporting Year, net cash flows generated from
financing activities was USD44.5 million which was mainly
attributable to new interest-bearing bank borrowings of USD163.7
million and the gross proceeds received from the initial public
offering of the Company’s equity amounting to USD25.2 million,
partially offset by (i) repayment of interest-bearing bank
borrowings of USD98.7 million, (ii) principal portion of lease
payments of USD21.7 million, and interest paid of USD21.9 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, net cash flows generated
from financing activities was USD87.6 million which was mainly
attributable to new interest-bearing bank borrowings of USD267.4
million, partially offset by (i) repayment of interest-bearing bank
borrowings of USD147.4 million, (ii) principal portion of lease
payments of USD14.4 million, and (iii) interest paid of USD13.9
million.

Contingent Liabilities and Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the Group’s
assets.

The Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i) As at 31 December 2022, deposits of USD860,000 were
pledged to banks to secure certain bank borrowings
granted to the Group (31 December 2021: USD930,000);

(i) As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables of
USD48,643,000 were pledged to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2021:
USD40,426,000);

(iii) As at 31 December 2022, inventories of USD81,575,000
were pledged to banks to secure certain bank
borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2021:
USD65,504,000);

As at 31 December 2022, property, plant and equipment of
USD49,735,000 were pledged to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2021:
USD40,530,000);

BERE W R D

BMETBREREREFE

RBEFE BELZBASRSREFERLI458
BEn TERANMIEF BRITERIEITERE
EXTRBARABRARERAMEE WIS R
MER26 2B ERTT - W()EE BRITERS.7A
BEL (VHENRNASHO201 7AERT &
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HE2021F12A31HIEFE  MEFHAEFRS
MEFHEAB7T6EERTL TERRARNMIETE
RITER267 4B EETT - H()EEF BRITERK
147 A8 BEx  (IVHERRNAEASHBH 14488
FE50 0 R(i)BAMFIE13.9BEBETATE K -

FEEEREERR

R2022F 12 A31H » AEBMNE TRITREMBE
FRARE B E ERR G R EEIT -

AEBERRITEFUA T B IREEIR

0 M2022F 12 H31H * /75£860,000% T
(2021412 A31H : 930,000%7T) B K i
TERIT - MRS AEEERNE THRTE

= .
TA

(i) MR2022%F 12 A31H - FEURFIE48,643,000
X7 (20215128318 : 40,426,000 7T)
BEEIETFIRIT - MRS AL BEENE TR
TR

MR2022F12/831H » F&81,575,000% T

(2021412 A318 : 65,504,000%7T) 21K

BTRT - LIS AEEEROSE TRITE

ET
N

(iii)

MN2022F 128310 W¥E  BMELR
%49,735,000% L (20214F 128318 :
40,530,000 7T) BB FIEIT - SUEEA
EEERNE TRTER

(iv)
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

As at 31 December 2022, biological assets of
USD477,057,000 were pledged to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2021:
USD319,248,000);

As at 31 December 2022, right-of-use assets of
USD1,925,000 were pledged to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2021:
Nil);

As at 31 December 2022, shares of a subsidiary of
USD26,430,000 were pledged to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2021:
USD26,430,000);

As at 31 December 2022, investments in certain
subsidiaries of USD336,967,000 were pledged to banks to
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the Group (31
December 2021: USD336,967,000)

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s bank
loans amounting to USD139,558,000 were guaranteed by
the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Group (31
December 2021: USD66,170,000).

Loan agreements with covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholder

The Company has certain loan agreements which require the

controlling shareholder to maintain (directly or indirectly) at least
30% of share capital of the Company. By the end of the Reporting
Year, the outstanding amount of such loans were US$233.6m, the
average tenure for working capital loans is 1 year, and for term
loans in the range of 1 — 4.5 years.

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2022 and 2021.

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

R2022%12H31H £ EE
477,057,000% 7T (202112 A31H :
319,248,000%70) B IR FIRTT - ARUS A
SEERNE TRITER

2022128318 + FA#EE E1,925,000
X0 (2021F 128318 &) B\ TR
17 VB AREEERNE TIRITERK

R2022F12A318 ' WWE R AKRM®D
26,430,000k 7t (2021412 A31 8 :
26,430,000 L) B M FIR1T - AEE AR
SEERNE TRITEN

R2022F12A31H  ETHERARKE
336,967,000% 7t (20214124318 :
336,967,000 7T) BB T IRTT - LEVEA
EEERNE TRITER ©

#2022 12A31H » AEM 139,558,000
EXNIEDRITERAARBMAERT
AT FRERMEER(2021F12A318 -
66,170,000 7T) °
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Employees

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate
talented employees. To this end, as part of our human resource
strategy, we are committed to building the most competitive talent
team in our industry. We primarily recruit our employees through
on-campus job fairs, recruitment agencies and online channels.
We provide regular training and reviews to our employees to
continuously upgrade their skills in line with the industry trends
and enhance their performance. Therefore, we can attract and
retain talented employees and maintain a stable core management
and technical team.

The total employee remuneration expenses (including directors
and chief executive’s remuneration, pension scheme contributions
and share-based payments expenses) for the Reporting Period
were approximately USD58.7 million (2021: USD57.4 million),
representing an increase of 2.3% YoY.

STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

Our mission is to become one of the TOP 3 dairy farm operators
in the world in terms of OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY and ECO-
SUSTAINABILITY. We focus on creating long-term value for our
stakeholders in a responsible and sustainable way. To achieve our
mission, we intend to pursue a comprehensive strategy focused
on the following:

Further expand our dairy farms and diversify our customer
base

Driven by government policies, consumers’ increasing health and
nutrition awareness in China, the demand for dairy products has
been rapidly increasing, stimulating growth for dairy and raw milk
suppliers. In January 2023, Pure Source 3, a newly-built large
scale dairy farm has commenced operation, adding A2 special
raw milk to our existing portfolio. We will also extend our reach
to potential new customers close to the new farm locations, and
further diversify our customer base.

BERE W R D
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Continue to develop our beef cattle business

While China has become the second largest nation in beef
consumption, the beef consumption in China on a per capital
basis was significantly lower compared to all developed countries
and some of the developing countries. Therefore, there remains
potential for growth in demand for beef in China as consumer
taste continues to change and consumption catches up with
other developed and developing countries. We have formed
partnerships with food service companies in China such as Zuo
Ting You Yuan (Z£E4APT) and premium beef processors. We
plan to further expand and diversify our customer base in order
to improve our reputation as a quality beef cattle supplier and to
develop a resilient beef cattle business.

Our raw milk and beef cattle businesses work synergistically
with each other. The experience, management systems and
technologies developed from managing large-scale dairy farms
and cow breeding can be transferred and applied to our beef
cattle feedlots to enhance business growth. We also enjoy cost
efficiencies through economies of scale and optimisation of
resources such as land and our team of technical experts.

Enhance in-house integration through genetic breeding
technology and feed mill operation to further improve our
operational efficiency

Animal breeds and genetics are a key foundation for dairy
farming and beef farming operations. Breakthroughs in genetic
technology can increase productivity, lower disease and mortality
rates, as well as lengthen the lifespans of dairy cows and beef
cattle. We plan to build core herd centres and expand the genetic
improvement programme in our farms with ET technology, which
can enhance milk and beef cattle yields. We plan to use genomic
testing and in vitro embryo production technology to rapidly
build a core herd of cattle with desired genes and genetic traits,
thereby boosting our production capacity and accelerating the
genetic improvement of our existing dairy cows and beef cattle.
With the support of these new technologies, we expect that our
farms will achieve higher operational efficiency, larger production
capacity and enhanced product quality. Our in-house pre-mix
feed mill started production in March 2023, which will further
improve feed quality and help us control feed costs.

BEZRAFEE
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Build a sustainable business with minimal environmental
impact

We are committed to building a sustainable business and
operating model that minimises our impact on the environment.
We have set medium to long term sustainability targets. We
will continue to improve our operational efficiency such as
average milk yield to reduce the GHG emission per ton of raw
milk produced. Our continued emphasis on animal welfare will
also enable us to raise healthier cows and cattle, which in turn
increases productivity and efficient use of resources such as feed
and water. We will continue to explore new technologies and build
additional facilities that increase resource usage efficiency and
waste management. We will also explore the use of green energy
such as photovoltaic power generation to generate electricity for
our production activities.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have other
plans for material investments and capital assets.

Capital Management

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
debt divided by capital. Debt includes interest-bearing bank
borrowings, loans from a former shareholder and lease liabilities.
Capital includes equity attributable to owners of the parent. The
gearing ratios as at the end of each reporting period were as
follows:
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ErER

AEBEEREABELE (AEBFERAER)
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3o NEAHEHRRNERBFELEMT

2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
TER FErT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRBITIER (RB RIERE)

(current and non-current) 311,926 267,978
Loans from a former shareholder KA —BRIREER - 25,540
Lease liabilities (current and non-current) HEBE (RSB MIERS) 191,041 151,156
Debt B 502,967 444,674
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BRARHE AEIGER 800,304 786,192
Gearing ratio BEXRBELE 63% 57%
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Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk principally relates
to the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China, Singapore and
Hong Kong where some of the transactions are denominated in
United States Dollar (“USD”) and Singapore Dollar (“SGD”). The
functional currencies of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland
China, Singapore and Hong Kong are Chinese Renminbi (“RMB"),
SGD and Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD"), respectively.

Therefore, the fluctuations in the exchange rates could affect the
Group’s results of operations. The Group entered into forward
currency contracts to hedge foreign currency risk arising from
the Group’s bank loans denominated in USD as disclosed in note
31 to the financial statements. In the opinion of management, the
Group has no significant foreign currency risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair values of monetary
assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity to a reasonably
possible change in the USD exchange rate against the respective
functional currencies of the Group’s entities, with all other
variables held constant.

SMEE LB

AEEEBENIMNERREEEAKERNPEAL -
g REBOMBERARNE DR HAETT ([E
T ) REhE T (T3 ) SIEERE - AEERFE
A~ B R EBOE R R NINEEE SRR
ARE(TARE]) - #HakBT(BT]) -

FHit - EXRB AT EARENREEE - A%
BRITEHEENRE PP B WMKRME31 AT H
BV B AR TTHIE R IRTT B KA E £ B SMNE R
B BEERR  AEETEEAINERL

TRETAREBNFN (HASEEERAEHA
HBERD) RAEBERERELBEBRETE
MERT - WETHASEERIEEY RS NE
OB B G -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
USD rate before tax in equity**
=i RE N BLAT A E R IE
SRS & CRd) S CRD) **
% UsD’000 uUsD’000
% FER FTER
2022 20224F
If the USD weakens against METHARERE
the RMB (5) 836 836
If the USD strengthens against WMETHARENE
the RMB 5 (836) (836)
2021 20214
If the USD weakens against WMETHARKERE
the RMB (5) 326 326
If the USD strengthens against WETHAREHE
the RMB 5 (326) (326)

Excluding foreign currency translation reserve.

* TEBINEHERHE -
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OTHER DISCLOSURES

During the Reporting Year, the Company did not make any
advance to any entity.

During the Reporting Year, the Company did not have any breach
in relation to loan agreements.

During the Reporting Year, the Company did not have any
information about any guarantee regarding the financial
performance of a company or business acquired needed to be
disclosed.

BEEWNE DN
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The Board is pleased to present this report of the Directors
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in Singapore under the Singapore
Companies Act as a private company limited by shares named
AustAsia Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. on 17 April 2009. The
Company was renamed as AustAsia Group Pte. Ltd. on 22
September 2022. The Company was converted into a public
company limited by shares and changed its name from AustAsia
Group Pte. Ltd. to AustAsia Group Ltd. on 14 November 2022. The
Shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 30 December 2022
(the “Listing Date”). The Prospectus of the Company dated 16
December 2022 has been published on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website (www.
austasiadairy.com).

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company has two main business segments, namely raw milk
business and beef cattle business. The Company is also engaged
in an ancillary business, namely the sales of milk products under
our own brand “JEIZEH5 AustAsia”. The integrated farming model
includes (i) dairy cow breeding and farming, raw milk production,
and sales of raw milk, and (ii) beef cattle breeding and farming,
and sales of beef cattle.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 is set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the consolidated financial statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on page 145-147 of this annual
report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions
form part of this report of the Directors.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report (i.e. 25 April 2023) are as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Yong Nang (Executive Chairman)

Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YANG Ku

Ms. GAO Lina

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED”)

Mr. SUN Patrick (appointed with effect from 5 December 2022)
Mr. LI Shengli (appointed with effect from 5 December 2022)
Mr. CHANG Pan, Peter (redesignated as INED on 24 March 2022)

Pursuant to Constitution 34.8, any person so appointed either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director by the Directors
shall hold office only until the next annual general meeting, and
shall then be eligible for re-election. Mr. SUN Patrick and Mr. LI
Shengli will hold office until the next annual general meeting of the
Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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Pursuant to Constitution 34.1, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, Provided That
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three (3) years. Mr. TAN Yong Nang,
Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS, Ms GAO Lina, Mr CHANG Pan, Peter,
Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki will retire and offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 97 to 106
of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is a summary of some major risks and
uncertainties involved in the Group’s operations:

o The business and financial results are sensitive to market
prices of raw milk and beef cattle;

o Fluctuations in market prices of raw materials, as well as
any disruptions in the supply of raw materials, could have
a material adverse effect on financial condition and results
of operations;

° The quality of our raw milk and milk yield are influenced by
a number of factors, some of which are not fully within our
control,

o Fair value adjustments to our biological assets are subject

to a number of assumptions which involve unobservable
inputs and can adversely affect our results of operations;

° We face significant competition in our businesses and may
not be able to compete successfully against our existing
competitors and future market entrants;

° Changes in our relationships with our major customers,
or in our commercial terms with these customers, may
adversely affect our business and results of operations;

° Any major outbreak of diseases at our farms, at
neighbouring farms or attributed to livestock generally,
could significantly affect our production and supply, and
demand for our products;
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o Any actual or perceived food safety issue or product
contamination related to our products or the dairy or beef
industry generally could harm our reputation, financial
condition and results of operations, and subject us to
product liability claims and regulatory actions;

o We may not be able to sustain our historical growth rates,
and our historical performance may not be indicative of our
future growth or financial results;

. We are subject to risks associated with managing future
growth and expansion;

o The future growth of our business partly depends on the
quality and supply of heifers and bovine semen; and

. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may lead
to volatility in our reported results of operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to building a sustainable business and
minimising the Group’s operational impact on the environment.
The Group endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, waste reduction
and energy saving.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group is subject to
various environmental protection laws and regulations. For more
details, please refer to “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” for Company’s environmental and performance in respect
of environmental protection, social and corporate governance
during year ended 31 December 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has complied
with the “comply or explain” provisions in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix
27 to the Listing Rules.

Further details of the Group’s environmental, social and
governance matters including environmental policies and
performance are set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.
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In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules applicable to the financial year ended December
31, 2022, the Company's environmental, social and governance
report will be available on our website and the website of the
Stock Exchange at the same time as the publication of this annual
report.

LEGAL PROCEEDING AND COMPLIANCE WITH
RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is subject to legal proceedings, investigations and
claims incidental to the conduct of our business from time to
time. No member of the Group had been involved in any actual or
pending legal, arbitration or administrative proceedings (including
any bankruptcy or receivership proceedings) that the Company
believe would have a material adverse effect on the business,
results of operations, financial condition or reputation and
compliance, as a whole, during the year of 2022 and up to the
date of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Group had complied with the laws in all
material respects, including the requirements under the Singapore
Companies Act 1967, the Listing Rules, SFO and the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules) for, among other
things, the disclosure of information and corporate governance.

KEY RELATIONS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its stakeholders, including Shareholders,
employees, suppliers, business partners are key to the
Group success. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key
stakeholders.

Suppliers

The suppliers of the Company are categorised into (i) suppliers of
feed and feed additives and (ii) other suppliers (such as suppliers
of farming equipment, veterinary medicines, vaccines, frozen
semen and packaging service). Feed and feed additives account
for a large portion of the Company’s procurement. The Company
provides the feed and feed additives suppliers with detailed
formulations for optimal nutrition for cattle health and milk yield,
and purchase these from eligible suppliers to feed dairy cows and
beef cattle of the Company.
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The top five suppliers and the largest supplier for the year ended
31 December 2022 accounted for approximately 22.0% and 6.7%
of the Group’s total trade purchases from continuing operations
respectively.

Other than Annona Pte Ltd, an associate of the Controlling
Shareholder, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates, or any shareholder of the Company who, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued capital, has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers.

Customers

The Company has a well-diversified customer base. Our
customers in the raw milk business include leading national and
regional dairy product manufacturers.

The sales to top five customers and the largest customer for the
year ended 31 December 2022 accounted for approximately
65.0% and 22.8% of our total revenue from continuing operations
respectively.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or
any shareholder of the Company who, to the knowledge of the
Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued capital,
has any material interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did
not experience any significant disputes with its customers or
suppliers.
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AAG PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

On 3 July 2020, the Company adopted the AAG Performance
Share Plan (the “AAG PSP"), which was amended on 5 December
2022 and effective from the Listing Date.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the AAG PSP:

1. Purpose of the AAG PSP

The purpose of the AAG PSP is to (i) foster an ownership
culture within the Group which aligns the interests of the
executives and employees of the Group with the interests
of Shareholders, (ii) motivate participants to achieve key
financial and operational goals of the Company and/or its
respective business units and (iii) make total employee
remuneration sufficiently competitive to recruit and
retain staff having skills that are commensurate with the
Company’s ambition to become a world-class company.

2. Eligible Participants

Awards of Shares (“Awards”) may be granted to any
employee of the Group (including any executive director
of companies in the Group) subject to such employees
meeting the relevant criteria set out in the AAG PSP or
determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Board.

The AAG PSP is subject to a maximum limit of 40
participants from time to time.
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Administration of the AAG PSP

The AAG PSP is administered by the Remuneration
Committee, which shall have authority, in its discretion
to, among other things, in relation to an Award, where
applicable, determine (i) the participant; (i) the date on
which the Award should be granted; (iii) the conditions
to the Award (the “Performance Conditions”); (iv) the
period during which the Performance Conditions is to be
satisfied; (v) the number of Shares which are the subject
of the Award; (vi) the schedule for release of Awards; (vii)
the retention period; and (viii) any other condition which
the Remuneration Committee may determine in relation
to that Award. The Company shall be entitled, in its sole
discretion, prior to an Award being released, encash
such Awards to the extent the Performance Conditions
have been met or otherwise waived by the Remuneration
Committee. The Company shall in its sole discretion,
determine the fair value of such Award if it intends to
encash such Award.

The Company may appoint a professional trustee to
assist with the administration and vesting of Awards
granted pursuant to the AAG PSP. The Company may to
the extent permitted by applicable laws and regulations
and the Listing Rules direct and procure the trustee
to make on-market or off-market purchases of Shares
to satisfy the Awards upon vesting (provided that the
trustee shall abstain from voting in respect of such Shares
unless otherwise required by applicable laws to vote in
accordance with the beneficial owner’s direction and such
a direction is given). The Company shall to the extent
permitted by applicable laws and regulations provide
sufficient funds to the trustee by whatever means as the
Remuneration Committee may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the trustee to satisfy its obligations
in connection with the administration and vesting of the
Awards.
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Vesting Period of the Awards

Awards which are satisfied with the issuance of new
Shares may not vest less than 12 months from the date
the Award is granted unless otherwise determined by the
Remuneration Committee in the case of grants of Awards in
the following specific circumstances:

(i) to new joiners to replace the share awards they
forfeited when leaving the previous employer;

(i) to participants whose employment is terminated
due to death, ill health, serious injury, disability
or retirement or upon the occurrence of any
event which is not within the Company nor the
participant’s control, where the release of the
Awards may accelerate based on the discretion of
the Remuneration Committee;

(iii) which would have been made earlier but for
administrative and compliance reasons and are
made in a subsequent batch, in order to put the
participants in the same position as they would have
been in had the Award been made earlier; and

(iv) where a corporate event takes place as set out in
paragraph (i) below.

Limitation on the Size of the AAG PSP

The plan mandate limit (the “Plan Mandate Limit") refers
to total number of new Shares in respect of Awards
which may be granted pursuant to the AAG PSP after the
Listing Date, being (i) 5% of the Shares in issue on the
Listing Date or (ii) 5% of the Shares in issue as at the New
Approval Date.

At any time during the term, the maximum aggregate
number of new Shares which Awards may be granted
pursuant to the AAG PSP shall be calculated in accordance
with the following formula:

X=A-B
Where
X = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares in

respect of which Awards may be granted pursuant to the
AAG PSP;
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A = the Plan Mandate Limit; and

B = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares that
have been or may be issued upon the vesting of Awards
granted pursuant to the AAG PSP, which in the event that
there has been a New Approval Date, shall only include
those new Shares which may be issued upon the vesting of
Awards that have been granted since that most recent New
Approval Date.

Shares in respect of (i) Awards which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the AAG PSP or which have
been encashed and (ii) share grants which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the relevant share plan
or which have been encashed will not be counted for the
purpose of determining the maximum aggregate number
of new Shares in respect of Awards which may be granted
pursuant to the AAG PSP.

The Plan Mandate Limit may be renewed (a) every 3 years
subject to Shareholders’ approval; or (b) within a 3-year
period subject to Shareholders’ approval and with the
relevant persons specified in the Listing Rules abstaining
from voting on the relevant resolution and in each case,
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
In any event, the total number of new Shares in respect
of which Awards may be granted under the AAG PSP
following the date of approval of the renewed limit (the
“New Approval Date”) under the limit as renewed must not
exceed 5% of the Shares in issue as at the New Approval
Date. Shares in respect of Awards granted pursuant to
the AAG PSP or share grants made pursuant to any other
share plan (including those which are outstanding, lapsed,
vested, exercised or encashed) prior to the New Approval
Date will not be counted for the purpose of determining the
maximum aggregate number of new Shares in respect of
which Awards may be granted following the New Approval
Date under the limit as renewed. For the avoidance of
doubt, new Shares issued prior to the New Approval Date
pursuant to the vesting of Awards granted under the AAG
PSP and pursuant to the vesting or exercise of share
grants under any other share plans will be counted for the
purpose of determining the number of Shares in issue as at
the New Approval Date.
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Large Share Grants and Grants to Connected
Persons

In any 12-month period after the Listing Date, the maximum
number of new Shares issued (and to be issued) upon:

(1) the vesting of all Awards granted under the AAG
PSP; and

(i) the vesting of all share grants made under any other
share plans,

(excluding any Awards or share grants lapsed or encashed
in accordance with the terms of the AAG PSP or the
relevant share plan) to any individual participants shall not
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for the time being. Where
any further grant of Awards to a participant under the AAG
PSP would result in the breach of this limit, such grant
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Any Awards granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of
their respective associates) must be approved by the
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Where any grant of Awards to a Director or chief executive
of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
would result in the new Shares issued (and to be issued)
upon the:

(i) vesting of all Awards granted under the AAG PSP;
and

(i) vesting of all share grants (but excluding any share
options) made under any other share plans,

(excluding any Awards and share grants (other than share
options) lapsed or encashed in accordance with the terms
of the AAG PSP or the relevant share plan) to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including the date on
which the Award is granted representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant of Award
under the AAG PSP shall be subject to prior approval by
the Shareholders in general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules.
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Where any grant of Awards to a substantial shareholder of
the Company (or any of his respective associates) would
result in the new Shares issued (and to be issued) upon
the:

(i) vesting of all Awards granted under the AAG PSP;
and

(i) vesting or exercise of all share grants made under
any other share plans

(excluding any Award and share grants lapsed or
encashed in accordance with the terms of the AAG PSP
or the relevant share plan) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date on which the Award is
granted representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares
in issue, such further grant of Awards under the AAG PSP
shall be subject to prior approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Term of the AAG PSP

The AAG PSP shall continue in effect for a term of five
years from 3 July 2020, provided always that the AAG PSP
may continue beyond the above stipulated period with the
approval of the Shareholders.

Right as Shareholders

Until the participant is registered on the register of
members of the Company, no right to vote or receive
dividends or any other rights as a shareholder shall exist
with respect to the Shares subject to an Award. Shares
when issued or transferred pursuant to an Award shall
rank in full for all entitlements, including dividends or other
distributions declared or recommended in respect of the
then existing Shares, the record date for which is on or
after the relevant issue or transfer date, and shall in all
other respects rank pari passu with other existing Shares
then in issue.
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Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalisation, Merger
or Certain Other Transactions

If a variation in the issued ordinary share capital of the
Company (whether by way of a capitalisation issue, rights
issue, subdivision or consolidation of shares or reduction of
the share capital of the Company) shall take place, then:

(i) the class and/or number of Shares which are the
subject of an Award have not yet been vested;

(i) the class and/or number of Shares in respect of
which future Awards may be granted under the AAG
PSP; and/or

(iiiy ~ the maximum aggregate number of new Shares
which may be issued in respect of Awards granted
under the AAG PSP pursuant to the plan mandate
limit, shall be adjusted in such manner as the
Committee may determine to be appropriate to
give the participant the same proportion of the
share capital of the Company as that to which such
participant were previously entitled (rounded to the
nearest whole Share), provided that no adjustment
shall be made if as a result, the participant receives
a benefit that a Shareholder does not receive. The
Committee may, notwithstanding any occurrence
of any variation in capital, determine that no
adjustment shall be made.

Unless the Committee considers an adjustment to be
appropriate, the issue of securities as consideration for
an acquisition or a private placement of securities, or the
cancellation of issued Shares purchased or acquired by
the Company during the period when a share purchase
mandate granted by Shareholders (including any renewal
of such mandate) is in force, shall not normally be
regarded as a circumstance requiring adjustment.
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10.

Corporate Events

If before a vesting date, any of the following occurs:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

a compromise or arrangement proposed for the
purposes of, or in connection with, a scheme for the
reconstruction of the Company or its amalgamation
with another company or companies being approved
by Shareholders and/or sanctioned by the court
under the Singapore Companies Act;

an order being made or a resolution being passed
for the winding-up of the Company (other than a
winding-up of the Company on the basis or by
reason of its insolvency or for amalgamation or
reconstruction); or

in the event a take-over offer for the Shares
becomes or is declared unconditional,

the Committee will consider, at its discretion, whether or
not to release any Award, and will take into account all
circumstances on a case-by-case basis, including, but
not limited to, the contributions made by that participant.
If the Committee decides to release any Award, then in
determining the number of Shares to be vested in respect
of such Award, the Committee will have regard to the
proportion of the performance period which has elapsed
and the extent to which the Performance Conditions have
been satisfied.

10.
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11.

Modification to the AAG PSP

Save as provided below, the Board may alter any of
the terms of the AAG PSP at any time, including but not
limited to the method by which a participant accepts
the Award and such other minor amendments to benefit
the administration of the AAG PSP, provided that such
alterations comply with the requirements of the Singapore
Companies Act and the Listing Rules, to the extent
applicable.

Any alterations to the terms and conditions of the AAG
PSP which are of a material nature or any alterations to
the specific provisions of the AAG PSP which relate to the
matters set out in Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules to the
advantage of participants and changes to the authority
of the Board in relation to any alteration of the terms
of the AAG PSP, in each case, must be approved by
Shareholders in general meeting.

Any changes to the terms of Awards granted must be
approved by Board, the Committee, the Independent
Non-Executive Directors and/or the Shareholders in general
meeting (as the case may be) if the initial grant of such
Award was approved by the Board, the Committee, the
Independent Non-Executive Directors and/or Shareholders
in general meeting (as the case may be), except where
the alterations or changes take effect automatically under
the existing terms of the AAG PSP. The Committee’s
determination as to whether any proposed alteration to the
terms and conditions of the AAG PSP is material shall be
conclusive.

The amended terms and conditions of the AAG PSP and
the Awards shall comply with the Listing Rules and the
amendments thereto which will come into effect 1 January
2023, including in particular Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
and all applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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12.

Outstanding Awards Granted under the AAG PSP

During the financial year, there were no awards nor options

lapsed.

Details of the Awards granted under the AAG PSP which
are outstanding as at 31 December 2022 are set out below:
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Maximum
number of % of issued
Participant Date of Grant Vesting Date Shares Shares™
HEBITROW
SHE R HH EEAH EsROEE BALEO
Directors
=
TAN Yong Nang 1 June 2021 30 April 2023 629,000 0.09%
R EK 20216 A1H 2023%4A30H
23 March 2022 30 April 2024 566,470® 0.08%
2022% 3 H23H 2024%4A30H
Edgar Dowse COLLINS 1 June 2021 30 April 2023 629,000@ 0.09%
20216 A1H 202344 H30H
23 March 2022 30 April 2024 629,000® 0.09%
2022F 3 A23H 2024F4A30H
YANG Ku 1 June 2021 30 April 2023 251,600? 0.04%
15E 20216 H81H 2023%4A30H
23 March 2022 30 April 2024 251,600® 0.04%
2022 3H23H 2024F4AF30H
GAO Lina 23 March 2022 30 April 2024 166,500® 0.02%
=T 202243230 2024%4A30H
Other participants
Hth 2k
28 other employees of the Group 1 June 2021 30 April 2023 751,100® 0.11%
2BEAREEHAMIES 2021618 2023%F4H30H
36 other employees of the Group 23 March 2022 30 April 2024 910,200® 0.13%
EAEEAMES 20223 H23H 20244 H30H
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Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of
699,857,112 issued Shares as at 31 December 2022.

(2) The vesting of these Awards is subject to the
achievement of certain key performance indicators
during the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2022 and the final number of Shares subject to the
Award can vary from 0% to 200% of the initial number
of Shares subject to the Award. The maximum potential
number of Shares which are subject to the Award has
been calculated assuming the achievement of the
relevant key performance indicators and based on
200% of the initial number of Shares subject to the
Award.

As this is a Share Grant, there is no exercise period nor
exercise price.

(3) The vesting of these Awards is subject to the
achievement of certain key performance indicators
during the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2023 and the final number of Shares subject to the
Award can vary from 0% to 200% of the initial number
of Shares subject to the Award. The maximum potential
number of Shares which are subject to the Award has
been calculated assuming the achievement of the
relevant key performance indicators and based on
200% of the initial number of Shares subject to the
Award.

AAG POST-IPO RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the AAG post-
IPO RSU Scheme (the"RSU Scheme”) conditionally approved by
the Shareholders and adopted by the Company on 5 December
2022 and effective from the Listing Date.

1. Purpose of the RSU Scheme

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to attract skilled and
experienced personnel, to incentivise them to remain with
the Group and to motivate them to strive for the future
development and expansion of the Group by providing
them with the opportunity to acquire equity interests in the
Company.
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Eligible Participants

The Executive Directors, the executive directors of the
Company’s subsidiaries, or the full-time employees of the
Group who have been employed by the Group for more
than 12 months (the “Participants”).

Administration of the RSU Scheme

The RSU Scheme will be subject to the administration
of the Remuneration Committee in accordance with the
RSU Scheme. Any decision made by the Remuneration
Committee as to all matters arising in relation to the RSU
Scheme shall (including the interpretation of any rules
therein) be final and binding on all parties.

The Company may appoint a professional trustee to assist
with the administration and vesting of awards of RSUs (the
“RSU Awards”) granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme. The
Company may to the extent permitted by the Singapore
Companies Act and the Listing Rules direct and procure
the trustee to make on-market or off-market purchases of
Shares to satisfy the RSU Awards upon vesting, provided
that the trustee shall abstain from voting in respect of such
Shares unless otherwise required by applicable laws to
vote in accordance with the beneficial owner’s direction
and such a direction is given. The Company shall to the
extent permitted by the Singapore Companies Act provide
sufficient funds to the trustee by whatever means as the
Board may in its absolute discretion determine to enable
the trustee to satisfy its obligations in connection with the
administration and vesting of the RSU Awards.

RSU Awards

The Remuneration Committee may grant a RSU Award to
a Participant, which gives that Participant a contingent
right to receive Shares (or a cash payment), subject to
the satisfaction of relevant vesting conditions as provided
under the RSU Scheme and in the Notice of Grant (as
defined below).
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Maximum Number of New Shares to be Granted

The scheme mandate limit (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”)
refers to the total number of new Shares in respect of
which RSUs may be granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme,
being (i) 10% of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
or (ii) 10% of the Shares in issue as at the New Approval
Date.

The total number of Shares in respect of which RSUs may
be granted under the RSU Scheme shall be calculated in
accordance with the following formula:

X=A-B-C

Where:

X = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares in
respect to which RSUs may be granted pursuant to the
RSU Scheme;

A = the Scheme Mandate Limit;

B = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares that
have been or may be issued upon the vesting of RSUs
granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme, which in the event
there has been a New Approval Date, shall only include
those new Shares which may be issued upon the vesting of
RSUs that have been granted since the most recent New
Approval Date; and

C = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares that
have been or may be issued upon the vesting or exercise
of any share grants made after the Listing pursuant to any
other share schemes, which in the event that there has
been a New Approval Date, shall only include those new
Shares which may be issued upon the vesting or exercise
of share grants that have been granted since that most
recent New Approval Date.

Shares in respect of (i) RSUs which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the RSU Scheme or which
have been satisfied by the making of a cash payment
and (ii) share grants which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the relevant share scheme or which
have been encashed will not be counted for the purpose
of determining the maximum aggregate number of new
Shares in respect of which RSUs may be granted pursuant
to the RSU Scheme.
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The Scheme Mandate Limit may be renewed (a) every
3 years subject to Shareholders’ approval; or (b) within
a 3-year period subject to Shareholders’ approval and
with the relevant persons specified in the Listing Rules
abstaining from voting on the relevant resolution and in
each case, in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. In any event, the total number of new Shares
in respect of which RSUs may be granted under the RSU
Scheme following the date of approval of the renewed
limit (the “New Approval Date”) under the limit as renewed
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the New
Approval Date. Shares in respect of RSUs or share grants
made pursuant to the RSU Scheme or any other share
scheme (including those which are outstanding, lapsed,
vested, exercised or encashed) prior to the New Approval
Date will not be counted for the purpose of determining
the maximum aggregate number of new Shares in
respect of which the RSUs may be granted following the
New Approval Date under the limit as renewed. For the
avoidance of doubt, new Shares issued prior to the New
Approval Date pursuant to the vesting of RSUs granted
under the RSU Scheme and pursuant to the vesting or
exercise of share grants made under any other share
schemes of the Company will be counted for the purpose
of determining the number of Shares in issue as at the New
Approval Date.

Large Grants of RSUs and Grants of RSUs to
Connected Persons

In any 12-month period, the maximum number of new
Shares issued (and to be issued) upon:

(1) the vesting of all RSUs granted under the RSU
Scheme; and

(i) the vesting or exercise of all share grants made
under any other share schemes

(excluding any RSUs or share grants lapsed or encashed
in accordance with the terms of the RSU Scheme or the
relevant share scheme) to any individual Participant shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for the time being.
Where any further grant of RSUs to a Participant under the
RSU Scheme would result in the breach of this limit, such
grant must be separately approved by Shareholders in
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Any grant of RSUs to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of
their respective associates) must be approved by the
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Where any grant of RSUs to a Director or chief executive of
the Company (or any of their respective associates) would
result in the new Shares issued (and to be issued) upon
the:

() vesting of all RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme;
and

(i) vesting of all share grants (but excluding share
options, if any) granted under any other share
schemes,

(excluding any RSUs and share grants (other than share
options) lapsed or encashed in accordance with the terms
of the RSU Scheme or the relevant share scheme) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the offer
date representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue, such further grant of RSUs under the RSU Scheme
shall be subject to prior approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Where any grant of RSUs to a substantial shareholder (or
any of his respective associates) would result in the new
Shares issued (and to be issued) upon the:

() vesting of all RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme;
and

(i) vesting or exercise of all share grants made under
any other share schemes

(excluding any RSUs and share grants lapsed or encashed
in accordance with the terms of the RSU Scheme or the
relevant share scheme) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the offer date representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue. such further
grant of RSUs under the RSU Scheme shall be subject to
prior approval by the Shareholders in general meeting in
accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Vesting of RSUs

Subject to and in accordance with the terms of the RSU
Scheme and the specific terms applicable to each RSU,
an RSU shall vest on the vesting date, which for RSUs to
be satisfied with the issuance of new Shares, may not be
shorter than 12 months unless otherwise determined by
the Remuneration Committee in respect of grantees who
are employees, executive Directors or directors of the
Company’s subsidiaries in the case of grants of RSUs in
the following specific circumstances:

() to new joiners to replace the share awards they
forfeited when leaving the previous employer;

(i) to grantees whose employment is terminated due
to death, ill health, serious injury, disability or
retirement or upon the occurrence of any event
which is not within the control of the Company,
where the vesting of the RSUs may accelerate
based on the discretion of the Remuneration
Committee;

(iii) which would have been made earlier but for
administrative and compliance reasons and are
made in a subsequent batch, in order to put the
grantees in the same position as they would have
been in had the grant of RSUs been made earlier;
and

(iv) where a corporate event takes place as set out in
paragraph (13) below (in which case RSUs may be
accelerated for all grantees at the sole and absolute
discretion of the Company (and not just in respect
of grantees who are employees, executive Directors
or directors of the Company’s subsidiaries)).
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10.

Term of the RSU Scheme

Subject to the conditions referred to above being satisfied,
the RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
commencing on the date Listing (30 December 2022) and
expiring on the tenth anniversary (i.e. 30 December 2032)
thereof or such earlier date as the Scheme is terminated in
accordance with the RSU Scheme (the “Term”), after which
period no further RSUs shall be offered or granted but the
provisions of the RSU Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect in all other respects. Awards granted during the
Term shall continue to be valid in accordance with their
terms of grant after the end of the Term.

Grant of Awards

A grant shall be made to a Participant by a notice (the
“Notice of Grant”) specifying the terms on which the Award
is to be granted, including the date of grant, the number of
RSUs underlying the Award, the vesting date, the relevant
vesting and/or other performance conditions that must be
satisfied in order for the Award to vest in whole or in part
and any other terms which the Remuneration Committee
has determined shall apply to the Award.

Awards to be Personal to the Grantees

An Award shall be personal to the grantee. Before the
Award is vested in a grantee pursuant to the RSU Scheme,
the Award shall not be assignable or transferable by the
grantee and the grantee shall not, without the prior written
consent of the Remuneration Committee, in any way sell,
transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
interest in favour of any third party over or in relation to
the Award, provided that following the grantee’s death, an
Award may be transferred by will or by the laws of testacy
and distribution.

Where permitted by applicable laws and regulations
(including the Listing Rules) and subject to the approval
of the Stock Exchange, Awards may be transferred to
a vehicle (such as a trust or a private company) for the
benefit of the grantee and any family members of such
grantee that would continue to meet the purpose of the
RSU Scheme, provided the terms of the grant of such
Award will continue to bind any such transferee with
reference to the grantee, where relevant.
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11.

Vesting of Awards

The vesting principles of the RSU Scheme are summarised
below:

(1) An Award shall vest on the relevant vesting date
specified in the Notice of Grant. If the vesting of an
Award is subject to the satisfaction of performance
or other conditions and such conditions are not
satisfied in whole or in part, the Award shall lapse
automatically in respect of such proportion of
underlying RSUs as have not vested.

(i) Awards which have vested shall be satisfied as
soon as practicable on or after the vesting date
and in any event by no later than 10 business days
following the vesting date, at the Remuneration
Committee’s absolute discretion by allotting and
issuing or transferring the relevant number of Shares
to the grantee credited as fully paid or encashing
the relevant Awards, the amount of which shall be
determined by the Remuneration Committee at its
sole and absolute discretion.

(iii) If there are administrative and compliance reasons
which mean that Awards could not have been made
earlier, the Remuneration Committee may decide in
its absolute discretion to shorten the vesting period
of the Awards so as to put the grantees in the same
position as they would have been in had the grant
been made earlier.

(iv) If the Company or any grantee would or might be
prohibited by applicable laws, regulations or rules
(including any dealing code of the Company) from
dealing in the Shares on the vesting date, the date
on which the relevant Shares shall be allotted and
issued or transferred to the grantee shall occur as
soon as possible after the date when such dealing
is permitted.
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12.

13.

Rights Attaching to the Awards and the Shares

Shares to be allotted and issued or transferred, (as the
case may be) pursuant to the RSU Scheme will rank pari
passu in all respects with the Shares then in issue except
for any rights attaching to Shares by reference to a record
date before the date of issue. A grantee shall have no
rights in respect of Shares subject to RSUs until the Shares
are allotted and issued or transferred to him (as the case
may be) under the terms of the RSU Scheme.

Lapse and Cancellation of Awards

Subject to the RSU Scheme, an Award (or any part thereof)
that has not vested shall lapse automatically on the earliest
of:

(i) the date of termination of the grantee’s employment,
service or engagement by any member of the
Group;

(i) the date on which the grantee (1) becomes an
officer, director, employee, consultant, adviser,
partner of, or a shareholder or other proprietor
owning more than 5% interest in any competitor of
the Group without the prior written consent of the
Board; or (2) knowingly performs any act that may
confer any competitive benefit or advantage upon
any competitor of the Group without the prior written
consent of the Board;

(iii) the date of the commencement of the winding-up of
the Company;

(iv)  the time specified in paragraph (13) below;

(v) the date on which the grantee (whether intentionally
or otherwise) commits a breach of paragraph (9)
above;

(vi) the date on which the grantee is declared bankrupt
or enters into any arrangement or compromise with
his creditors generally; and

12.
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14.

(vii)

in respect of an Award which is subject to
performance or other vesting condition(s), the date
on which the condition(s) to vesting of the Award is
not satisfied (save that the Award shall lapse only
in respect of such proportion of underlying RSUs as
have not vested because of the application of such
performance or other vesting condition(s)).

The Remuneration Committee may at any time with the
consent of and on such terms as may be agreed with the
relevant grantee cancel Awards previously granted but not
yet vested and may, at its discretion, make a grant of new
RSUs to the same grantee.

Corporate Events

In the event of:

(i)

or

(if)

a general offer by way of a takeover or otherwise
(other than by way of scheme of arrangement
pursuant to sub-paragraph (ii) below) which is made
by any person to acquire all of the issued Shares
(other than those already owned by the offeror and/
or any person controlled by the offeror and/or any
person acting in association or concert with the
offeror) and such offer becoming or being declared
unconditional prior to the vesting date of any Award;

a general offer by any person for the Shares by
way of scheme of arrangement which is made to
all the Shareholders and which is approved by the
necessary number of Shareholders at the requisite
meeting(s) prior to the vesting date of any Award; or

14.
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(iii) a compromise or arrangement (other than a scheme
of arrangement contemplated in sub-paragraph (ii)
above) between the Company and the Shareholders
and/or the creditors of the Company which is
proposed for the purposes of or in connection with
a plan for the reconstruction of the Company or its
amalgamation with any other company or companies
prior to the vesting date of any Award,

the Board shall prior to the offer becoming or being
declared unconditional or (in the case of paragraph (ii) or
(i) prior to the date of the relevant meeting(s)), determine
in its absolute discretion whether any Award that has
not vested shall vest. To the extent that any Award does
not vest, it shall lapse automatically on (in the case of
paragraph (i)) the date on which the offer closes; (in the
case of paragraph (ii)) the record date for determining
entittements under the scheme of arrangement; and (in
the case of paragraph (iii)) on the date of the meeting of
Shareholders or creditors.

In the event a notice is given by the Company to the
Shareholders to convene a general meeting for the
purposes of considering and, if thought fit, approving a
resolution to voluntarily wind-up the Company prior to
the vesting date of any Award, the Company shall give
notice thereof to all the grantees on the same day as it
despatches to the Shareholders the notice convening the
meeting. Notwithstanding any other terms on which the
Award was granted, the Award shall vest so as to enable
the allotment and issue or transfer, as the case may be
of the relevant number of Shares underlying the Award
by no later than two business days immediately prior to
the date of the proposed general meeting. The Company
shall as soon as possible and in any event no later than
one business day immediately prior to the date of the
proposed general meeting, procure the allotment and issue
or transfer of the relevant number of Shares to the grantee
which falls to be allotted and issued or transferred on such
vesting of the Award or procure that a cash payment (or
a combination of Shares and a cash payment) be made
to the grantee. Provided that the resolution to voluntarily
wind-up the Company is approved, any Award that has not
vested shall lapse.
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15.

16.

Reorganisation of Capital Structure

In the event of an alteration in the capital structure of
the Company by way of a capitalisation issue, rights
issue, subdivision or consolidation of shares or reduction
of the share capital of the Company in accordance
with applicable laws and the Listing Rules (other than
any alteration in the capital structure of the Company
as a result of an issue of Shares as consideration in a
transaction to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
is a party or in connection with any share option, restricted
share or other share schemes of the Company) whilst any
Award has not vested or has vested but has not yet been
satisfied, the Remuneration Committee may adjust the
number of Shares subject to an Award and/or the maximum
aggregate number of new Shares which may be issued
in respect of Awards granted under the RSU Scheme
pursuant to Scheme Mandate Limit as it, in its absolute
discretion, thinks fit so that any such adjustments give the
grantees the same proportion of the share capital of the
Company as that to which such grantees were previously
entitled (rounded to the nearest whole Share).

Alteration of the RSU Scheme

Save as provided below, the Board may alter any of the
terms of the RSU Scheme at any time, including but not
limited to the method by which a grantee accepts the
Award and such other minor amendments to benefit the
administration of the RSU Scheme, provided that such
alterations comply with the requirements of the Singapore
Companies Act and the Listing Rules, to the extent
applicable.

15.

16.

Annual Report 2022
—BoCEER

Report of Directors

EEEHRES

BEXGREA

WARRREEROERRCETRA)
BREAMEET  HE - ROSHIEHK
HURARRIBRAMAEEAEE (TRER
ARRHEEAMBRRAR/— TR S HE
TR EREHESN A B - SR
AR B EAMB DR BB R RO ETM
EYARBEREBNERNRE) - AIEE
MEBHARBHCHEBERRLRNER
T FHEZBEeERBERBERAEEN
BRATHABEBAISROOEE R,/ HR
BATBIREREE - HERRBEIRGIKNE
NIt BIFTE T BT A e BT RS AR
2 AEBARAEARRRBAF AL
AL ZRNLLPIER (WEEKED
MRS -

ZRERDEMFENEE

BRTIXAAREES  EEEABEREHRER
BRI LA Bl E MR - BRETRR
ERARIEBNTAUREFNREERZR
H A BRI ET B M A B E m A ISk - I
HZEBHATEMMBCRRNE) R LT
BB ER (LERERR)

71



72 AustAsia Group Ltd.
MEEEARARA

Report of Directors

EEEHRES

Any alterations to the terms and conditions of the RSU
Scheme which are of a material nature or any alterations to
the specific provisions of the RSU Scheme which relate to
the matters set out in Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules to the
advantage of grantees and changes to the authority of the
Board in relation to any alteration of the terms of the RSU
Scheme, in each case, must be approved by Shareholders
in general meeting.

Any changes to the terms of the Awards granted must
be approved by Board, the Remuneration Committee,
the Independent Non-Executive Directors and/or the
Shareholders in general meeting (as the case may be)
if the initial grant of such Awards was approved by the
Board, the Remuneration Committee, the Independent
Non-Executive Directors and/or Shareholders in general
meeting (as the case may be), except where the alterations
or changes take effect automatically under the existing
terms of the RSU Scheme. The Remuneration Committee’s
determination as to whether any proposed alteration to the
terms and conditions of the RSU Scheme is material shall
be conclusive.

The amended terms and conditions of the RSU Scheme
and the Awards shall comply with the Listing Rules and the
amendments thereto which will come into effect 1 January
2023, including in particular Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
and all applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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As at the 31 December 2022, no Award of RSUs has been
granted or agreed to be granted by the Company pursuant to the
RSU Scheme. The scheme mandate limit is 10% of the shares in
issue on the Listing Date, that is the aggregate number of shares
which may be issued pursuant to awards granted under the AAG
PSP and the RSU Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the shares in
issue on the Listing Date (i.e 69,985,711 shares, being 10% of
699,857,112 shares in issue on 30 December 2022), up to the
date of this annual report, 69,985,711 shares representing 9.99%
of the shares in issue at the date of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the issued share capital of the Company
was 699,857,112 shares. On 30 January 2023, the Company
issued 606,000 Share at the offer price of HK$6.40 per share
pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-allotment options by
the overall coordinator (on behalf of the international underwriters)
in connection with the Global Offering. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20 January
2023. Immediately thereafter and up to the date of this annual
report, the issued share capital of the Company was 700,463,112
Shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

The Company had bank loans of US$311,926,000 as at 31
December 2022. Details of bank loans and other borrowings of
the Group are set out in the note 29 to the consolidated financial
statement.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year ended 31
December 2022.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final
dividend and there is no dividend payment for the year ended 31
December 2022.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make charitable donations during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “AAG Performance Share
Plan” and “AAG post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme” as set
out in this report of the Directors, no equity-linked agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
constitution of the Company or laws of Singapore where the
Company is incorporated.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Constitution and subject to the applicable laws
and regulations, every Director and other officer shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred or to be
incurred by him in the execution and discharge his duties or in
relation thereto.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The Company has arranged
appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors since the
Listing Date.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment in relation
to his/her role as a director of the Company, which is subject to
termination by the Director or the Company in accordance with the
terms of the letter of appointment, the requirements of the Listing
Rules and the provisions relating to the retirement and rotation of
the Directors under the Constitution.

Directors’ service contracts have a term of up to three years and
the appointments of Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Constitution of the
Company.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of employees of the
Group was 2,388. In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, the Company has established remuneration committee
for developing remuneration policy, reviewing the remuneration
structure of the Directors and senior management of the
Group. Total employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
emoluments, salaries, bonus, equity-settled share-based payment
expenses) were approximately US$58.72 million.
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The remuneration package of the employees including salary,
bonus, allowance, benefits in kind (including contributions to
pension schemes) and pension or allowance on the retirement.
The Company also adopted AAG PSP and RSU Scheme, details of
which are set out in the section headed “ AAG Performance Share
Plan” and “AAG POST-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme” as set
out in this report of the Directors.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers

all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent
and remain so as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’
DEBENTURES

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARE OR

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time
during the year, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under
the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the equity
or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates had
engaged in or had any interest in any business, apart from the
Group’s business, which competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2022, which would require
disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive of the Company in any of the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO, which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein; or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares
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Number of Approximately

Name of Director or Chief Executive Nature of Interest Shares Percentage™
EEYRESTHRABRS EREME RHEE BRI
TAN Yong Nang Interests in controlled corporation 28,140,581(L)® 4.02%
BRECE ek NI £

Beneficial owner

BEmfEiB A

Interests held jointly with another person

HE M A T HRAEAHNER

Beneficial of trust

EREXE=mA
Edgar Dowse COLLINS Beneficial owner 8,095,060(L)® 1.16%
Edgar Dowse COLLINS EmEA A
YANG Ku Beneficial owner 3,058,200(L)® 0.44%
5/ EmfEiB A
GAO Lina Beneficial owner 166,500(L)® 0.02%
=T EmBEEA
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denotes long position

The calculation is based on the total number of 699,857,112
issued Shares as at 31 December 2022.

The shares include of Mr. Tan Yong Nang (i) 15,758,898
shares are held by Great Alpha Investments Limited, which
is wholly-owned by Mr. Tan; (ii) the entitlement of Mr. Tan to
receive up to 1,195,470 Shares pursuant to the vesting of the
Awards granted to him under the AAG PSP, subject to the
vesting conditions of those Awards; (iii) 586,213 shares held
jointly with Mdm Puah Bee Neo; and (iv) 10,600,000 shares as
a founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how the
trustee exercise at Mr. Tan’s discretion.

The Shares of Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS include the
entittement of Mr. Collins to receive up to 1,258,000 Shares
pursuant to the vesting of the Awards granted to him under the
AAG PSP, subject to the vesting conditions of those Awards.

The Shares of Mr. Yang Ku include the entitlement of Mr. Yang
to receive up to 503,200 Shares pursuant to the vesting of
the Awards granted to him under the AAG PSP, subject to the
vesting conditions of those Awards.

The Shares of Ms. Gao Lina include the entitlement of Ms. Gao
to receive up to 166,500 Shares pursuant to the vesting of
the Awards granted to her under the AAG PSP, subject to the
vesting conditions of those Awards.

(4)

(5)

BHA
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2 Great Alpha Investments Limited#&H)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to Directors or chief
executive of the Company are aware, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required

to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to

section 336 of the SFO:
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Number of Approximately
Name of Substantial Shareholders Nature of Interest Shares Percentage™
BRREE EB HE BRHOEE BHRES O
Rangi Management Limited Beneficial owner 224,099,338(L)® 32.02%
Rangi Management Limited EmEAA
Fusion Investment Holdings Limited Interest in controlled entity 224,099,338(L) @ 32.02%
BEREZERERRAR REEEEER
Morze International Limited Beneficial owner 62,155,958(L)® 8.88%
Morze International Limited EmEAA
Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas Settlor/Beneficiary of Trust 62,155,958(L)® 8.88%
Rachel Anastasia Kolonas% =+ ERERASZHEA
Highvern Trustees Limited Trustee of Trusts 307,598,171(L)@® 43.95%
Highvern Trustees Limited BEFEXFEA
Mr. Renaldo Santosa Joint investment power 258,982,213(L)® 37.01%
holder and beneficiary of Trust
Renaldo Santosa%t 4 BAEEREENRBARZZA
Beneficial owner 356,860(L)% 0.05%
EmfAA
Ms. Gabriella Santosa Joint investment power 258,982,213(L)®®) 37.01%
holder and beneficiary of Trust
Gabriella SantosaZ + GEEEREENFBBAREREA
Beneficial owner
E=EBA
MNM Holdings Limited Interests in controlled corporation 307,598,171(L)® 43.95%
MNM Holdings Limited R 2k NG ey
Mr. Martin John Hall Interests in controlled corporation 307,598,171(L)® 43.95%
Martin John Hall5t 4 g VNI
Ms. Naomi Julia Rive Interests in controlled corporation 307,598,171(L)® 43.95%
Naomi Julia Rive &z + RSN AR
Meiji (China) Investment Beneficial owner 155,451,785(L) 22.21%

Company, Limited
BR (hE) IREFR QA

EmEAA
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denotes long position

The calculation is based on the total number of 699,857,112
issued Shares as at 31 December 2022.

Rangi Management Limited is wholly owned by Fusion
Investment Holdings Limited. Tasburgh Limited holds
21,342,875 Shares. The shares in each of Fusion Investment
Holdings Limited and Tasburgh Limited are collectively held
by Magnus Nominees Limited and Fidelis Nominees Limited
as bare trustees on trust for their sole shareholder, Highvern
Trustees Limited, as trustee of the Scuderia Trust, which is a
reserved power discretionary trust. The Shares held by Rangi
Management Limited and Tasburgh Limited are assets of
the Scuderia Trust. Mr. Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella
Santosa are appointed as the joint investment power holders
of the Scuderia Trust. Under the terms of the Scuderia Trust,
they are jointly entitled, as investment power holders, to
direct the trustee of the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees
Limited, to procure to the best of its ability that the directors
of Fusion Investment Holdings Limited and Tasburgh Limited
act in accordance with his instructions in relation to the
investments of the Scuderia Trust. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa and Highvern
Trustees Limited (as trustee of the Scuderia Trust) is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Rangi Management
Limited and Tasburgh Limited, and Fusion Investment Holdings
Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Rangi Management Limited. Rangi Management Limited is also
deemed interested in Japfa Ltd’s 11,704,038 Shares in the
Company.

The beneficiaries of the Scuderia Trust are Mdm. Farida
Gustimego Santosa, her children (Mr. Renaldo Santosa,
Ms. Gabriella Santosa, Mr. Mikael Santosa and Mr. Raffaela
Santosa) and remoter issue.

Rangi Management Limited has pledged 168,395,300 of its
shares to an independent third party financial institution.

Tallowe Services Inc. holds 13,540,000 Shares. Tallowe
Services Inc. is wholly owned by Magnus Nominees Limited
and Fidelis Nominees Limited as bare trustees for the estate of
Mr. Handojo Santosa. Mr. Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella
Santosa are beneficiaries of Mr Handojo Santosa’s interest in
Tallowe Services Inc.

Mr. Renaldo Santosa holds 356,860 Shares through his client
account with a financial institution.

BHA

BRiFE2022F 12 A31HE BITRMAR
699,857, 112%t& -

Rangi Management Limited g4 &%
BERARZERE ° Tasburgh Limited#
£21,342,8758 #¢ 5 - Magnus Nominees
Limited &2 Fidelis Nominees Limited (39{E%&
WEYZFEA) BEMKE—RE Highvern Trustees
Limited (AScuderiaTrust (—&RZE#ENH
SRET) MZEAN) O E - UEEERH
FERHEMEHREERBR AR LTasburgh
Limited 8 A% 17 ° Rangi Management Limited
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Trust®)& = ° Renaldo SantosaZt & &
Gabriella SantosaZ T#Z {fAScuderia
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Limited ({£&Scuderia Trust®I=5EA ) AR
{ERRangi Management Limited & Tasburgh
Limited S EMRNPHEEZ  MAEGEEA
TR AR A BRI R ER Rangi Management
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The shares in Morze International Limited are held by
Magnus Nominees Limited and Fidelis Nominees Limited as
bare trustees on trust for their sole shareholder, Highvern
Trustees Limited, as trustee of the Capital Two Trust, which
is a reserved power discretionary trust. The Shares held by
Morze International Limited are assets of the Capital Two Trust.
Highvern Trustees Limited is the trustee of Capital Two Trust.
Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas is the settlor of Capital Two
Trust. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas and
Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee of the Capital Two Trust)
are each deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Morze
International Limited. Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas is Mr.
Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella Santosa’s cousin.

The beneficiaries of the Capital Two Trust are Ms. Rachel
Anastasia Kolonas, her issue and remoter issue and her aunt,
Ms. Tati Santosa.

Highvern Trustees Limited is a professional trustee.

MNM Holdings Limited is the holding company of Highvern
Trustees Limited, which has an interest in the Shares as trustee
of the Scuderia Trust and the Capital Two Trust. MNM Holdings
Limited is wholly owned by Martin John Hall and Naomi Julia
Rive in equal shareholding proportions. By virtue of the SFO,
each of MNM Holdings Limited, Martin John Hall and Naomi
Julia Rive is deemed to be indirectly interested in the Shares
that Highvern Trustees Limited is interested in.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of HKEX or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December
2023 as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to HKEX and
the SFC under the Model Code.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS &
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the continuing connected transactions as described in
the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” as
set out in this report of the Directors, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or
its parent company was a party and in which any Director or any
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2022 under
review.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Company’s Shares were successfully listed on Main Board of
The Stock Exchange on 30 December 2022 (the “Listing Date”)
with 30,640,000 Shares issued and net proceeds of approximately
HK$101.4 million raised from the global offering of the Shares on
the Stock Exchange (the “Global Offering”). Due to the proximity
in time between the completion of the Global Offering and the
year end date, the net proceeds from the Global Offering were
unutilised as at 31 December 2022.

On 20 January 2023, the over-allotment option as described in the
Prospectus was partially exercised by the Overall Coordinators (on
behalf of the International Underwriters) with 606,000 additional
Shares issued and additional net proceeds of approximately
HK$3.88 million received by the Company. As of the date of this
announcement, the total net proceeds of the Global Offering of a
total of 31,246,000 Shares of approximately HK$105.28 million (the
“Net Proceeds”) remained unutilised.
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Change in Use of Proceeds

As disclosed in the “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” section
in the Prospectus, the Company intended to use all of the Net
Proceeds to build farm facilities and to purchase equipment for
Pure Source Farm 4, where construction was at the time expected
to commence in April 2023.

The Directors propose to change the use of proceeds to utilise
the Net Proceeds for payments to contractors and equipment
vendors of Pure Source Farm 3, which were originally expected to
be satisfied with internally generated cash flows and bank loans.
As disclosed in the Prospectus, Pure Source Farm 3, which is
located in Shandong with expected holding capacity for 17,000
dairy cows and expected milking capacity for 7,000 milking
cows, commenced development in April 2022 and commenced
commercial production in January 2023 as planned. The Net
Proceeds will be used to pay for (i) two milking equipment, (ii)
37 vehicle equipment for cow raising and feeding, (iii) cooling
equipment and other breeding ancillary equipment and facilities
and (iv) cow manure treatment facilities.

Reasons for the Change in Use of Proceeds

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the prices of raw milk have been
volatile historically, primarily due to fluctuations in the supply
and demand of dairy products, and consumption structure in the
downstream dairy market is constantly changing. The Company
routinely monitors raw milk prices and demand. While the
Directors currently continue to expect an increase in the overall
demand for mid-to-high-end dairy products in the longer term,
the Directors have considered evolving market conditions. In
particular, milk demand over the Chinese New Year celebrations,
which is traditionally a period of strong consumer spending, was
lower than expected, and an expected surge in milk demand
following the long-awaited opening up of China and its relaxation
of Covid-19 restrictions has not yet materialised. In light of such
recently available data, the Company currently expects the outlook
for milk prices and demand to remain muted in the short term. The
Company has therefore decided to extend the construction period
of Pure Source Farm 4 from April 2023 to Dec 2023, to April 2023
to Dec 2024. Correspondingly, the originally scheduled payments
to contractors and equipment suppliers of Pure Source Farm 4 will
be postponed until 2024.
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The Directors believe that due to the decision to extend the
construction period of Pure Source Farm 4, instead of depositing
the Net Proceeds into short-term interest-bearing accounts
pending deployment for Pure Source Farm 4, the Net Proceeds
would be better utilised to pay for the construction of Pure Source
Farm 3 which has completed construction and commenced
commercial production in January 2023 as planned. As the
construction of Pure Source Farm 3 was originally intended to be
financed partly by bank loans, the utilisation of the Net Proceeds
on Pure Source Farm 3 will reduce bank borrowings that would
otherwise be needed to pay the contractors of and suppliers to
Farm 3 and would therefore be a better use of the Company’s
financial resources.

The revised use of proceeds is set out below:

EERAARERATERIGANERS - mIES
IS RIEFEEARBRTBERER  UEHRAREIRK
B4 IBRIEFEBEEITANIMERERKS
SMER  ZPUSEIRETEIR2023F1 AT T MA
RENMEE - ARERERIEIREE D BIRTT
BERBE  BRBUSSEAMSREFES R AR
I HBUSIHFEBRE R HERMNIRITER - BALiSE
FiF AR QBN IEER o

RAEET 2 FRSFRREHEI N T ¢

Unutilised
Actual Usage Net Proceeds
Percentage of up to as at Expected Timeline
Total Net Approximate 31 December 31 December for Utilisation of
Use of Proceeds Proceeds Amount 2022 2022 Proceeds
Bz2022% R2022F
HEHE 12B318H 12A3182 BAMEREL
FrETIERR FRARNEAL BHeR ERBARR RBAREREER BHREE
(i) two milking equipment 9.5%  HK$10.02 million Nil  HK$10.02 million  Before 30 April 2023
MEEDRE 10.0288EL Z 10.020B8#T 2023548308271
(i) 37 vehicle equipment for cow raising and feeding 10.9% HK$11.5 million Nil HK$11.5 million  Before 30 April 2023
TR HEERR 115BEET z HEEBET 202354830824
(iii) cooling equipment and other breeding ancillary
equipment and facilities 76.0%  HK$80.04 million Nl HK$80.04 million  Before 30 April 2023
R R LA RRR R ENRE 80.04BEAT Z B0.04BEAT 202354 A308 240
(iv) cow manure treatment facilities 3.6% HK$3.72 million Nil HK$3.72 million  Before 30 April 2023
FERBRIE 3T2EEAT E3 ST2EEET  2023F4R30B A
Total 100%  HK$105.28 million HK$105.28 million’
@5t 105.28B&ATT 10528 &5 T

! After the completion of the partial exercise of the Over-
allotment Option on 20 January 2023.

! 20231 A20H A A D
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The Board’s views

The Board will closely monitor the utilisation of the Net Proceeds.
The Board further confirms that there is no material change in the
business of the Group as set out in the Prospectus. The Board
considers that the proposed change in use of the Net Proceeds
will not have any material adverse impact on the operations of the

Group and is in the interests of the Company and the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.

Technical Service Agreement

Annona Technical Services Pte. Ltd. (“ATS"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Japfa Ltd. (a close associate of the
controlling shareholder of the Company) entered into an
amended and restated technical services agreement (the
“Technical Service Agreement”) with the Company dated
14 December 2022, ATS has agreed to provide financial
solutions (including assisting with certain technical aspects
of the financial statements and upgrading the financial
management tools to review the Group’s business against
key performance indicators), debt financing and debt risk
solutions (including providing training to the Group’s staff
on financial, capital expenditure and budget planning,
developing balanced capital structure and assisting
with managing relationships with debt partners), legal
solutions, human resource solutions, strategic solutions
and digitalization solutions on a cost-sharing basis (the
“Technical Service”) to the Group on normal commercial
terms and at an arm’s length service fee equal to cost
plus a 5% mark-up, subject to a yearly cap on the
amount payable by the Group to ATS. Technical Service
Agreement is for an initial term commencing on the Listing
Date (30 December 2022) and expiring on 31 December
and thereafter will be automatically renewed for successive
terms of three years subject to compliance with the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules, unless either party issues
a written notice of non-renewal or either party terminates
such agreement by giving six months’ written notice.

The proposed maximum annual services fee payable by
the Group to ATS for provision of the Technical Services
for year 2022, year 2023, and year 2024 will not exceed
US$0.65 million, US$0.75 million and US$0.8 million,
respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amount
of service fee payable by the Group in relation to the
Technical Services amounted to US$0.5 million which did
not exceed the annual cap of US$0.65 million.

Japfa Ltd. is a close associate of controlling shareholders
(comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa,
the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee
of the Scuderia Trust), Magnus Nominees Limited, Fidelis
Nominees Limited, Fusion Investment Holdings Limited,
Rangi Management Limited, Tasburgh Limited and Tallowe
Services Inc.) of the Company. Accordingly, Japfa Ltd. and
its subsidiary ATS are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules and the transaction between
ATS and the Company constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Further details of the above Technical Services Agreement
have been set out in the section “Connected Transactions”
in the Prospectus.

Supply Agreement

Annona Pte. Ltd., (“Annona”) a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Japfa Ltd. (a close associate of the controlling shareholder
of the Company) entered into a supply agreement
(the “Supply Agreement”) with the Company dated 14
December 2022, Annona has agreed to supply the feed
(such as alfalfa, hay and oats) and other agricultural
commodities, premixes and vitamins (the “Goods”) on
normal commercial terms and on CIF (cost, insurance,
freight) at the prevailing market price of similar Goods,
subject to an overall trading margin which is capped
at 5% of Annona’s earnings before interest and tax for
each financial year. The Supply Agreement is for a term
commencing from the Listing Date (30 December 2022)
and expiring on 31 December 2024 and thereafter will
be automatically renewed for successive terms of three
years subject to compliance with the relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules, unless either party terminates such
agreement by giving one month’s written notice.

The proposed maximum annual purchase amounts payable
by the Group to Annona for the supply of the Goods for the
year 2022, 2023 and 2024 will not exceed US$32 million,
US$39 million and US$42 million, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amount of
purchase amounts payable by the Group in relation to the
Goods amounted to approximately US$33.44 million (the
“2022 Transaction Amount”), which exceeded the original
the annual cap of US$32 million (“Original 2022 Cap”)
by US$1.44 million (approximately 4.5%) (the “Exceeded
Amount”).

The 2022 Transaction Amount exceeded the Original 2022
Cap for the following reasons:

() During 2022, due to a number of factors outside
of the Group’s control, including unexpected
expressway closure, regional/municipality
lockdowns in the PRC due to COVID-19 policies
and unprecedented weather conditions, the Group
experienced various unexpected temporary delays
to the delivery schedule of imported goods arriving
at ports and consequently, to the Group’s farms.

(i) As a measure to mitigate potential interruptions
to the supply of the goods which are essential to
the Group’s farm operations (including the Goods
under the Supply Agreement) during 2022, the
Group had been asking its suppliers (including
Annona) and shipping agents to make transportation
arrangements earlier, in order to budget for
uncertainties over shipping and transportation
times, avoid potential delays of delivery of important
feed goods, maintain adequate inventory levels
(as part of the Group’s supply chain management
as disclosed in the Prospectus) and thereby
minimise potential impact to the Group’s operations.
Generally, once a supplier books container spaces
on vessel freights for the shipment of goods, the
delivery time of a shipment is out of the Group's
control.

(iii) The Group had planned for US$2.44 million worth
of Goods to be shipped from December 2022 to
January 2023. Among those orders, US$1.47 million
of such Goods were expected to be shipped and
recorded in the Company’s accounts in January
2023.
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(iv)

However, in the second half of December 2022,
US$1.47 million worth of Goods which the Group
initially expected to be shipped in January 2023
were shipped by Annona in December 2022. The
transaction amount of US$1.47 million was recorded
in the Company’s accounts for the year 2022.

The transaction amounts for January to November
2022 under the Supply Agreement were
approximately US$31 million. Had the Goods for
US$1.47 million been shipped (and the relevant
transactions recorded in the Company’s accounts)
in January 2023 as originally expected rather than
December 2022, the transaction amounts for the
financial year 2022 would have been US$31.97
million and the Original 2022 Cap would not have
been exceeded.

The Group has adopted the following rectification measures
with respect to the 2022 Transaction Amount having
exceeded the Original 2022 Cap:

(i)

(if)

Reducing the maximum transaction amounts for the
year 2023 by the Exceeded Amount (i.e. from the
original annual cap of US$39 million to US$37.5
million) such that, in aggregate, the total transaction
amounts for the year 2022 and the year 2023 will not
exceed the total annual caps for the year 2022 and
the year 2023 as disclosed in the Prospectus.

Adopting the following measures to ensure future
compliance with the connected transaction
requirements under the Listing Rules:

(a) strengthening the Group’s internal controls
to ensure that the transaction amounts
for continuing connected transactions will
not exceed their annual caps, including
more frequent reviews of the orders and
transaction amounts of continuing connected
transactions and relevant factors which affect
the transaction amounts (such as timing of
shipment and price of the relevant goods
and services) and rigorous forecasting of
transaction amounts out to the end of the
financial year;

(iv)
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(b) implementing more systematic and frequent
communication with counterparties of
continuing connected transactions to monitor
the transaction amounts and relevant factors
which affect the transaction amounts (such
as timing of shipment and price of the
relevant goods and services); and

(c) maintaining a list of connected transactions
including checking the contracting party in
each transaction to confirm whether it is a
connected person, checking the transactions
that are identified as connected transactions
for compliance with the Listing Rules,
monitoring the value of transactions that are
identified as connected transactions against
the threshold for triggering disclosure
and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules
and ensuring that the relevant business
departments are regularly updated in relation
to the renewal of connected transactions.

Japfa Ltd.(“Japfa”) is a close associate of controlling
shareholders (comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms.
Gabriella Santosa, the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees
Limited (as trustee of the Scuderia Trust), Magnus
Nominees Limited, Fidelis Nominees Limited, Fusion
Investment Holdings Limited, Rangi Management Limited,
Tasburgh Limited and Tallowe Services Inc.) of the
Company. Accordingly, Japfa Ltd. and its subsidiary
Annona are connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules and the transaction between Annona and the
Company constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Listing Rule 14A.54 provides that a listed issuer is required
to re-comply with the announcement and shareholders’
approval requirements before the cap is exceeded.
Exceeding the Original 2022 Cap constituted a breach of
Listing Rule 14A.54.
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The Directors have considered the following factors and
have resolved to approve the 2022 Transaction Amount
without seeking independent shareholders’ approval to
ratify the 2022 Transaction Amount:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

As the Company proposes to count the Exceeded
Amount toward the annual cap for the year 2023
(such that, in aggregate, the total transaction
amounts for the year 2022 and the year 2023 will
not exceed the total annual caps for the year 2022
and the year 2023 as set out in the Prospectus),
the 2022 Transaction Amount will not prejudice the
independent Shareholders.

The Exceeded Amount, which resulted in a technical
breach of the Listing Rules, was the inadvertent
result of the Group’s measures to mitigate potential
and unexpected disruptions to the supply of goods
which are essential for the Group’s farm operations.
The Group has implemented the rectification
measures set out above and will comply with
applicable Listing Rules going forward.

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on
30 December 2022 (at which time Annona became a
connected person of the Company and transactions
with Annona became connected transactions
under the Listing Rules). The transactions for the
Exceeded Amount occurred prior to the Company
becoming a listed issuer and when both the
Company and Annona were subsidiaries of Japfa, a
company listed on SGX-ST.

In view of the circumstances explained above,
convening an extraordinary general meeting (and
engaging an independent financial adviser to
advise independent Shareholders) within a short
period of time of the annual general meeting (which
is expected to be held in June of 2023) would
be unduly burdensome both administratively and
financially on the Company.

Further details of the above Supply Agreement have

been set out in the section “Connected Transactions” in
the Prospectus and announcement dated 1 March 2023
respectively.
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Raw Milk Purchase and Sale Agreement

Meiji Dairy (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Meiji Suzhou”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Meiji (China) Investment Company
(controlling shareholder of the Company), entered into
an amended and restated a raw milk purchase and sale
agreement (the “Raw Milk Agreement”’) among Dongying
Xianhe AustAsia, Dongying Shenzhou AustAsia and its
Xinhu branch company (the “Supply Subsidiaries”) dated
14 December 2022 for the long-term supply of raw milk.
The Raw Milk Agreement is for a term commencing from
the Listing Date (30 December 2022) and expiring on 31
December 2027.

The proposed maximum annual purchase amounts payable
by the Meiji Suzhou (and other subsidiaries of Meiji Co.)
for raw milk supplied by the Group to Meiji Suzhou (and
other subsidiaries of Meiji Co.) for the year 2023, 2024,
2025, 2026 and 27 will not exceed US$41 million, US$47
million, US$56 million, US$68 million and US$77 million,
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amount of
payable by the Meiji Suzhou (and other subsidiaries of Meiji
Co.) for raw milk supplied by the Group to payable by the
Meiji Suzhou (and other subsidiaries of Meiji Co.) amounted
to US$22 million which did not exceed the annual cap of
US$28 million.

Meiji Suzhou is a subsidiary of Meiji (China) Investment
Company, the controlling shareholder of the Company.
Accordingly, Meiji Suzhou is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules and the transaction
between Meiji Suzhou and the Company constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Further details of the above Supply Agreement have been
set out in the section “Connected Transactions” in the
Prospectus.
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Annual review on the continuing connected
transactions

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions mentioned above
pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules and confirmed
that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions had
been entered into:

() in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better to the Group;
and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor of the Company confirmed to the
Board that:
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
above transactions of the Group in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued a letter containing
his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group above in
accordance with Listing Rules 14A.56. The auditor has the
following conclusions in the letter on continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that cause them
to believe that the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(i) for transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that such
transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the aforesaid continuing
connected transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

(iv) with respect to the aggregate actual transaction
amount of each of the aforesaid continuing
connected transactions, except for the transaction
with Annona Pte. Ltd. which has exceeded the
annual cap for the year 2022, nothing has come
to their attention that causes them to believe that
such actual transaction amounts have exceeded the
relevant annual caps as set by the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. Saved as
disclosed in the note 38 to the consolidated financial statements,
the transactions with related parties recorded during the year
ended 31 December 2022 do not constitute connected transaction
nor continuing connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

The transactions of (i) Technical Services Agreement; (ii) Supply
Agreement; and (iii) Raw Milk Purchase and Sale Agreement
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company.
Details of which (1) the parties to the transaction and a description
of their connected relationship; (2) the transaction date; (3)
description of the transaction; (4) principal terms and historical
amount; and (5) Listing Rules implications, were disclosed in the
section headed “Connected Transactions” of the Prospectus.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or
arbitration for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Directors
are also not aware of any material litigation or claims that were
pending or threatened against the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting will be scheduled on Wednesday,
7 June 2023 (the “AGM”). A notice convening the AGM of the
Company will be issued and dispatched to the Shareholders of
the Company in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 2 June 2023 to Wednesday, 7 June 2023 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. All transfer documents of the Company accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the branch
share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 1 June
2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate governance practices.

The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on
pages 116 to 137. Details of each of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee are
given in the same report. The Audit Committee has reviewed
and discussed with management the annual results and the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on the information
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of
the Directors, the Company has maintained the public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by Ernst & Young,
Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
YEAR

There is no significant events affecting the Company after the year
ended 31 December 2022.

OTHER DISCLOSURES

During the Reporting Year,
advance to any entity.

the Company did not make any

During the Reporting Year, the Company did not have any breach
in relation to loan agreements.

During the Reporting Year, the Company did not have any
information about any guarantee regarding the financial
performance of a company or business acquired needed to be
disclosed.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have other
plans for material investments and capital assets.

APPRECIATION

The Company would like to take this opportunity to thank the
management and all our employees for the contribution they
have made towards the Group’s continued progress and to our
shareholders, valuable customers, and business partners for their
support.

By Order of the Board
AustAsia Group Ltd.
TAN Yong Nang
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 1 March 2023
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The Board consists of four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

TAN Yong Nang (Bf%®), aged 62, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 28 July 2010. He was
further appointed as the Executive Chairman of the Company on 1
April 2020. Mr. Tan is primarily responsible for strategic planning
of the Group and the management of the Board. He oversees the
formulation of the Group corporate planning, strategic direction,
business and corporate policies. Mr. Tan is the chairman
of nomination committee of the Company and a member of
remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Tan has been serving the Japfa Group for around 16 years.
He has been its executive director since June 2009 and chief
executive officer since January 2014, where he is in charge of
leading the development and execution of the long-term strategy,
and responsible for all day-to-day management decisions. Mr. Tan
joined the Japfa Group in May 2007 as an assistant to the chief
executive officer and chief operating officer of corporate services
division before taking on the position of chief operating officer of
the Japfa Group in 2011. Mr. Tan is also currently a director of PT
Japfa Comfeed Indonesia, Tbk, a subsidiary of Japfa and listed
on the Indonesia Stock Exchange (stock code: JPFA).

Prior to joining the Japfa Group, Mr. Tan worked at PAMA
(Singapore) Private Limited and PT PAMA Ventura Indonesia, both
of which are subsidiaries of The Prudential Insurance Company
of America, where he served as, among other roles, a director
and a president director. After that, Mr. Tan joined Delifrance Asia
Ltd as its chief executive officer, responsible for executing the
overall business strategies, facilitating business development and
managing the operations of the company. Mr. Tan subsequently
joined Li & Fung Group as its project director and chief operating
officer.

Mr. Tan obtained a bachelor of arts degree and a master of arts
degree from the University of Cambridge in the United Kingdom in
June 1983 and March 1987, respectively. He was also registered
as a Chartered Financial Analyst with The Institute of Chartered
Financial Analysts, US in September 1992. Mr. Tan is currently the
president of Leong Fun Chin Education Foundation.
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Edgar Dowse COLLINS, aged 56, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 17 April 2009. He has been the chief
executive officer of the Company since April 2009. He is primarily
responsible for the Group’s overall operation and management.
Mr. Collins is the chairman of the ESG Committee of the Company.
He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Collins has accumulated over 30 years of industry experience
having been involved in dairy farming and beef and cattle
operations throughout his career. He has been with the dairy
division of Japfa Group, since June 1999 and is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the dairy business and in charge
of formulating, developing and implementing both strategic and
long-term business plans for the dairy operations. From 1991
to 1999, Mr. Collins was the head of operations of PT Santosa
Agrindo, one of Japfa's subsidiaries, where he was involved in the
development of a cattle and beef business in Indonesia.

Mr. Collins obtained his high school diploma from The King’s
School, Sydney in December 1985.

YANG Ku (#% ), aged 54, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 5 August 2020. Mr. Yang has also
been the chief operating officer of the Group since October
2015. Mr. Yang is primarily responsible for the management and
operations of dairy farms in the PRC. Mr. Yang has more than 30
years of experience in dairy industry. Mr. Yang joined the Group
in October 2009 as a general manager where he was responsible
for the day-to-day management of farms in the PRC. Mr. Yang is
a member of the ESG committee of the Company. He is also a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
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Prior to joining the Group, from August 1991 to August 2004, Mr.
Yang worked at Teaching Experiment Farm of Ningxia University
as a technician, where he was responsible for technical and
production management of the chicken, pig and cattle farms.
From August 2004 to September 2009, Mr. Yang worked at
Mengniu AustAsia Model Dairy Farm Co., Ltd. (AEESF R
RNEHUSEREEAR]) (now known as Modern Dairy (Helingeer)
Co., Ltd. CRARBZE(RMIER)FR A A])) (“Helingeer Dairy”), a then
subsidiary of the Group which was acquired by Modern Farming
(Group) Co., Ltd. GRRHE(EE)BR2AA) ("Modern Farm”), a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Modern Dairy (as defined
below) in December 2008 and successively held positions as
feeding supervisor (responsible for the management of its feeding
division), dairy farm manager (responsible for the management of
the dairy farm) and general manager (responsible for the overall
management of the company).

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in animal husbandry
from School of Agriculture, Ningxia University (ZE k2 2 &0%)
(formerly known as Ningxia Agricultural College (2E 2Z2F03)) in
the PRC in July 1991 and a master's degree in animal nutrition
and feed science from Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences
(PEZFERIER) in the PRC in July 2007. Mr. Yang was awarded
the certificate of Senior Animal Technician by the Personnel
Department of Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region (Z2E Rk B/&8l& A
=[E) in August 2005.

GAO Lina (BE#), aged 66, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 22 December 2021. She is primarily
responsible for the management of the Group’s external affairs
and relationships.

Ms. Gao has over 16 years of extensive experience in dairy
industry. Ms. Gao co-founded the Modern Dairy Group (as
defined below) and had been the executive director and the
chief executive officer of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (&
BIRARHEERABRAR]) (“China Modern Dairy”, together with
its subsidiaries, “Modern Dairy Group”), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1117) in November 2008, for nearly
13 years. Ms. Gao retired from these positions with effect from
1 July 2021. Prior to this, Ms. Gao had accumulated significant
experience in cross-border trading, resource integration and
administrative management. Ms. Gao was the general manager
of Tailan Foreign General Trade Corporation (FRLZHINELE R A])
between October 1993 to June 2005. Ms. Gao was the director
general of Tai'an Municipal Trade Promotion Bureau (&M
/&) between October 2003 and June 2005.
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Over the years, Ms. Gao has received various awards and
accolades acknowledging her accomplishments. For example,
she was awarded Tai'an City Excellent Entrepreneur in Reforming
and Enterprising Endeavours (RLTRELLEENEFLER)
in 2004. Ms. Gao was awarded the Scientific and Technological
Progress Award (Class 1 of Promotion Category) (BIZ2 5l 4 15
HEEE—Z48) by the Ministry of Education of the PRC in January
2013, and Ms. Gao was granted the honour of Top 10 Business
Leaders in China Economy (FBI&EE+ K <EM) at the 2014
China Economic Summit Forum & The 12th Annual Meeting of
China Economic Characters. Ms. Gao was awarded Best CEO in
Institutional Investors — Survey Report on All Asian Management
Team 2016 (“HiBIREHE —2016 F2LMERERASRE P&E
CEO) and 2017 China Financial Market Awards e Best Corporate
Leader of the Year (2017 FHEIGIE KM o FEHEDEBMIE).
Ms. Gao was awarded the Meritorious Person of the Chinese Dairy
Industry (FFEIEZEIN B AHD) by the Dairy Association of China (/1
BN E) in 2018, the Top Ten Influential Women in China’s
Economy (FFEIAEE+ R Z N4 ) at Boao Enterprise Forum in
2019, 2020 Best Manager & Operator of the Year (FE &1ELIE A
&¥RB&EF) at the NetEase New Energy Dairy Industry Summit Forum
and the Outstanding Contribution Award for the High Quality
Development of the Dairy Industry (Ji¥EZERELEEE) by
National Dairy Science and Technology Innovation Alliance (BIZ

PIERI AR R ER).

Ms. Gao completed an undergraduate course at Tai'an Municipal
CPC Party School (FH#ZFEZMZER) majoring in economic
management in December 1999.
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Non-Executive Directors

HIRATA Toshiyuki (FH%1T), aged 60, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company on 3 July 2020. He is
primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and guidance
on corporate development, and making recommendations on
major operational and management decisions. Mr. Toshiyuki is a
member of audit committee of the Company.

Mr. Hirata has around 37 years of experience in confectionery
business. He joined Meiji Co., Ltd. (“Meiji Co.”) one of our
substantial shareholders, in April 1984. He worked at Tokyo
sales branch of Meiji Co. until June 1987. He then worked at
food international division of Meiji Co. from July 1987 to May
1998. Mr. Hirata subsequently served various positions in Meiji
Co., including manager of the administrative affairs under food
international division, finance director of Meiji Seika (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd. (“Meiji Seika Singapore”), a subsidiary of Meiji Co.,
manager of Tokai factory planning & administrative department,
as well as the associate general manager of confectionary
department and general manager of administrative department
under the international business unit. Mr. Hirata served as the
managing director of Guangzhou Meiji Confectionery Co., Ltd, a
subsidiary of Meiji Co., from April 2015 to December 2018, where
he was responsible for the company’s day-to-day operations. Mr.
Hirata is currently the managing director of Meiji Seika Singapore,
where he is primarily responsible for overseeing, managing and
advising on the company’s business development.

Mr. Hirata obtained a bachelor of arts degree in business and
commerce from Keio University in Tokyo, Japan in March 1984.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

SUN Patrick (¥E%), aged 64, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 5 December 2022.
He is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and
guidance and providing independent judgement and advice to the
Board. He is the chairman of the audit committee of the Company,
and a member of nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company.

In addition to his position at the Company, Mr. Sun has been an
independent non-executive director of Sihuan Pharmaceutical
Holdings Group Ltd., a pharmaceutical company and listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0460), since October 2010, an
independent non-executive director of Kunlun Energy Company
Limited, which is engaged in domestic and international oil-gas
exploration and development and listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0135), since February 2016 and an independent
non-executive director of Ferretti S.p.A., which is engaged in
the design, construction and sale of luxury yachts and listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9638), since December 2021.
Additionally, Mr. Sun was an independent non-executive director
of Trinity Limited, which is engaged in retailing and wholesales
of menswear and listed on the Stock Exchange (in liquidation)
(stock code: 891), from October 2008 to November 2020, an
independent non-executive director of China NT Pharma Group
Company Limited, a pharmaceutical company and listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1011), from March 2010 to
December 2019, an independent non-executive director of China
Railway Construction Corporation Limited, which is engaged
in transportation infrastructure construction services and listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1186) and Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 601186), from October 2014 to
December 2021 and an independent non-executive director of
CRRC Corporation Limited, which is engaged in manufacturing
and distribution of railway transportation equipment and listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1766) and Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 601766), from May 2015 to December
2021.
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Mr. Sun was the group executive director and head of investment
banking for Greater China at Jardine Fleming Holdings Limited
from December 1996 to 2000 and the senior country officer and
head of investment banking for Hong Kong of JPMorgan Chase
from 2000 to March 2002. Subsequent to that, Mr. Sun was an
executive director of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited
(formerly known as SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 0188) between September 2004 and May 2006
and an executive director and chief executive officer of Value
Convergence Holdings Limited (stock code: 0821) from August
2006 to October 2009 (both companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange).

Mr. Sun was formerly the chairman of the Chamber of Hong Kong
Listed Companies from 2013 to 2015. He was a member of the
Takeovers & Mergers Panel and the Takeovers Appeal Committee
of SFC from 1995 to 1997 and from 1999 to 2001, respectively.
Mr. Sun was a member of the Council and the deputy chairman
of the Listing Committee and of the Stock Exchange from 1995 to
2000 and from 2000 to 2002, respectively.

Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor of science degree in economics
from Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, the
United States, in May 1981. Mr. Sun also completed the Stanford
Executive Program of Stanford Business School, the United
States, in 2000. Mr. Sun is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the United Kingdom, and a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Sun was an independent non-executive director of Trinity
Limited (in liquidation) (stock code:891) from October 2008 until
November 2020. Subsequent to Mr. Sun’s resignation from Trinity
Limited in November 2020, winding up petitions were filed against
Trinity Limited and its subsidiary in December 2020 for the failure
to pay an outstanding sum of HK$150,383,631.90. In August 2021,
Trinity Limited was ordered by the Supreme Court of Bermuda to
be wound up and was in liquidation as of the Latest Practicable
Date. Mr. Sun confirmed that (i) there was no wrongful act on his
part leading to the winding up of Trinity Limited and (ii) he is not
aware of any actual or potential claim that has been or will be
made against him as a result of the winding up of Trinity Limited.
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LI Shengli (ZE ), aged 57, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 5 December 2022.
Professor Li is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice
and guidance and providing independent judgement and advice
to the Board. He is a member of nomination committee and ESG
committee of the Company.

Since 2003, Professor Li has been with China Agricultural
University (FRBI 2% KE) working at various times as an
assistant professor and professor. Professor Li is currently the
vice president of Dairy Association of China. In 2005, Professor
Li obtained a patent on Rubeili (2Lf&7%), a type of high-energy
and high-protein supplementary feed for dairy cows. Over the
years, Professor Li has received various awards and accolades
acknowledging his accomplishments. For instance, he was
awarded the second prize and a prize of the Beijing Science
and Technology Award (It FmMEEZFTEE) in 2000 and 2011,
respectively, and was recognised by the Beijing Municipal
Government as “Top 10 Scientists with Contribution to the
Economic Development in Rural Villages of Beijing” (RZBEF 4L
EEEHE"RHE TEE) in 2009. He also received the first prize
of Science and Technology Progress Award awarded by the
Ministry of Education of the PRC (¥(E #pEI 525 #%) in 2012, the
first prize for Chinese Agricultural Science Technology Progress
awarded by the Ministry of Agriculture of the PRC (FREEEZERIH
#EH—FHE) in 2013 and the second prize of National Scientific
and Technological Progress Award (Bl 5R B Z2H i 58 — 5 58) in
2014.
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Professor Li has been an independent non-executive director
of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a dairy farm operator and
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1117), since October
2010, an independent director of Zhejiang Yiming Food Co., Ltd.
(MT—ER MM ERAR]), which is engaged in dairy farming,
manufacturing and sale of dairy products and listed on Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 605179), since September 2018 and
an independent director of Xinjiang Tianrun Dairy Co., Ltd. (¥758K
TAILER DB AR, which is engaged in manufacturing and sale
of dairy products and listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600419), since February 2020. Additionally, Professor Li
was an independent non-executive director of China Zhongdi
Dairy Holdings Company Limited, a dairy farm operator which was
listed on the Stock Exchange in December 2015 and delisted due
to privatisation in June 2021 (previous stock code: 1492), from
February 2015 to December 2021 and an independent director
of Beijing Scitop Bio-tech Co.,Ltd. (It REHAEBEWFITRMDE
fR/A7"]), which is engaged in lactic acid bacteria research and
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300858), from
December 2019 to November 2020.

Professor Li obtained a bachelor’'s degree in animal husbandry
and veterinary science graduated from Shihezi Agricultural
College (RAA-FREPFT) (currently known as Shihezi University
(AJAFAKE)) in the PRC in July 1987 and a master’s degree
in animal husbandry and nutrition from Xinjiang Agricultural
University (FTiB2% KX2) in the PRC in June 1993. He then
obtained his doctorate degree in animal nutrition science from
China Agricultural University in the PRC in July 1996.

CHANG Pan, Peter (&), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent Director on 5 August 2020 and was redesignated as
an Independent Non-executive Director on 24 March 2022. Mr.
Chang is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and
guidance and providing independent judgement and advice to
the Board. He is the chairman of remuneration committee of the
Company and a member of audit committee of the Company. Mr.
Chang has also been appointed as an independent director of
Dongying AustAsia, our principal operating subsidiary in the PRC,
since October 2010 and subsequently has been appointed as an
independent director of several other subsidiaries of the Company
in the PRC where his role has been to participate in board
meetings of the relevant PRC subsidiaries to provide independent
advice and judgement on the operations and management of such
subsidiaries on issues relating to the PRC business, strategy and
performance as well as relationships with key stakeholder.
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Mr. Chang is an entrepreneur with extensive experience in
corporate management and investments. Since August 2004,
Mr. Chang founded several companies under the brand of KAIA
Group in Singapore, China and Malaysia which are engaged in
property development, new material manufacturing and private
equity investments (“KAIA Group”). Mr. Chang has served as the
chairman and has been actively involved in the KAIA Group’s
development over the past years. Prior to founding KAIA Group,
Mr. Chang had years of experience spanning across consultancy,
property investment and power plants business. Mr. Chang
worked at Paclantic Pte Ltd as its director until February 1997,
where he was mainly responsible for oversight of company’s
consultancy and property investment business. From March
1997 to July 2004, Mr. Chang held positions of director, chief
executive officer and president of AsiaPower Corporation Limited,
a company mainly engaged in power plants management and
operation which was voluntarily delisted from the SGX-ST in May
2014 (previous stock code: A03).

Mr. Chang obtained a bachelor of engineering degree from Harbin
Institute of Technology (FMEE T AKE) in the PRC in July 1984
and a doctor of philosophy (Ph.D) degree from Loughborough
University of Technology in the United Kingdom in September
1989. Mr. Chang was elected a graduate of the Institution of
Engineering and Technology (formerly the Institution of Production
Engineers) in the United Kingdom in October 1990.

Senior Management

TAN Yong Nang, aged 62, is the Executive Chairman of the
Company. His biographical details are set out above under the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

Edgar Dowse COLLINS, aged 55, is the Executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company. His biographical details
are set out above under the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

YANG Ku (#&E), aged 54, is the Executive Director and chief
operating officer of the Company. His biographical details are
set out above under the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

GAO Lina, aged 66, is the Executive Director of the Company.
Her biographical details are set out above under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

REAR—NECETERRETFAEALEEL
BAEER - B2004F8 A » RELEEFTMNE -
PR ERTEI AKAIA GroupmhEAIMZ R AR
([KAIA Groupl) @ B RRIMEWEMNE - I
REEMFLEIRERE - RAEEMEKAIA Group
FE - BEFR—EBEG2EEER - RAIPKAIA
Groupdl * SREAEIEER - WEREREHMELE
HEEZFLER - N1997F2 A Z /1 - REETH
MPaclantic Pte Ltd ' IEEEEE T ZB8FEE
ZARIMBHMMEREEL - B1997F3 A%
2004%F 7 - R&EHEETAsiaPower Corporation
Limited (—REBHEEMERMBLHAE K
20145 AR ERET (REFRES - A03))
EE  THREHEES -

RAEERI984F 7T ABGHRAGRETIEANETE
BEA B YHA1989F A BHR K RIET
AEFEF BN - PA1990F 108 » RILLMER A
EETREFTES (FBEETRRAMSE)fRE -

EREEE

BREKE > 6258 ' ARAMITER - EEREFBHEN
FERIEERSRERRE | — -

Edgar Dowse COLLINS ' 555 © BARAHITE
ERTHEE  HERABARAFRIEF LR
EHRE | o

BE 545 RARRMITESRARELE H
BEREFBERNAFRIEERSREEE] 4 -

BB 665 ARBWNTESE - HEEFBERN
RERIEENRSREER | —& o



Annual Report 2022
—BoCEER

Directors and Senior Management

CHEN Yuan (PR¥), aged 53, has been the chief finance officer
of the Group since July 2021 and is primarily responsible for the
financial and risk management, capital markets, investor relations
of the Group.

Mr. Chen has around 18 years of experience spanning across
investment banking, securities underwriting, equity capital market
and corporate finance. From January 1995 to September 1999,
Mr. Chen worked at China Southern Securities Co., Ltd. (F
F#EHAEMR AR as the manager of securities underwriting in
international business department, where he was responsible for
underwriting and listing of Chinese B shares. From March 2002
to July 2002, Mr. Chen worked at Standard Capital Brokerage
Limited as a business development manager. From July 2002 to
December 2003, Mr. Chen worked at Polaris Capital (Asia) Limited
(formerly known as GC Capital (Asia) Limited) as an associate
director of equity capital market division. Mr. Chen joined Piper
Jaffray Asia Securities Limited (formerly known as Goldbond
Securities Limited) in April 2006 as a director of equity capital
market division and was designated as the principal in October
2007, and Mr. Chen subsequently served as the head of Hong
Kong equity capital market division from August 2008 to April
2009. From April 2009 to September 2010, Mr. Chen held the
positions as managing director and head of institutional sales at
China Everbright Limited.

In September 2010, Mr. Chen joined Fufeng Group Limited
(“Fufeng Group”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0546), as the vice general manager, and subsequently
served as the executive director and chief financial officer
from November 2010 to December 2014, during which he was
responsible for matters relating to corporate finance, capital
markets, investor relations, corporate development and other
financial management. Subsequent to that, Mr. Chen served as
the chief financial officer at Hyalroute Communication Group
Limited (formerly known as International Telecommunication Group
Holdings Limited), a telecom infrastructures provider in Southeast
Asia, where he was primarily responsible for formulating the
financial strategies and directing financial management functions
of the company. Mr. Chen then rejoined Fufeng Group in July
2017 and served as the chief financial officer until June 2021.
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Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Xiamen
University (EFIAZ) in the PRC in July 1991 and a Master of
Business Administration in international banking and finance from
Birmingham Business School of the University of Birmingham in
the United Kingdom in December 2001.

Mr. Chen ranked as one of the best CFOs by Finance Asia in the
Best Companies Polls covering Hong Kong, Mainland China and
Taiwan in March 2014.

ZHANG Haicheng (5&#&#), aged 43, has been the operation
general manager of the Group since January 2019 and is primarily
responsible for the day-to-day management of dairy farms in the
PRC. Mr. Zhang has more than 15 years of experience in dairy
farm management and operation. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in
September 2009 as a deputy dairy farm manager of Dongying
AustAsia, our principal operating subsidiary in the PRC, and
successively served in its information division and farm operation
manager from August 2010 to April 2013. Mr. Zhang worked as
a dairy farm manager at Dongying Shenzhou AustAsia, our other
principal operating subsidiaries in the PRC, from May 2013 to
December 2014. Mr. Zhang was appointed as the deputy dairy
farm manager of the Group in January 2015, and successively
promoted to be the general manager in Shandong region in
January 2017 and the operation general manager in January
2019.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang joined Helingeer Dairy as the
information division manager in October 2005. From September
2009 to July 2010, Mr. Zhang worked at Modern Farm as a deputy
manager of information division.

Mr. Zhang obtained a college degree in computer and
applications from Inner Mongolia University of Technology (A& &
T K2) in the PRC in July 2003.
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SUN Lizhi (X&), aged 48, has been the finance controller
since he joined the Group in July 2012. He is primarily responsible
for the Group’s overall financial reporting and accounting
operations. Mr. Sun has years of experience in accounting,
auditing and financial management.

Since he joined the Group, Mr. Sun has been overseeing and
reviewing the financial statements and accounting work of
the Group’s various subsidiaries in the PRC. Mr. Sun is also
in charge of the Group’s information technology department,
where he is responsible for formulating information management
policies and enhancing information management systems,
as well as supervising the department’s daily work. Mr. Sun
assists in overseeing the compliance related matters of the PRC
subsidiaries.

Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor's degree in textile engineering from
Qingdao University (E&A%£) in the PRC in July 1998. Ms. Sun
was accredited as a Chinese certified public accountant by
Shandong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (ILERA e
e &) in December 2009.
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KANG Kim Liang (CIE#), aged 53, has been the head of
corporate finance of the Group since August 2021 and is primarily
responsible for debt capital and banking finance of the Group. Mr.
Kang joined the Group in January 2013 and had been managing
the Group’s corporate finance activities.

Mr. Kang has around 25 years of experience spanning across
banking, corporate finance, investment advisory and fund
management. Prior to joining the Group, from March 1997 to
January 2002, Mr. Kang served as, among other roles, an account
manager and later an assistant vice president at the corporate
restructuring department of Crédit Industriel et Commercial
Singapore Branch, a French cooperative bank, where he was in
charge of managing the non-performing loan portfolios. Mr. Kang
then successively worked at Clearwater Capital Partners, an asset
management firm as an assistant vice president from February
2002 to July 2006, and at Concordia Advisors Singapore Pte.
Ltd., a multi-strategy hedge fund, as a distressed debt analyst
from July 2006. His focus for both funds were predominantly in
distress debts, special situation assets and non-performing loan
portfolios in South East and North Asian markets. From November
2009, Mr. Kang successively worked at two advisory firms, namely
Alvarez & Marsal Asia Ltd and KordaMentha Pte Ltd respectively,
providing corporate advisory services primarily in corporate and
debt restructuring. From April 2012, Mr. Kang began serving as
a deputy director (finance) at the accounts, finance and control
division of TT International Limited, a company listed on the SGX-
ST (stock code: T09), where he was responsible for overseeing a
spectrum of corporate finance activities including finance strategy,
investment management and merger and acquisitions as well as
investor relations and corporate governance.

Mr. Kang obtained a bachelor of business degree from Nanyang
Technological University in Singapore in May 1993. Mr. Kang also
obtained a diploma in life insurance from the Singapore Insurance
Institute in Singapore in November 1993.
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SUN Jingfeng (& &1£), aged 41, has been the general manager
of Inner Mongolia region since January 2017 and is primarily
responsible for day-to day management of dairy farms in Inner-
Mongolia region in the PRC. Mr. Sun has more than 11 years of
experience in dairy farm management.

Mr. Sun joined the Group in April 2010 as the deputy manager
of Dongying AustAsia, our principal operating subsidiary in the
PRC, and was in charge of production management. From May
2011 to December 2014, Mr. Sun worked at Tai’an AustAsia, our
other principal operating subsidiaries in the PRC, as a dairy farm
manager, where he was responsible for the farm’s daily operation
and management. Mr. Sun was promoted to be a deputy general
manager of the Group in January 2015 and was in charge of
production management of various farms across the PRC. Mr. Sun
was further promoted to be the general manager of Inner Mongolia
region in January 2017.

Mr. Sun obtained a college degree in animal nutrition and feed
processing from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University (R 2
% KE2) in the PRC in July 2004.

WU Wenzai (K 3X7E), aged 42, has been the general manager of
Shandong region since January 2019 and is primarily responsible
for the day-to-day management of farms in Shandong region in
the PRC. Mr. Wu has more than 16 years of experience in dairy
farm management.

Mr. Wu joined the Group in October 2010 as a deputy dairy farm
manager of Dongying AustAsia, our principal operating subsidiary
in the PRC and was responsible for production management.
From April 2011 to December 2018, Mr. Wu successively held
positions at our other principal operating subsidiaries, including a
deputy dairy farm manager at Tai’an AustAsia, a deputy general
manager at Dongying Xianhe AustAsia and a dairy farm manager
at Dongying AustAsia Beef, during which he was responsible for
the management of production and daily operations.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wu worked at Modern Farm as a
dairy farm manager from July 2005 to July 2009.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor of agriculture degree in veterinary
medicine from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University (AR5 5 &%
AE) in the PRC in July 2005.
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YU Hongfu (F#E), aged 43, has been the technical controller
for nutrition of the Group since March 2012 and is primarily
responsible for oversight of nutrition and feed formula for dairy
herd and beef cattle. Mr. Yu has more than 17 years of experience
in dairy farming and breeding.

Mr. Yu joined the Group in April 2010 and successively served
as a deputy dairy farm manager in our principal operating
subsidiaries in the PRC, namely Dongying AustAsia and Tai'an
AustAsia, where he was responsible for the management of
animal nutrition and feed formulations. In March 2012, Mr. Yu was
promoted to be the technical controller for nutrition of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, from September 2004 to March 2008,
Mr. Yu worked at Helingeer Dairy as a farming and feeding
division manager. From March 2008 to December 2012, Mr. Yu
worked as a production manager at Modern Dairy (Chabei) Co.,
Ltd. GRARHE(RIE)B R A F]), a subsidiary of Modern Farm.

Mr. Yu obtained a college degree in animal nutrition and feed
processing from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University (N5 2
%K E) in the PRC in July 2004.

WEI Junshuai (5ERb), aged 40, has been the technical
controller for quality control of the Group since September 2012
and is primarily responsible for oversight of the raw milk quality
and cow health. Mr. Wei has more than 15 years of experience in
dairy industry.

Mr. Wei joined the Group in October 2009 as a deputy dairy
farm manager of Dongying AustAsia and was responsible for the
daily operation and management of the dairy farms. Mr. Wei was
promoted to be the technical controller for quality control of the
Group in September 2012.

Prior to joining the Group, from June 2006 to September 2009,
Mr. Wei worked at the veterinary laboratory of Helingeer Dairy
and was successively promoted to be a deputy manager and a
general manager of the laboratory, where he was responsible for
the raw milk quality control and infectious diseases prevention
and control.

Mr. Wei obtained a bachelor of agriculture degree in veterinary
medicine from Inner Mongolia Agricultural University (R&&
BFEKXEZ) in the PRC in June 2006. Mr. Wei holds a veterinary
qualification which was awarded by Shandong Animal Husbandry
and Veterinary Bureau (LU & EHEEB) in March 2021.
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MEI Cheng (#§7), aged 44, has been the technical controller for
genetic and reproduction since he joined the Group in September
2018. He is primarily responsible for the Group’s cattle breeding,
reproduction and genetic operations. Mr. Mei has more than 20
years of experience in veterinary medicine and dairy farming.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Mei built his career at Guangzhou
Huamei Milk Co., Ltd. (BMMEXFYHHERDA) from July 2000
to January 2009, where he served as a veterinary, responsible
for cattle diseases prevention and control, and was subsequently
promoted to be a deputy manager and in charge of the dairy
techniques and human resource management. From February
2009 to February 2010, Mr. Mei studied the dairy farm operation
and management in North Florida Holsteins farm, a 4,300 milking
cow operation located in Florida, United States. From April 2010 to
May 2013, Mr. Mei worked at Beijing World Wide Sires Company,
Ltd. (At RIRIEEZ AR E (LA F)) as a technical manager, where he
was in charge of the technical services. From June 2013 to June
2017, Mr. Mei worked at Guangzhou Baigi Biotechnology Co., Ltd.
(BMNETEDRE AR AR]) as a technical manager, where he
was in charge of the technical services.

Mr. Mei obtained a bachelor of agriculture degree in veterinary
medicine and a master’'s degree in animal genetics, breeding and
reproduction from South China Agricultural University (ZEf 2% KX
£) in the PRC in July 2000 and June 2006, respectively. Mr. Mei
holds a veterinary qualification which was awarded by Guangdong
Department of Agriculture (EHR4E E%EE) in December 2014.
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COMPANY SECRETARIES
Singapore Company Secretaries

Ms. CHUA Sook Ping Christina (%), aged 56, was
appointed as the Singapore Company Secretary of the Company
on 5 January 2012. Ms. Chua joined Japfa Group in 2010 and
currently holds the position of head of legal and compliance in
Japfa. Ms. Chua will continue to oversee all legal, compliance
and secretarial functions of operations of the Japfa Group and
company secretarial affairs of the Group following the completion
of the Japfa Distribution and the Global Offering.

Ms. Chua has more than 30 years of experience as a lawyer.
She joined Drew & Napier LLC in 1990 and later joined Rajah &
Tann LLP in 2007. During her time in practice, Ms. Chua was a
director at Drew & Napier LLC and later a partner at Rajah & Tann
LLP, and was recommended in the 2003/2004, 2004/2005 and
2006/2007 editions of The Asia Pacific Legal 500 for Mergers &
Acquisitions.

She was also named in Who's Who Legal (Singapore) 2007
for Mergers & Acquisitions and the International Tax Review
2004. She was named a highly recommended tax practitioner in
Practical Law Company’'s Which Lawyer? Yearbook Singapore
(2008).

Ms. Chua obtained a bachelor’s degree in Laws from the National
University of Singapore in June 1989 in Singapore. She is an
advocate and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Singapore and
was admitted to the Singapore Bar in March 1990. She has been
a member of the Law Society of Singapore since 1990.

Ms. CHENG Sai Hong (i%8l), aged 52, was appointed as the
Singapore Company Secretary of the Company on 5 January
2012.

Ms. Cheng has also served as the Company Secretary of Japfa
since August 2011. Ms. Cheng has over 28 years of corporate
secretarial experience which included Singapore listed companies
such as Transpac Industrial Holdings Limited (now known as TIH
Limited (stock code: T55)) and ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited
(stock code: C52).

Ms. Cheng was admitted as an associate of the Singapore
Association of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators (a division of the Chartered Governance Institute)
in January 2009 and an associate of the Chartered Secretaries
Institute of Singapore in May 2017.
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Hong Kong Secretary

Ms. HO Wing Nga (fJ5k#), was appointed as the Hong Kong
Secretary of the Company on 24 March 2022.

Ms. Ho currently serves as the managing director, head of
governance services, of Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited. She is currently a joint company secretary
and the company secretary of various companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Ms. Ho has over 25 years of experience in
corporate secretarial services. She obtained a master’s degree in
corporate governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in December 2006 and became an associate of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (the “HKCGI”, previously known
as the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) in the same
month. In March 2015, Ms. Ho became a fellow of both the HKCGI
and The Chartered Governance Institute. She is also a holder of
the practitioner’s endorsement of HKCGI and a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Directors. She is not a “secretary” of the
Company as defined in the Singapore Companies Act.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors confirm that
there is no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or
“Director(s)”) is pleased to report to its Shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company for the period from 30
December 2022 (the “Listing Date”) to 31 December 2022 (the
“Reporting Period”).

The Board is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance so as to deliver long-term and sustained value for the
Shareholders of the Company. The Board reviews its corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to provide an
effective Board, prudent risk management and internal control
system, transparency and quality disclosure, and accountability
towards Shareholders, stakeholders and investors.

CG CODE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
the Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) as the basis of the Company’s
corporate governance practices. To the best knowledge of the
Directors, the CG Code has been applicable to the Company with
effect from 30 December 2022.

On 1 March 2023, the Company issued an announcement on
the Stock Exchange that transaction amount of approximately
US$33.44 milli with Annona Pte Ltd under the Supply Agreement
in FY2022 exceeded the original cap by US$1.44m (approximately
4.5%) (Goods initially expected to be shipped in January 2023
were shipped by Annona in December 2022). Saved as disclosed
about, so far as the Directors are aware, the Company has
complied with all the applicable code provisions set out in the CG
Code.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in the Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions, and the
Model Code has been applicable to the Company with effect from
the Listing Date.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry made by
the Company, that they have complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code was noted by
the Company during the Reporting Period.

STRATEGY OF THE COMPANY

The Company focus on creating long-term value for our
stakeholders in a responsible and sustainable way. To achieve
our mission, the Company intends to pursue a comprehensive
strategy focused on the following:

° Further expand our dairy farms and diversify our customer
base;

o Continue to develop our beef cattle business;

. Upstream integration through genetic breeding technology

to further improve our operational efficiency; and

° Build a sustainable business with minimal environmental
impact.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
businesses, strategic decisions and performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and takes decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties in good
faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Yong Nang (Executive Chairman)

Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YANG Ku

Ms. GAO Lina

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuku

Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. SUN Patrick (appointed with effect from 5 December 2022)
Mr. LI Shengli (appointed with effect from 5 December 2022)
Mr. CHANG Pan, Peter (redesignated on 24 March 2022)

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight
(8) Directors, four (4) Executive Directors, one (1) Non-executive
Director, and three (3) Independent Non-executive Director. One
(1) female Director and seven (7) male Directors, and four (4)
Chinese Directors and four (4) non-Chinese Directors.
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The Board members (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) come from a wide range of professional and
educational backgrounds, including accounting, corporate
finance, management and industry expertise. It brings a diverse
and balance set of skills and experience to the Board, contributing
to the effective direction of the Group.

The biographies of the Directors are set out from pages 97 to
106 of this annual report under the “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” section.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there has been no
relationship (neither financial, business nor family or other
material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board as
at the date of this report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Throughout the Reporting Period and upto the date of this annual
report, the Board at all times met the requirements of Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with at least one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director a written confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and for the Reporting Period.
The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive
Directors to be independent..

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
overseeing the Group’s strategic decisions, monitors business
and performance, monitor the financial performance, and internal
control and risk management system and monitor. To oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee. The Board has delegated to the Board
committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors are particularly
responsible for bringing an independent judgement on the Board.
They take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise
and monitor the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives and the relevant reporting.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of liability arising from legal action against its Directors,
and will conduct annual review on such insurance coverage.

Appointment and Re-appointment of the Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are laid down in the Constitution. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring the
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors
and assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

All Directors (including Non-executive Director and Independent
Non-executive Directors) have entered into the letters of
appointment with the Company and subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms and may be renewed in
accordance with the Constitution and the applicable Listing Rules.

Executive Directors’ service contracts ranges from one to three
years commencing from the Listing Date (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
agreement). In certain other circumstances, the service contract
can also be terminated by us, including but not limited to certain
breaches of our Directors’ obligations under the contract or
certain misconducts. The appointments of our Executive Directors
are also subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of
Directors under the.Constitution. The salary of each executive
Director after each financial year is subject to adjustment as
determined by our Company’s remuneration committee and
approved by a majority of the members of our Board (excluding
our Director whose salary is under review).
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All Directors will hold office subject to provision of retirement
and rotation of directors under the Constitution. Pursuant to the
Constitution 34.1, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three(3) years.

Pursuant to Constitution 34.8, any person so appointed either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director by the Directors
shall hold office only until the next annual general meeting after
his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Training and Continuous Professional Development of
Directors

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the purpose
of the Company. Additionally, in preparation for the Listing,
Directors have received formal and comprehensive training
regarding their responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant laws and regulations as well as the governance
policy of the Company.

Our Directors generally keep themselves updated on new laws
and regulations as well as changes in the industry and general
economic environment. The Company also engages external
lawyers to brief the Board on material changes to their statutory
duties and to update them on material changes in laws and
regulations. External seminars and conferences are arranged for
the Directors when appropriate.
Company engaged Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer to conduct
training session for all Director on “Prospectus Liability and
Continuing Obligations of a Hong Kong Listed Company and its
Directors”.

During the Reporting Period, the
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
not to be performed by the same individual to avoid power being
concentrated in any one individual. Mr. Tan Yong Nang is the
Chairman of the Board, and Mr. Edgar Dowse Collins is the chief
executive officer.

The roles of the Chairman and the chief executive officer are
segregated with a clear division of responsibilities, the role of
chairman of the Board is responsible for strategic planning of the
Group and the management of the Board, the role of the chief
executive officer is responsible for the Group’s overall operation
and management.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a policy of “diversity from inclusiveness — the
best person for the job regardless of gender, age, race, religion,
social and cultural background”.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring that gender
diversity objectives are adopted in board recruitment, board
performance evaluation and succession planning processes.
It will consider the balance in board composition in terms of
skills, experience, independence as well as diversity in carrying
out the annual performance assessment on the effectiveness of
the Board, the Board committees and individual Directors. The
Nomination Committee will periodically identify and, when suitable,
recommend suitable candidates to the Board for consideration
for appointment as a Director and ensure that there is at least a
director of a different gender. The Company will also continue to
ensure that gender diversity is considered when recruiting staff
at the mid to senior levels so as to develop a pipeline of female
management members and potential appointees to the Board in
the future, and continue to emphasise training of female talent and
provide long-term development opportunities for female staff.

The Company is committed to maintaining a suitable working
environment of respect for people regardless of their gender in all
business dealings and achieving a workplace environment free of
harassment and discrimination on the basis of gender, physical or
mental state, ethnicity, nationality, religion, age or family status.

Delegation by the Board

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the
Board has established four Board committees, including the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee the Nomination
Committee, and ESG Committee (collectively, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board Committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
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Board meetings, committee meetings and general meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals in accordance with the CG Code. Notices of no less than
fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are sent to the Directors or Board
committee members at least 3 days before the meetings, and all
Directors have full and timely access to the senior management
for any information to enable them to make informed decisions
and perform their duties and responsibilities.

Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the company secretary of
the Company with copies circulated to all Directors for information
and records. Minutes of Board meeting and meetings of board
committees are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes of
each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to
the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings are
open for inspection by the Directors.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code provides that the Chairman
should at least annually hold a meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors.
As Independent Directors were appointed on 5 December 2022
and the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on 30
December 2022, shortly before the year ended 31 December
2022, the Chairman did not hold any meeting during the Reporting
Period.
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Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code provides that Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals.

As the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration
and ESG Committee were established on 5 December 2022
shortly before the listing of the Company on 30 December 2022,
no committee meetings were held during the Reporting Period.

A summary of the attendance records of each Director at Board
meetings, committee meetings and general meetings from the
Listing Date to the date of the annual report is set out below:
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Executive Directors

HITES

Tan Yong Nang

R 111 11
Edgar Dowse Collins

Edgar Dowse Collins 1/ il
Yang Ku

BE 1/1 11
Gao Lina

BER 11 1/1

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Hirata Toshiyuki

FHET 11 11

Independent Non-executive Directors
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Sun Patrick

FEE il 11
Li Shengli

ZEF 11 _

Chang Pan, Peter
R 11 il

1 - - 0/0

- - 11 0/0
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- - 1/1 0/0
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each
of these committees is established with defined written terms of
reference..

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee of the Board
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee comprises three members, including two Independent
Non-executive Directors, Mr. Sun Patrick (Chairman) and Mr.
CHANG Pan, Peter, and one Non-executive Director, Mr. HIRATA
Toshiyuki.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in discharging its statutory duties and responsibilities relating
to accounting and reporting practices of the Group. The duties
and responsibilities include overseeing the financial reporting
and reviewing the financial information of the Group, considering
issues relating to the external auditors and their appointment and
reviewing the internal controls systems of the Group (including
financial, operational, compliance, information technology controls
and risk management processes). The written terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are available for inspection on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As the Company was listed on 30 December 2022, shortly before
the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no audit committee
meeting during the Reporting Period.
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Subsequent to 31 December 2022 and to the date of this annual
report, one meeting of the Audit Committee was held to discuss
and consider the following matters:

° the integrity of the Group’s annual accounts for the year
ended 31 December 2022 as well as the audit report
prepared by the external auditor relating to accounting
issues and major findings in course of audit;

° draft results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2022;

° effectiveness and sufficiency of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December
2022;

o the continuing connected transactions of the Group during

the year of 2022;

. the work scope of audit and reporting obligations of
external auditor;

o the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards; and

° the engagement of the external auditor for the year ended
31 December 2022.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 and has met with the independent auditor, Ernst & Young.
The Audit Committee considered that the annual results are in
compliance with the applicable accounting standards, laws and
regulations, and the Company has made appropriate disclosures
thereof.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee of
the Board in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including
two Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. CHANG Pan, Peter
(Chairman) and Mr. Sun Patrick, and one Executive Director Mr.
Tan Yong Nang.
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy, review and approve the
management’s remuneration proposals and to determine or
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available for inspection on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

No remuneration committee meeting during the Reporting Period.

Subsequent to 31 December 2022 and to the date of this annual
report, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held to
discuss and consider the following matters:

° recommended to the Board the remuneration packages
of Executive Directors, Non-executive Director and senior
management in respect of the year ended 31 December
2022; and

° recommended to the Board the remuneration packages of
Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Emoluments of Directors and Senior Management

The aggregate amount of the fees, salaries, housing allowances,
other allowances, benefits in kind (including contributions to
pension schemes) and bonuses and share-based payment
expenses paid by the Group to Directors for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately US$15,633,010. Details of the
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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The level of remuneration is mainly based on the experience,
scope of duties, work performance and time committed to the
Company, prevailing market rates, salaries paid by comparable
companies and remuneration packages elsewhere in the
Group. The remuneration payable to the Directors and senior
management of the Company fell within the following bands for
the year 2022:
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US$0 to US$150,000
US$150,001 to US$300,000
US$30,001 to US$450,000
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee of the
Board as recommended by the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee comprises
three members, including one Executive Director, Mr. Tan Yong
Nang (Chairman), and two Independent Non-executive Directors,
Mr. Sun Patrick and Mr. Li Shengli.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
structure, size and composition of the Board, identify individuals
who are qualified to become members of the Board and select
or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship, assess the independence
of the independent directors and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors. The written terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are available for inspection on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

No Nomination Committee meeting during the Reporting Period.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
diversity policy, details of which will be set out in the section
headed “Board Diversity Policy”.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence (for
appointment of independent non-executive Directors), and
Board diversity aspects, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

ESG COMMITTEE

The Company has established the ESG Committee of the Board.
The ESG Committee comprises three members, including two
Executive Directors, Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS (chairman) and
Mr. Yang Ku, and one Independent Non-executive Director, Mr. LI
Shengli.

The primary duties of the ESG Committee are to formulate and
review the vision, objectives, strategies, management structure,
policies, risk profile and KPIs relating to Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”), to review the main trends in ESG, identify
the risks and opportunities related to ESG, review the Company’s
annual ESG report to ensure compliance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules and to report to the Board on the foregoing.
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No ESG Committee meeting during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The
Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors, which include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’'s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AN\ iz g
EREBHRE

RBREPELEBMESGEEEEE -

EERRAE

%%@EEE”@%E/u?/ﬁ'J?E\'Jﬂ%‘X A2 115#
S EERBAE © BARAMEEERATEEN
SREML He%:

(a) BIE R AR RN EEERBERTR
WHRESSIRLES

(b) RBRAREREERGREEENEILFE
BEHR

(c) RARERARREETEREEEELRS
T B BRSO
(d)  #HIE - %ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ%#ﬁiﬁ§$mﬁﬁ

STRIMA R T ()

() MAARFAETEEEARTAREEE AR
ERNREBR



132

AustAsia Group Ltd.
MEEEARARA

Corporate Governance Report
SEERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company has established risk management systems
consisting of appropriate policies and procedures, and we
continue to improve these systems. The Company has adopted,
among other things, the following risk management measures:

(i) The Board is responsible for monitoring our internal control
system, reviewing its effectiveness, and maintaining the
Company’s risk at an appropriate and effective level. A
review of the Group's risk management and internal control
system has been conducted and will be conducted at least
annually, which will include a review of all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls;

(i) The audit department is responsible for the evaluation of
the risks faced by the Company on an annual basis, and
prepares a risk assessment report based on the evaluation
results and submits it to the audit committee and the Board
for approval;

(iii) All departments are required to proactively identify the
risks they face and various internal and external factors
that affect the occurrence of the risks; and

(iv)  The Company will engage external professional advisors,

where necessary, and work with our internal audit and legal

team to conduct regular review to ensure the effectiveness
of all registrations, licences, permits, filings and approvals.

In preparation for the Listing, the Group engaged an independent
internal control consultant and identified certain deficiencies such
as investment and financing management, contract management
and despatched workers management. The Company had
adopted substantially all of the recommendations made by the
independent internal control consultant and have improved our
internal control system to comply with the Listing Rules.

Post listing, AC reviewed and reported to the Board on the
effectiveness of internal control and risk management system
of the Group and the Board is of the view that such system is
effective and adequate.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering that would have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Prevention of Corruption
Act of Singapore and the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted Whistleblowing policy to enable
employees, customers and suppliers to raise their concerns about
any possible impropriety in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters within the Group in confidence, and to ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action. The whistleblowing system is available (“Whistleblowing”
under “Corporate Governance” of the “Investors” section
of www.austasiadairy.com) with various channels (i.e. mail,
dedicated hotline or online platform). The outcome of any
investigation and follow-up action of all legitimate allegations will
be reported to AC by Internal Audit department.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The total fee paid/payable to the external auditors of the Company
US$1,598,000 in respect of audit services and non-audit services
for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

Categories of the services
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards and
for timely financial disclosures under the Listing Rules and any
other regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 138 to 144 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chua Sook Ping Christina (2J83¥) and Ms. Cheng Sai
Hong (#%&JEl) have been appointed as the Singapore company
secretary of the Company. Ms. Ho Wing Nga has been appointed
as the Hong Kong secretary of the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of both
Singapore secretaries and Hong Kong secretary on corporate
governance and board practices and matters. Ms. Cheng is the
primary corporate contact person of the Directors.

Company Secretaries generally keep themselves updated on
new laws and regulations. During the year ended 31 December
2022, each of the Company Secretaries received no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training to refresh their skills and
knowledge.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code provides that the issuer
should have a policy on payment of dividends and should
disclose such policy in the annual report. The Company does not
have any dividend policy. Any declaration and payment as well as
the amount of dividends will be subject to the Constitution of the
Company and the Singapore Companies Act. The declaration and
payment of any dividends in the future will be determined by our
Board of Directors, in its discretion, and will depend on a number
of factors, including our results of operations, cash flows, financial
condition, operating and capital expenditure requirements. In
addition, our shareholders in a general meeting may approve
any declaration of dividends, which must not exceed the amount
recommended by our Board. Under the Singapore Companies
Act, a Singapore company may only pay a dividend out of profits.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The general meeting (the “GM”) provides opportunities for
communication between the Company and the Shareholders.
There is no public general meeting held post the Company’s
listing on 30 December 2022.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website at www.austasiadairy.com, where information and updates
on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access.

The Board considers the communication with shareholders is
effective during the Reporting Period.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Constitution, an extraordinary general meeting
shall be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than 10
per cent. (10%) of the total number of paid-up Shares (excluding
Treasury Shares) carry the right to vote at general meetings of
the Company. Such requisition must state the objects of the
meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company. If within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the Members’ requisition duly proceed to
convene a general meeting, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionists, may themselves, convene a
general meeting, but any meeting so convened in the same
manner as nearly as possible as that in which general meetings
are to be convened by Directors.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director

Shareholders who wish to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director, Shareholders may lodge a
written notice Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong with the Company in accordance with the “Procedures
For Shareholders To Propose Persons For Election As Directors”
published by the Company on its website at www.austasiadairy.
com from time to time.
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Procedure in relation to raising enquiry and concerns

Shareholders of the Company wishing to make any enquiry to
the Board may do so in writing to the Company since verbal
or anonymous ones would not generally be dealt with by the
Company.

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the registered
office of the Company at 400 Orchard Road, #15-08, Orchard
Towers, Singapore 238875, by mail, telephone (+65 65019171) or
e-mail (investor@austasiadairy.com).

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted Constitution on 11 November 2022. From
the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, there is no
change to the Constitution.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the members of AustAsia Group Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AustAsia
Group Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 145 to 282, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HEEER

BEESEE(H)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEANFSWNAEERREENSE

Valuation of biological assets

EWEELIEE

The Group’s biological assets, including dairy cows, beef
cattle and forage plants, are measured at fair value less
cost to sell at the end of each reporting period. As at 31
December 2022, the carrying amount of biological assets
was US$550,004,000.

SEEEMEE (BEDF - RERERED) AR HREHR
AR BEBEEKRATE - R2022F12A318 - £MEE
#)BRFI{B A550,004,000% 7T °

We considered the valuation of biological assets as a
key audit matter because (i) the carrying amount of such
biological assets accounted for approximately 36% of the
total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2022; and (ii)
significant judgements and assumptions were involved in
management’s assessment, such as the discount rate, the
estimated future market prices of raw milk and beef cattle,
the estimated average daily milk yield and the estimated
feeding costs. Management has engaged an independent
external valuer to assist the Group in the valuation of the
biological assets.
BHPRREMEENGEBRBRETFERE  THR)ZEE
MEEMEEENL B5ENR2022F12 A1 BEELENLD
36% : K(ii)EREF LS R EXRAERBE - fINEERE
MERAFOEFTRRTSHERS  B5tEEFHEDNSE R
FARKE  c EREEEZE BB LIINDEEMGE) BS5EEH
EYEEETRE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 21 and
40 to the consolidated financial statements.

BREBIHNGEVERRWE2.4  Hizt21 KHIzE40 o

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of biological
assets included:

B AEMEENBEETHRTFERE

(1)

Understanding, evaluating and testing the
Group’s internal controls on the determination of
the fair value of biological assets;

TE SRS EREETEVMEELAEE
B PO ERESSE

Evaluating the competency, objectivity and
capability of the independent external valuer;

HEBIL N ER AR MBS ERE ) - BB RAED ¢

Evaluating the valuation methodologies and
key assumptions such as discount rate, the
estimated future market prices of raw milk and
beef cattle, the estimated average daily milk
yield and the estimated feeding costs with the
assistance of our internal valuation experts; and
MR EZE R B TR ETE R EREBR
BIanBRIR = - 4 R A B R R RIS B -
SEETFHENS REFTEKAE &

Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures.

FHAERBENTED M



Annual Report 2022
—BoCEER

Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group'’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yin Guo Wei.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

1 March 2023

BREMHETREMBHRRAENEME (F)

HREAZEGEBENEETD  HMIREWLSEIA
HAMGAVBRRNEARASER - AMBENXEH
REFFE - RMOEZBMRE Rl ELEE -
BRIFARIERTAFARBRBEELER  ER
IHERMBERT  MRSEFEHERMBREPED
RERERNAERRBBELENRIRME - M
RRTEEREPHMZEE -

HARBY ZBERENETHEABARKEE -

RXEEHENEIAT
S E 4]
'R

202343 HA1H



Annual Report 2022
—BoCEER

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEER

Year ended 31 December 2022

HE2022F12A31 B IEFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes USD’000 UsSD’000
i3 SFESTE FET

REVENUE PN () 562,786 521,921
Cost of sales HEXAK (560,695) (519,384)
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw FEWRERR AR EBEREEK

milk at fair value less costs to sell R HERFRNEER

at the point of harvest gz 21 124,786 153,770
Gains arising from changes in fair RERF QR BEBHEEXKR

value less cost to sell of beef cattle FEr 21 3,796 19,590
Gross profit EF 130,673 175,897
Other income and gains E bl A B 5 7,441 13,968
Losses arising from changes in fair value REAEMEMEELARBER

less costs to sell of other biological assets SHEAE B A EE 21 (23,409) (11,316)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (429) (540)
Administrative expenses TBAX (49,495) (43,028)
Impairment losses on financial assets TREEREBRE - (4,900)
Other expenses HEMAX 6 (6,811) (1,440)
Finance costs BMEXA 8 (32,527) (21,635)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX HLATF A 7 25,443 107,006
Income tax expense FRAS BRI 2 11 (2,049) (2,434)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFHE 23,394 104,572
Attributable to: AT AL :

Owners of the parent ISTNEIEZ YN 23,394 104,572
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes USD’000 UsD’000
i3 e FET
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE SERSARZEREREE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS ANEREF
OF THE PARENT 13
Basic AR
— For profit for the year — FERFE USDO0.04 UsDO0.17
(Restated)
0.04% T 0.173%7T
(&E5))
Diluted B
— For profit for the year — FAFE USDO0.04 UsDO.17
(Restated)
0.04% 7T 0.17% 7T

(&==5)
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12A31BILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FEx
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 23,394 104,572
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME Hit 2 (F8), Yo
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that REERRETEET D EE B
may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent EVEAM 2 E (F1E), ki
periods
Exchange differences T
Exchange differences on translation of HINETS I E N E R
foreign operations (70,895) 17,238
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that R BB EET D EEER
may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent EYEAM 2 M (E1E) Wz F 58
periods (70,895) 17,238
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not be REEHM TS EFHHEEER
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: HEMEEUE (EI8) :
Equity investment designated at fair value through 3 EANUAAEEFEREEH)
other comprehensive income: AR AR A RIERE
Changes in fair value NAEEZES 406 (417)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not REEB A EHHEEIEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent MmEMEEWRES (EIE) FHE
periods 406 (417)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FREMRE (FE) W B
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX Bi# (70,489) 16,821
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME ERNEE (FE)WBEAE
FOR THE YEAR (47,095) 121,393
Attributable to: LA AT FEM -
Owners of the parent BRAREAR A (47,095) 121,393
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e M BARRR

31 December 2022
2022% 12 A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes USD’000 USD’000
k3 FEx FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BB RFZE 15 455,906 416,358
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16(a) 194,744 161,201
Intangible assets BmEE 17 474 780
Biological assets EMEE 21 495,404 477,697
BERUARBEFEEEE
Equity investment designated at fair value gt AH M2 mE RS AI IR
through other comprehensive income R E 14 1,222 816
Other long-term assets HEmRHAEE 18 9,559 8,071
Long-term receivable KEIFE WA 19 12,203 11,855
Total non-current assets IEMBEELRE 1,169,512 1,076,778
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories T8 20 187,254 160,665
Biological assets EYAEE 21 54,600 49217
Trade receivables RS FR T8 22 50,392 46,600
Prepayments, other receivables and other TERIE « b ERGRIERE
assets & E 23 22,385 18,727
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 24 57,138 22,145
Pledged deposits EHEMFR 24 860 1,103
Total current assets MENEERE 372,629 298,457
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables iANEE 25 151,954 79,640
Other payables and accruals HEMpE RN ERTIE B 26 68,546 38,410
Share-based payment liability ARAD BERE IR AE 27 - 4,587
Loans from a former shareholder R E K 28 - 6,300
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT EERITIEK 29 124,644 65,556
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) 10,870 5,451
Deferred income IEFEWA 689 1,596
Tax payable FEARTR K 583 1,077
Total current liabilities MBI ERRE 357,286 202,617
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31 December 2022

2022F12H31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes USD’000 USD’000
it FEx FE
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFRE 15,343 95,840
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEZLERABER 1,184,855 1,172,618
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBAE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ETERITIER 29 187,282 202,422
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEE 30 600 600
Deferred income PEIEWA 2,761 3,423
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) 180,171 145,705
Other payables and accruals HEM e RIE N ERTIER 26 13,737 15,036
Loans from a former shareholder EIEE N6 28 - 19,240
Total non-current liabilities ERB B ERE 384,551 386,426
Net assets BEFE 800,304 786,192
EQUITY Ea
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BAREE AEGESR
Share capital A% 31 385,992 308,502
Reserves 1 33 414,312 477,690
Total equity Rt EE 800,304 786,192

TAN Yong Nang
BReR
Director

EF

Edgar Dowse COLLINS
Edgar Dowse COLLINS

Director

EZF
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mEERSER
Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARREARE
Fair value
reserve
of financial
assets
at fair value
Foreign through
Share currency other
Share option  Statutory translation comprehensive Merger  Retained Total
capital reserve  reserve  reserve income  reserve profits equity
NRREETE
BEZHHA
B 2EREN
SHEENAR
k& ERERE iERE NEAERE EERE AEE HFNE  BREE
UsD’000 USD'000  USD'000  USD’000 USD’'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD’000
TEn i Tin Tin Tin Tin iR Tin
Note  (Note 31)  (Notes 32,33)  (Note 33)  (Note 33) (Note 33)  (Note 33)
W (WE31)  (Wids2-33)  (HH33)  (KEw) (fiit3s)  (H#233)
At 1 January 2022 Ho022%1A1R 308,502 1812 71948 23101 (6715  (8409) 379,648 786,192
Profit for the year ERTE - - - - - - Bl 233
Other comprehensive EREtaEdE/(F8):
income/(loss) for the year:
Change in fair value of equity ~ WAREEEBEBBIAL RS
investment at fair value through  EREHREREHAL BEE
other comprehensive income, &+ Bt
net of tax - - - - 406 - - 406
Exchange differences related to EANEBABNERZE
foreign operations - - - (70,895) - - - (70,89)
Total comprehensive income  FAZENGLE
for the year - - - (108%) 406 - Bl (47,00)
Equity-settled share option NEREENRRER S
arrangements ¥ - 12,814 - - - - - 12,814
Issuance of shares upon listing ~ REBBRFT LR ETRG
on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange 25,210 = = = = = = 25,210
Issuance of shares pursuantto  BIEEREERTRG
share option scheme 29,097 (29,097) - - - - - -
Capitalisation of listing expenses A7t LA (2,357) - - - - - - (2,357)
Transfer from loans from a former  EEERIRE S
shareholder 25,540 - - - - - - 25,540
Transfer to statutory reserve BRTATEE - - 6,343 - - - (6,343) -
At 31 Decertber 2022 K022 12A31R 385,092 1830 78286 (47,794) (6309)  (8409) 396,699 800,304
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Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022F 12 A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRFEEARLE

Fair value

reserve

of financial

assets

at fair value

Foreign through

Share currency other
Share option  Statutory  translation  comprehensive Merger  Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve income reserve profits equity

K7 BEHE

BERHA

R 2EhEY

THAEN
RE  BRERE TERS SMAERE OARERE  AHBR  ERNE  BaeE
USD00D  USDOO0  USD'000  USD'000 USDI000  USD'000  USDI00D  USD'000
AE Tt TERr TR E- 2T PR T &7/

Note  (Note 31)  (Notes 32.33)  (Note 33)  (Note 33) (Note 33)  (Note 33)
BE (s (Wi %) (WE3B) (WER) W3s) (i)
At 1 January 2021 20211818 308,502 499 54,373 5,863 (6,298) (8,409) 292,646 651,669
Profit for the year ERiAE - - - - - - 104572 104572
Other comprehensive EREp2ENE/ (BR) -
incomef(loss) for the year:
Change in fair value of equity ~ WAZBEEBERBIAL RS
investment at fair value ANEHRERENLABES
through other comprehensive ) » Btk
income, net of tax - - - - (H7) - - (M7)
Exchange differences related to BN EHAEAEL2E
foreign operations - - - 17,238 - - - 17,238
Total comprenensive income  ER2EWHAE
for the year - - - 17238 (417) - 0452 121398
Equity-settled share option NEREENRRER
arrangements 32 = 13,130 = = = = = 13,130
Transfer to statutory reserve  EAZERERE - - 7810 - - - (17570) -

At 31 December 2021 20215128318

308,502 18,122 71,943 23,101 (6,715) (8409) 379,648 786,192
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SPAN 2= B
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Year ended 31 December 2022
HE20226F12A31 B ILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes uUsSD’000 USD’000
Mt et FE FEr
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KRETHRMEHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax i A 25,443 107,006
Adjustments for: AT BIHAE -
Impairment of long-term receivable = B FE WK IE R (B 19 - 4,900
Gain from bargain purchase HEES K= 5 - (7,163)
Provision/(reversal of allowance) HE (BL) REFSEE
for inventory obsolescence 497 (5)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 7 356 345
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - B RERETE
equipment 7 21,469 18,692
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 7 3,241 2,828
Loss on modification of leases ERFEEEE 6 2,091 =
Net loss/(gain) from changes in EMBEERARBEE
fair value of biological assets B8 (Wes) F58 21 22,744 (8,846)
Net loss on derivative financial instruments {74 €@ T AEEF58 6 - 63
Finance costs BMEKAK 8 32,527 21,635
Interest income FLEWA (348) (348)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEYE  BEMZEEEN
plant and equipment E518 6 930 833
Share-based payments LARR 7 = B &Y 1< 3K 12,814 14,205
Unrealised foreign currency loss REIRHINE 518 - 51
Operating cash flows before changes in LBACRYANLEREN
working capital = 121,764 154,196
Increase in inventories FEEM (37,885) (48,665)
Increase in trade receivables and FEWGRIE R TR FRIE - EfhpE
prepayments, other receivables and Wk TE R H 8 EE 1 AN
other assets (12,376) (17,598)
Increase in trade payables and other JRE A= R TE DA K2 EL At A< R TE K2
payables and accruals FEFTIE B 1N 92,570 26,831
(Decrease)/increase in deferred income B A CRiA) /18 (1,569) 1,271
Cash flows generated from operations KEEENESRE 162,504 116,035
Income tax paid B ETS (1,754) (1,241)
Net cash flows from operating activities KRB MRS REFE 160,750 114,794
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTmER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HE2022F12 A31BILEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes uUsSD’000 USD’000
Mt et FE FEr
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ®REZHFFABRERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEMXE  BERKHEIEE

equipment (92,412) (68,343)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, LEWE - BE K

plant and equipment BB EB FBEIA 709 689
Proceeds from disposal of biological assets HEEMEEMSRIE 94,959 92,030
Additions to intangible assets RNEEBVEE (109) (293)
Purchase capitalisation of biological assets BEENMLAEMEE (170,683) (132,745)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — KK B AR - (115,500)
New pledged deposits it 2 IR F R (40) (4)
Decrease in pledged deposits [REEEEEER O A 283 523
Net cash flows used in investing activities REESMARSREFHE (167,293) (223,643)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ®EEFHFESRELRE
Proceeds from issuance of new shares BT D TSR 25,210 =
Payments of listing expenses MR RIA (2,236) =
Loss on derivative financial instruments PTESBMTAEBE = (4,058)
Interest paid EARALE 34 (21,877) (13,932)
Principal portion of lease payments HMERNFKOREE D 16 (21,653) (14,379)
Repayment of interest-bearing bank borrowings {E&5F BIRITER (98,651) (147,432)
New interest-bearing bank borrowings FrEET BARITIER 163,746 267,357
Net cash flows from financing activities BB ESAERSREFHE 44,539 87,556
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND HERBSSE WM,

CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) B8 37,996 (21,293)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net HNEEREBHTE - FHE (3,003) 121
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#1IR 4 KIESEEY 22,145 43,317
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRREERBLEEY 24 57,138 22,145
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH BE&RB &L BWEKRD T

EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balance B MIRTTAE 64 57,998 23,248
Pledged deposits [z iER 24 (860) (1,103)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RenEXRMEARE K

statements of cash flows HeZEEY 24 57,138 22,145
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31 December 2022
202212 A31H

le CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

AustAsia Group Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. The
registered office of the Company is located at 400 Orchard
Road, Singapore 238875. The Company completed its
initial public offering and was listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”)
(stock code: 2425.HK) on 30 December 2022. The
principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the production
and sales of raw milk, sales of beef cattle and sales of milk

products in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

In the opinion of the directors, before 30 December 2022,
the immediate holding company of the Company was Japfa
Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled
in Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited, and the ultimate holding
companies of the Company were Rangi Management
Limited and Fusion Investment Holdings Limited, both of
which are incorporated and domiciled in the British Virgin
Islands. Since 30 December 2022, the Company has
ceased to be a subsidiary of Japfa Ltd. However, there
is no change in controlling shareholders of the Company
comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa,
the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee
of the Scuderia Trust), Magnus Nominees Limited, Fidelis
Nominees Limited, Fusion Investment Holdings Limited,
Rangi Management Limited, Tasburgh Limited and Tallowe

Services Inc (together, the “Controlling Shareholders”).

AAREBER

AustAsia Group Ltd. ([ARRH]) B—FKRR
TN M L AR I AR AR
EERA c AT FEMBPFFERLLRN 400
Orchard Road, Singapore 238875 °
202212300 * ARABIE R ERAFH
BEWREBBARIMBERAR ([BR
BT 1) FR B (RADRSR : 2425.HK) < KA
ANEEEHRIEEER  AMBAREE
FEREARKEME ([P RERBNNE
EREE  AFHEMNARREE -

E=ERAE - N2022F12A30858 0 AR
HEZEZERQ R AESE (— KRN
AL AFT I AR - BEFINERESFZ
SERATB ETHEREERR) » MAR
AR KR AR BRangi Management
Limited R B &R BEIERER A A (IRERE
HRRHEFMAN LA EEBERRHE R
E#) - B2022F 12 A30A# + AQ AR
BAEZENMBARF - AM - AR RIERE
R EE A S E) - HeFERenaldo Santosa
%t4 - Gabriella Santosaz & * Scuderia
Trust » Highvern Trustees Limited ({E
AScuderia TrustB)27EA) * Magnus
Nominees Limited * Fidelis Nominees
Limited * AR EZERBRAA - Rangi
Management Limited * Tasburgh Limited
N Tallowe Services Inc (85 [
B)o
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(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

INFORMATION 1.

Annual Report 2022
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Notes to Financial Statements
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RAREEER (&)

FRMBARNER

31 December 2022

2022F12H31H

ARREZMBERROFAERBRIINT

follows:
Percentage of equity
Place of attributable to the
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered FAATREERES DL
Name business share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
MR ERR BRTLER
£ EEWE TR A H# BE FEEH
Dongying AustAsia Modern Dairy Shandong, PRC USD35,000,000 - 100  Production and sales
Farm Co., Ltd IR 35,000,000% 7T of raw milk
ERGEAYUSERATR RREEREE
Taian AustAsia Modern Dairy Farm  Shandong, PRC USD30,000,000 - 100  Production and sales
Co., Lid REILR 30,000,000% T of raw milk
RLRTRRMEGER LA BRI EERHE
Dongying Xianhe AustAsia Modern  Shandong, PRC USD25,000,000 - 100  Production and sales
Dairy Farm Co., Ltd REIILER 25,000,000% 7T of raw milk
RENTRERRISER DA REN 4B R HE
Dongying Shenzhou AustAsia Shandong, PRC USD40,000,000 - 100  Production and sales
Modern Dairy Farm Co., Ltd FEILER 40,000,000% T of raw milk
RE®WMNATHRHIGER LT FRRNEERHE
Dongying AustAsia Beef Co., Ltd Shandong, PRC USD26,430,000 - 100  Production and sales
RERTATEERRAA HRELER 26,430,000% 7T of beef cattle
NEEEREE
Shanghai AustAsia Food Co., Ltd Shanghai, PRC USD3,000,000 - 100  Trading, wholesale
FERERRERAE FE 3,000,000 7T and distribution of

milk products
ABRES  HER
73
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le CORPORATE AND GROUP

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

INFORMATION 1.

AR REEER (F)

FRNBARNESR (F)

Percentage of equity

Place of attributable to the
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered AAFEERERSL
Name business share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
AL ERR BRTLER
8 EEWY AR H# B FEEH
AlH2 Pte. Ltd. Singapore USD127,927,000 100 - Investment holding
AIH2 Pte. Ltd EIIB 127,927,000% T REER
Chifeng AustAsia Modern Dairy Inner Mongolia, PRC USD85,600,000 - 100  Production and sales
Farm Co., Ltd REIARE 85,600,000% T of raw milk and
RERGRABSERAR beef cattle
FRENRAGEER
HE
Falcon Dairy Holdings Limited Hong Kong USD240,100,000 100 - Investment holding
Falcon Dairy Holdings Limited e 240,100,000% 7T REER
Pure Source Dairy Farm Co., Ltd Shandong, PRC USD187,000,000 - 100  Production and sales
ERSER AR REILER 187,000,0005 7T of raw milk
RENEERHE
Shandong AustAsia Feed Shandong, PRC USD12,000,000 - 100  Production and sales

Technology Co., Ltd
R RD AR BHRERA A

The English names of the companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by management of the
Company in directly translating the Chinese names of these
companies as no English names have been registered.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group.

RELR

12,000,000% 7T

of feeding additives

FRORIEIEER RS

ZEPERARNRANEEAAAREEESR
RANENEEBEETXERE  REZH
F B MERE T REHE o

EERB ERVNBTIBREAFERE
SENAEEFEET RO NARANE

A7
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), which comprise all standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”), and International Accounting
Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Committee that remain in effect, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for biological assets and
equity investment designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in United
States Dollars (‘USD”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

2.1

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

mREE

ZEMBHRRDIRBE(ERM GRS ER)
e BEREREKERETEIEES ([E
et AR Eg ) fENMAERIKRE
B REReENZESHENDERZ
REtEARENREZEG RE &
BAREHRARBECRBED) HRER
o REWBRROCBELRFERE - F
URARBEAENENEEREERSUAA
EBEELEEHH AR 2 E KSR
RERIN - ZREFBRRTIAZT (X))
B AMEARFHENBEREANTM
(BRIERBEHRA) ©

REVBEBRREEBEARAREMB AR (5
BAIANEE|) HE2022F12A31BILEE
IS mE - WBRARIEARA B EERHER
FINERE(BEAREEE) EAEERE2
MR E TN EB MBS G RES
W WEESMMmBEE IR E FE D (AR
FTAREBBRBEENAIIEEHIEEHERED
IR HER) B2 SRR - AERSEH
T o
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21

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

2.1

fRBLELE ()
mER%E (H)

R—RIBER TFES BURZ R RIE S
ZHETE - WMARPERIEREER LRER
BEHREHORRRIBLERN - BIARKE
RAGERTHAHRRETNENE - &
ERFMERABFEERER - B -

(a) BERBRETNEMREREFEAGRL
B RIRHE

(b) EHBENTBMELNEN @ K

(c) AKENREENBERSRE -

B B8 2 B O B 75 #R 3% T B4 B AN X B 4E R A R
THRA-BNGHRERRE - HEARN
EEBASEBUSERIE BRSO - Wk
BaTEEZENEE LR -

BakEt2EKRENSEAKD FBR
REBMBRAER AR IEZER R - AN
2R S| BRI A i o H R S AL A R o BRARER
BB ARIZANR Z BB AA S EAR
BEEAE  #xm - WA XHERBAERE
KRG Of B A B S

WEERBERBR EXMI=ZBEFTES
BERZELRELEEY  AXEEES
e EERTIDAZEHIRET - HWHEA
FROE A R 2 B A B O S R R I
AEAEBHNIIRRIERRERS -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’'s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Property, Plant and
Equipment.: Proceeds
before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to IFRS 1,
IFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying
IFRS 16, and IAS 41

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to |IAS 37

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Standards
2018-2020

2.1

2.2

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

mBEE ()

REEE (H)

fisl AN 52 [ 25 = ST BT )88 A R B #E Il - RIS 4%
LR (MBRARNEE (BRERE) LA
& ¢ (i) EAIFER R RE 25 ¢ R (i)
FEAREMRFTEER  WHER ()2
HENRAEBE  (HNVEARERENRIAE
8 R(i)AEEF ABRNEABHRRE
Ao ERERNEMEEPERERNAEBEE
BEfD - DIRBAKREERHERBEESL
BERARENEREE  EEENBERT
BN RERRKEEFNE -

B RERRESH

AEBRAFENMIERER B RRAATE
ERT CBIFR B A5 3 5 2 A1) ©

(B M mE ) HELRIER e
3 (EFTA)

(B EHER]) VFE - BERRE -

F165% (BT A) TEREE 2 BT Y
Va2
(ERR &R ERIEAR# —
375 (BFTA) BRI

(EIE A iR 522 R )Y (BB BT R 3R S 2R )
2018FZ2020F  FH15 - (BRI
BRI F R EYERINYF5R -

CEIRR BT IS 3R
ZEBI|) 55 16 57 BE T
2 &5 &

(R ET2R])
B4R (BETA)
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2.2

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a
reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued
in March 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to IFRS
3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability.
The exception specifies that, for liabilities and
contingent liabilities that would be within the
scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should
refer to IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively instead
of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively
to business combinations that occurred on or
after 1 January 2022. As there were no business
combinations that occurred during the year, the
amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to |IAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from
selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by IAS 2 /nventories, in profit or
loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after 1
January 2021. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property, plant and equipment
being available for use, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

22 EHBERREESE ()

TS SR At PR AR SR B O AR S AT C BB B 7
BELDNMERTE

(a)

CEIBRBF TS RS 2ERI) 358 (185 A)
LA20184 3 A &M A B & iE
R(IBER] 2RABRAKR LRI
BIREGRR ZFINEZRZ FEH - i
REAMBEER - ZFETANAE
(BB ISR 2ERI)) B 39738 INFERR
[REIEBISN  BREA2EHSIELE
TEEXEBNBRESE - ZHIIME
HAETE  HBR(ER ST EA)SE
7B BB REREEESH
IMBEANBERKBAE WX
CAEBERELEMERERS P
EE EACEBEHBREER)FES
SRR E RS IR (B R 2R
EITHBER B REREZESSE
215% + MIEBESAELE - o) ZEE
AIREERBEERKERRTFE
ERER - AEBRIE K ZEE
AIARNFERR2022F 1 A1 HR 2 %%
EMEBEH - ARFRIWMBELZE
BEM  BZFEITAEAEEN
AR M RIBW EE A (E A5 -

(EBEgHEA)FE165% (BT 4A) 2
IEEERYE  BERZEEE KA
RIBREEEEEEETEH A FH
REE (BB EEEE) BRERLE
BEAEENEMABRE - AR
HEEABHETMABERNAMER
BRBE(EBRSHEN E2HEFEE
EEMNAMRIERMRATT AR - K
EEDE2021F1 F1B S 2B A
FEANYE  BERZEERBE
AZEETA - HREDE - BE &
SR AETE B AT R AT A A AT
EIEE AZEEITALRERE
BRI RRIBEE A FE -
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c)

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
IAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly
to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the
contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and
no onerous contracts were identified. Therefore,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the
amendments that is applicable to the Group are as
follows:

° IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the
fees that an entity includes when assessing
whether the terms of a new or modified
financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received
by either the borrower or lender on the
other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from 1 January
2022. As there was no modification or
exchange of the Group's financial liabilities
during the year, the amendment did not
have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

22 ENBERRERESE (H)

(c)

(BBt ER ) E 375 (BRI A) &
B SRR (B & ET £ R ) £ 375
FEANEEBERIEMS - BITA
MK ABIEEE N BERBENK
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ME - WE &R EEEOITERA
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B BLA W30 IR R - BRIER
BEANPAEAEFIRERER - T
TEEEAR - AEBHR202241 A
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17
Amendment to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2
Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts'

Insurance Contracts'*

Initial Application of
IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 —
Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)?

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single

Transaction’

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17

issued in June 2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend
the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply
IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning

before 1 January 2023

5 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option
relating to the classification overlay set out in this
amendment shall apply it on initial application of IFRS

17

2.3
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, in particular the
determination over whether an entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected
by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a
liability. In 2022, the IASB issued the 2022 Amendments to
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
In addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional
disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising
from loan arrangements as non-current when it has a right
to defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject
to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. Amendments to IFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2
is non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments
is not necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the
accounting policy disclosures to ensure consistency with
the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs
to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur
on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised

in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments,
biological assets and equity investment designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, biological assets and equity
investment), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the assets
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

or

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;
and the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

4.5%-5%

9%-10%
18%-20%
18%-20%

Buildings and site facilities
Machinery and equipment

Office furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant

asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed

and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at

least at each financial year end.

Software

Software is acquired separately and is amortised on a

straight-line basis over its finite useful life of 5 years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Biological assets

Biological assets are measured on initial recognition and
at the end of the reporting period at their fair values less
costs to sell, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the period in
which it arises. Biological assets comprise dairy cows, beef
cattle and forage plants.

Dairy cows and beef cattle

Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves,
and beef cattle are measured on initial recognition and at
the end of each reporting period at their fair values less
costs to sell, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the period
in which it arises. Costs to sell are the incremental costs
directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, mainly
transportation costs excluding finance costs and income
taxes.

The fair value is determined based on their present
location and condition and is determined independently
by professional valuers. The fair value of heifers and
calves and beef cattle for which there are active markets
is determined by reference to the quoted market prices.
For milkable cows for which there is no active market, fair
value is determined by valuation techniques, for example,
discounted cash flow techniques.

The feeding costs and other related costs including
the depreciation charge, utility costs and consumables
incurred for the raising of heifers and calves are
capitalised, until such time as the heifers and calves begin
to produce milk.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Biological assets (continued)
Forage plants

The immature corn and sorghum plantation costs consist
of field preparation, planting, fertilising and maintenance
and an allocation of other related cost. In general, a corn
plantation and a sorghum plantation take about six months
to reach maturity from the time when the seedings are
planted.

Plantations in initial stages of growth are stated at cost as
market-determined prices or values are not available.

Plantations close to harvest and the harvested products
of the Group’s wet corn and sorghum are measured at fair
value less estimated point-of-sale costs. The fair value is
determined based on the actual selling prices in the local
market at the point of harvest less estimated point-of-sale
costs.

Gains or losses arising on initial recognition of plantations
at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs and the
change in fair value less costs to sell of plantations at each
reporting date are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Upon harvest, the forage plants are transferred to
inventories for feeding the dairy cows and beef cattle.

Agricultural produce

Agricultural produce represents raw milk harvested from
the Group’s biological assets. Raw milk is recognised at
the point of harvest at its fair value less costs to sell. A
gain or loss arising from agricultural produce at the point
of harvest measuring at fair value less costs to sell is
included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments

of-use assets are measured at cost,

made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Buildings and site facilities

3 to 50 years
2 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment and
laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS
15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investment)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investment as equity investment
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under IAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investment designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and accruals, derivative financial instruments and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such
as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps,
to hedge its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk,
respectively. Such derivative financial instruments are
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets
when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the
fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments are classified as current or non-
current or separated into current and non-current portions
based on an assessment of the facts and circumstances
(i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows). Where the
Group expects to hold a derivative as an economic hedge
(and does not apply hedge accounting) for a period
beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting period,
the derivative is classified as non-current (or separated
into current and non-current portions) consistently with the
classification of the underlying item.

Inventories

Inventories mainly include raw materials, low-value
consumables and finished goods. Inventories are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within six
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in

which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received, and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Sales of raw milk

Revenue from these sales is recognised when the
goods are delivered to the customer and all criteria
for acceptance have been satisfied.

(b) Sales of beef cattle

Revenue from sales of beef cattle is recognised
when the beef cattle are collected by customers.

(c) Sales of milk products

The Group sells milk products to distributors
and end customers (collectively referred to as
“customers”). Revenue from sales of these products
is recognised when the goods have been delivered
to customers.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates several share-based incentive
plans for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group's operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”) and cash (“cash-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model, further details of
which are given in note 32 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’'s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially
at fair value at the grant date, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the instruments were granted,
further details of which are given in note 32 to the financial
statements. The fair value is expensed over the period
until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding
liability. The cumulative expense recognised for cash-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate
of the number of awards that will ultimately vest. The
liability is measured at the end of each reporting period up
to and including the settlement date, with changes in fair
value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as
defined by the laws of the countries in which it operates. In
particular, the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentages of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. Companies of the Group located in
Singapore and Hong Kong make contributions to the
Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, and the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong,
respectively.

The contributions are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme,
and contributions paid to the defined contribution pension
scheme for an employee are not available to reduce the
Group’s future obligations to such defined contribution
pension plans even if the employee leaves.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in USD, which
is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

translation

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the USD. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into USD at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into USD at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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31 December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether or not to exercise the
option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers
all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for
it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term
if there is a significant event or change in circumstances
that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or
not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate the lease
(e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customisation to the leased asset).

The Group includes the renewal period as part of the
lease term for leases of farmland due to the significance
of these assets to its operations. These leases have a
short non-cancellable period (i.e., three to five years) and
there will be a significant negative effect on production if a
replacement is not readily available.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of fair value of dairy cows and beef cattle

The Group’s dairy cows and beef cattle are measured
at fair value less costs to sell. The fair value of dairy
cows and beef cattle is determined based on either the
market-determined prices as at the end of each reporting
period adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition, cost incurred and expected vyield of
the milk to reflect differences in characteristics and/or
stages of growth of dairy cows; or the present value of
expected net cash flows from the dairy cows and beef
cattle discounted at a current market-determined rate,
when market-determined prices are unavailable. Any
changes in the estimates may affect the fair value of the
dairy cows and beef cattle significantly. The independent
qualified professional valuer and management review the
assumptions and estimates periodically to identify any
significant change in fair value of dairy cows and beef
cattle. Further details are given in note 21 to the financial
statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value of unlisted equity investment

The unlisted equity investment has been valued based on
a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note
40 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the
Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and
size differences. The Group classifies the fair value of the
investment as Level 3. The fair values of the unlisted equity
investment at 31 December 2022 was USD1,222,000 (31
December 2021: USD816,000). Further details are included
in note 14 to the financial statements.

Impairment of long-term receivable

The impairment of long-term receivable was estimated
based on the expected credit loss (‘ECL") assessment
prepared by the Group. The ECL of long-term receivable
was estimated with three parameters, including exposure
at default, probability of default and loss given default
with reference to the historical data of the market of the
debtors’ and industry. The impairment loss on long-term
receivable amounted to USD4,900,000 as at 31 December
2022 (31 December 2021: USD4,900,000). Further details
are included in note 19 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has three reportable operating segments as follows: (1)
raw milk business for the production and sales of raw milk;
(2) beef cattle business for raising and sales of beef cattle;
and (3) ancillary business for sales of milk products and
others.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that other income and expenses, non-lease-related
finance costs from the Group’s financial instruments as
well as head office or corporate administrative expenses
are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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31 December 2022
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Year ended 31 December 2022

INFORMATION 4.

KEHER (&)

HZE2022F12 31 B ILFE

Raw milk Beef cattle Ancillary Total
R SES Hith &5t
USD’000 uUsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000
FET FE FErx F=E
Segment revenue (Note 5) D EBURA (A7:L5)
Sales to external customers  $H& FHNIEER 490,501 55,708 16,577 562,786
Intersegment sales DEEHEE 9,047 - — 9,047
499,548 55,708 16,577 571,833
Elimination of intersegment 5D SRIHE
sales (9,047)
Revenue A 562,786
Segment results DEDEE 91,868 2,621 1,660 96,149
Finance costs (other than BEXAN (TREHRE
interest on lease liabilities) ~ BEMNFIE) (21,841)
Unallocated corporate and KO E KD % RITH
administrative expenses 2 (49,495)
Unallocated other RO BLHYE A R
income and expenses 53 630
Profit before tax LZa:RAIDE 25,443
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31 December 2022
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

REDIER (F)

HZE2021F12A31BIEFE

Raw milk Beef cattle Ancillary Total
[R¥H BEs Hth &5t
USD’000 USD’000 UsSD’000 UsD’000
FET FET FET FEx
Segment revenue (Note 5) D EBURA (A7:L5)
Sales to external customers  $HE FHNIBEF 438,038 50,500 33,383 521,921
Intersegment sales S EBEHEE 21,295 - - 21,295
459,333 50,500 33,383 543,216
Elimination of intersegment  #E#§D SRIHE
sales (21,295)
Revenue N 521,921
Segment results PEBELE 137,574 18,370 1,996 157,940
Finance costs (other than BEXAN (TREHRE
interest on lease liabilities)  BE/FIE) (15,534)
Unallocated corporate and KO E KD E RITH
administrative expenses = (47,928)
Unallocated other income and 7% it 49 £ Uk A &
expenses X 12,528
Profit before tax D IEIbE 107,006

The chief operating decision maker makes decisions
according to operating results of each segment. No
analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities is

presented as the chief operating decision maker does

not regularly review such information for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results are

presented.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(continued)
Other segment information

Year ended 31 December 2022

REsHEH (&)

HZE2022F12A31HILEFE

Raw milk Beef cattle Ancillary Total
R e Hith &5t
USD’000 UsD’000 UsSD’000 UsSD’000
FXx FX7x F=75 F=75
Amounts included in the FFADMEESE
measure of segment results:  HJ& % ¢
Gains arising on initial ERERIRARE
recognition of raw milk at B S E AR H)
fair value less costs to sell WHERIREHNE
at the point of harvest LS oliE 124,786 - - 124,786
Gains arising from changes in KERAF AR EE
fair value less cost to sell of  JEl 45 Ak 48 &
beef cattle o)l - 3,796 - 3,796
Losses arising from changes KRB HEEWEE
in fair value less costs to sell AR BERBEE
of other biological assets A R E 18 22,944 465 = 23,409
Depreciation and amortisation BEZ=IKRAITE
charged to profit or loss R 5 21,825 3,085 156 25,066
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 9,974 710 2 10,686
Selling and distribution HE R HAXZ
expenses - - 429 429
Capital expenditure BEARX 312,013 65,582 15,377 392,972
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. reEoEER (&)
(continued)

Other segment information (continued) HittnBER (&)
Year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F12A31HIEFE
Raw milk Beef cattle Ancillary Total
[R¥H SES Hith a5t
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
FET FET FET FET
Amounts included in the FFADMEESE

measure of segment results: HIBFE :

Gains arising on initial EWERIE AR E
recognition of raw milk at R SHE XA H)
fair value less costs to sell HHERREE
at the point of harvest E R 153,770 = = 153,770

Gains arising from changes in KA A4 R A (BE
fair value less cost to sell of — Jil #4 & Ak AN 2

beef cattle ollig - 19,590 = 19,590
Losses arising from changes REEMAEWEE

in fair value less costs to sell AR EERMBEE

of other biological assets XA B K E 18 10,829 487 = 11,316
Impairment loss on other At FE I BY R

receivables, net EEEFE - - 4,900 4,900
Depreciation and amortisation B BiEHMRAITE

charged to profit or loss 5& 3 19,636 2,036 193 21,865
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 5,366 733 2 6,101
Selling and distribution HERDHEAX

expenses 1 - 539 540

Capital expenditure BARFAX 402,673 41,966 2,253 446,892
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION reEsIER (&)
Geographical information EFE R
(a)  Revenue from external customers (a) HKEINEPE S BIHA
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FEx
Mainland China R 562,786 521,921

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

R AR R THRE PR ED -

(b) Non-current assets (b) FEEEE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
uUsSD’000 USD’000
TE5x FET
Mainland China R B A 1 1,156,087 1,064,107

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

The breakdown of revenue from the major customers
accounting for over 10% of the Group's revenue during the
year is as follows:

LR RBDEEEMNIREEMELED -
TEESMTITANRRERBEE -

FRIEEFHEHR

FR - WRAEREFERAI0%ALHEER
FRRMMT :

2022 2021
20224 20214

USD’000 USD’000

FTEx FET

Customer A ZEA 128,272 142,762
Customer B ZFB 113,483 110,919
Customer C ZFEC 59,272 TEA~
301,027 253,681

*

The corresponding revenue did not account for over

10% of the Group's revenue during the year of 2021.

. 7220214 » HHEWAIL ARG RSB
ABI10% A E ©
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - B AR KSR
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA :
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 UsD’000
FEx FET
Revenue from contracts with customers EEALHOWA
Sales of raw milk REHEHE 490,501 438,038
Sales of beef cattle A4HEE 55,708 50,500
Sales of milk products LB MIEE 16,577 33,383
562,786 521,921
Timing of revenue recognition W N TR I ]
At a point in time R 562,786 521,921
Performance obligations BHEE

The Group sells raw milk to manufacturers of dairy
products, beef cattle to food processing companies and
milk products to cafes and other end customers. For
sales of raw milk and milk products to its customers,
revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
been transferred, being at the point the customer received
the goods and was satisfied with the quality. For sales of
beef cattle to its customers, revenue is recognised upon
the acceptance by customers. Payment of the transaction
price is determined based on market price. The credit
term is normally 30 days from the invoice date for raw milk
customers, it is normally 30 to 45 days from the invoice
date for milk products customers, and no credit is provided
for beef cattle customers.

AEERIAHMBRERHERDY - MRM
T ARSHEEAS - 7 W5EFE A E A 4R o5
FHENER - LRAEFPHE R R
SamE - WAREROE S EEBE (A
EPWABRALHEEENREE) ER -
RAEEFHEEATMS @ WARTFEK
RHER XSHXNERDREMZERE
E o BRENEFPHEER-—RAZERAMR
30K HHMBEFPHEEHN —RAERAH
%30245K » WARMAFTEPIRHEEE -
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WA - Efbl AR W ss (4])

Performance obligations (continued) BREE (&)
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FET FEr

Other income and gains HEaARKE

Gain from bargain purchase HEBBERS - 7,163
Government grants R AT #5 B 2,902 2,847
Insurance claims REBREE 1,550 1,596
Foreign exchange gain, net (Note 7) SNEE W 25558 (122 7) - 822
Technical service fee RTpR 7% & 1,218 776
Interest income B WA 488 611
Scrap sales REmIHE 103 97
Others Hib 1,180 56
Total &t 7,441 13,968

Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation

In most of the sales contracts, the amount of consideration
that the Group has a right to invoice corresponds directly
with the value to the customer of each incremental good
that the Group transfers to the customer. As permitted by
IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied

performance obligations is not disclosed.

TRERNSENEETRTINORZES

EXZEBNHEANT  FAEEARAEER
MEESREAREERREPNSEER
mEBFNEEERYE - RECEETE
REEADFISHEAATE  PEEZFR
ERHNBENEEBETHNRSEBR N THE -

OTHER EXPENSES 6. Hpx
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’'000
FTEx FET
Foreign exchange losses, net (Note 7) SNEE1BIFRE (HE7) 3,273 =
Fair value losses on derivative financial ESBRTIAENAREEEE
instruments - 63
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME - WEREBENEBRE
equipment 930 833
Loss on modification of leases B EEE 2,091 =
Others EAth 517 544
Total &&F 6,811 1,440
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31 December 2022
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7.  BAIRE
AKBHBAFE LG GEA) T

(crediting): THESE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes USD’000 UsSD’000
k3 FTEx FET
Costs of sales of raw milk JREL 80 85 & BAR 490,501 438,038
Costs of sales of beef cattle AR EERK A 55,708 50,500
Costs of sales of milk products FLE BRI ER A 14,486 30,846
Cost of sales HER A 560,695 519,384
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREETE
equipment 5] 37,129 33,406
Less: Capitalised in biological assets il : EXMLEWEE 15,660 14,714
Depreciation charged to profit or loss B E#HIGEITE 21,469 18,692
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 16 14,776 8,299
Less: Capitalised in biological assets & : EARMLAMEE 11,535 5,471
Depreciation charged to profit or loss ~ BIEEINBRAFTE 3,241 2,828
Amortisation of intangible assets EmREERN 17 356 345
Lease payments not included in the RTAHERRFGENHE
measurement of lease liabilities FIA 4,233 1,733
Auditors’ remuneration e e 1,430 750
Losses arising from changes in fair KEHEMEYMEEAREBE
value less costs to sell of other WAHE KA B R EE
biological assets 21 23,409 11,316
Employee benefit expenses (including EE®RAFAX (BREEEK
directors and chief executive's EE{TIRABEM) :
remuneration):
Wages and salaries TERFH& 37,878 33,357
Pension scheme contributions BB ETEIE R 7,444 8,016
Share-based payments expenses VAR A7 B B i O 3R B 2 13,395 16,036
58,717 57,409
Foreign exchange differences, net HNEE 2= 2558 5/6 3,273 (822)
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FINANCE COSTS 8. BE KA

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: RMEKADHTAT :
2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’000 UsSD’000
SFEEm FEr
Interest on bank loans IRITERF B 20,629 13,384
Interest on shareholder’s loans R EKF B 1,551 1,447
Interest on lease liabilities HESERNE 10,686 6,101
Interest on contract liabilities BHEEFE 611 703
33,477 21,635
Less: Interest expense capitalised B BAEFERAX (950) =
32,527 21,635

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9.

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

ESRBSTHRASHH

R EWARA - FBECRFMEDG) E383(1)
(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) R(f)IERIA R A BRI 28 (H
BEEMNSERN) RENAFEEERES
TTERABEVF BN T

2022 2021

2022 20214

USD’000 USD’000

FEx FET

Fees we 9 =

Other emoluments: Hif 4 -

Salaries, pension scheme contributions, 5o - RIAKSE I
housing benefits, other allowances EEBAN - HEaE &

and benefits in kind EWiE 2,492 2,187

Performance-related bonus B 512 612

Share-based payments expenses LARR D BER A H S 12,617 15,026

15,621 17,825
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year, certain directors were granted share
options in respect of their services to the Group under the
share option scheme of the Company, further details of
which are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the
vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive

EERRSITHRAEHM (&)

RAFE  REARBNERETS - 5T
EEMEHAKENRGERBLRE £
FHBHRMBRKRMEI2 - ZEHEREZ
RABEDRELEMEE  YERBED
EHGABEERABR  EXBEERERTR
ANBZHWRBEE RREAFERBHRRTH

(a) BIFBITES
MREFEN FBELIFRTEFHH

directors during the year were as follows: ca NN
2022 2021
20224 20214
uUsD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Chang Pan, Peter ¥ 3 =
Sun, Patrick* FEE 3 =
Li Shengli* R 3 =
9 —
* Sun, Patrick and Li Shengli were appointed on * FEERZBRN2022F12 A5 BEE

5 December 2022. G

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the
year.

RAFE  BIEENTBLFRTEENE
e



9.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S o.

REMUNERATION (continued)

Annual Report 2022
RO CEER

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

ESRRETHRAERHMH ()

(b)  Executive directors and the chief executive (b) HBITEERESITHRAE
2022 20224
Salaries,
allowances Share-based Pension
and benefits  Performance- payments scheme Total
Fees in kind related bonus expenses contributions remuneration
e 2ER DRGARER RS
ik ENER BNRE  WAREX H5% EHE
USD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 USD’000 UsD’000
TER TER TER TER TR TER
Executive directors: B8R
Tan Yong Nang lR&mE - 792 - 5,730 7 6,529
Edgar Dowse Collins Edgar Dowse Collins - 605 166 4,867 - 5,638
Yang Ku BE - 407 346 1,964 - 2,17
Gao Lina BER - 681 - 56 - 737
Non-executive FNITES:
director:
Hirata Toshiyuki FHRET - - - - - -
- 2,485 512 12,617 7 15,621
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 9.

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive
(continued)

EERRSTTHRAEHM (&)

(b) HBITESERESTHAER (&)

2021 20214F
Salaries,
allowances Share-based Pension
and benefits  Performance- payments scheme Total
Fees inkind related bonus expenses  contributions  remuneration
He 2R DROAER  RiketE
fitka ENiEh| Byke  WRRREX # A HH
UsD’oo0 UsD'000 USD'000 USD'000 UsD’000 UsD’000
e A aE FEL TEL e
Executive directors: B8R
Tan Yong Nang &= - 820 = 6,893 = 7,713
Edgar Dowse Collins Edgar Dowse Collins = 637 346 5,827 = 6,810
Yang Ku e - 398 266 2,306 = 2,970
Gao Lina BED = 332 = = = 332
Non-executive FRTES
director:
Hirata Toshiyuki THET - - - - - -
- 2,187 612 15,026 - 17,825

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year.

RAFE  BEEFXARHITRABREE
A HE IR EE o A B AL AT B
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
4 directors (2021: 4), whose emoluments are included in
the disclosure above. Details of the emoluments of the
remaining 1 (2021: 1) individual for the year are as follows:

10.

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

hEBRESHFMES
RERNALEEaTHNEERBE4IRES
(20214 : 4%) - EMle B LTS -
RERNBEREG1SE (20214F : 18) [AAD
BT

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

USD’000 USD’'000

FTEx FE

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e FAREYREF 560 328
Performance-related bonus Erige 252 63
Share-based payments expenses LARR A7 2 R 6 5 2 25 =
837 391

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

FHERATHENIFEERIFRSIITRA
BENREHHMESHAZNT

Number of employees

BE A
2022 2021
2022 20214
Nil to USD1,000,000 £ 7% 1,000,000E 7T 1 1
USD1,000,001 to USD1,500,000 1,000,001 7c £ 1,500,0003% 7T - -
USD1,500,001 to USD2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000% 7T - -
1 1

During the year, share options were granted to the highest
paid employees in respect of their services to the Group,
further details of which are included in note 32 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which
has been recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at
the date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for each reporting period is included in the
above disclosures.

RER HERFMHESERESARKERMKH
ARAG R BB A HE - EFHBE N M MR M
32 - ZEBIRENAABETINEL AHE
E Y EREBHEFSEaRAER - L
XEBEEEESRESHENMBRRPOHE
o
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11. INCOME TAX 11. B#H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Notes UsSD’000 USD’000
et FTT FErx
Current income tax BUERFTIS B
Charge for the year FAM 162 37
TFEREBETR
Under/(over) provision in prior years (B 2 (10)
Foreign withholding tax SNETTEINAR (b) 1,885 1,807
Deferred income tax (Note 30) EIEFTIS B (H73£30) (a) - 600
Total tax charge for the year FRBIBLLTE 2,049 2,434
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit EREEHREBBERARHAIAENTIER
before tax using the statutory rates to the tax expenses per HIRBGREIBRRIEA BB T ENTIEHA
the consolidated statements of profit or loss at the effective THEITHHEENT
tax rate is as follows:
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Notes UsSD’000 UsD’000
HtaE FETT FEr
Profit before tax B AT FE 25,443 107,006
Tax at the statutory rates to profits RETEBRE QR EFAEE
in countries where the company R B EE
operates (c) 6,899 27,022
Income not subject to tax EARTUIA (@) (11,991) (31,228)
Tax losses not recognized RERNTIEEE 59 =
Non-deductible expenses TEHBRMER 5,208 4,435
Tax losses utilised from previous AT EA(E R M B IE 8518
periods (13) (192)
Under/(over) provision of taxation in  AFFIBEET R /(B8
prior years &) 2 (10)
Deferred income tax EREFTIS L (a) - 600
Foreign withholding tax SN TE 05 (b) 1,885 1,807

2,049 2,434
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INCOME TAX (continued)

Notes:

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
recognized withholding tax of USD600,000 in relation to
the dividends declared by its subsidiaries in Mainland
China at a tax rate of 5%.

Foreign withholding tax mainly represents the
withholding enterprise income tax when the subsidiaries
in Mainland China paid the royalty fees to the Company
and the withholding enterprise income tax rate is 10%
during the year (2021: 10%).

The tax charge represents income tax in Mainland
China, Singapore and Hong Kong, which is calculated
at the prevailing tax rate on the taxable income of the
subsidiaries established in these countries and regions.
The statutory tax rates are as follows:

11.

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

Frs®t (&)
HiEE

(a) HZE2021F12A318LFE - A&EE
RERFEAMSNNE LGS IRARK
B 5%/ R T 600,000% T
RIENEL o

(b)  HNETBHIBEZIEHE A RN E A
MAR BB ETRERAERNENL
¥MEH  BRFAMNENCEMSH
HEAH10% (20214 : 10%) °

(c)  BIEERHBBEAM - SR REBRE
EHEH - ZERBARRNZEER
T3[R BRSZ A B A Bl AR B A 9 3R
TIREE  ZEREMAT

2022 2021

2022 20214

Singapore s 17% 17%
Hong Kong B 16.5% 16.5%
Mainland China HR A 25% 25%

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to the law of the
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) at 25%
during the year (2021: 25%). Taxation arising in other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the
relevant jurisdictions. According to the prevailing tax
rules and regulation of the EIT Law, certain subsidiaries
of the Group in the PRC are exempted from enterprise
income tax for taxable profit engaging in the operation
of agricultural business in the PRC for each reporting
period.

(d) REAR PEMBERFAETHE(D
EPTISBUE) K 25% M B X M B (2021
F:25%) REMADEEERELN
PR RBEEEEE ROBR TR X
B REBC(EEMR/RZE)BITHUER
AIRER - ARBERTENEDHER
ARSRENHETEREARERESR
BEEHERRIBRREEMEH
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12.

13.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company to
its ordinary shareholders for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 622,234,810 (2021:
621,807,139) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect
the rights issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the
basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise
or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

12.

13.

E zLJx

B ZE2022F12A31BILFEE - KA RN E
MEZEBRRES MR EIREE (20214F -
M) o

7

FREE
A

BREAEMEAG QLT BEBREREEA
FREMLFERFRNEITHNG22,234,810%
(20214 : 621,807,1390% ) L @AZ HNtEF 5
BUETHE  WARBFAMNRBEITT A

o

BREZSEEABRGESREA

BREEANSRENT AR ERRESER
BARGFEAFNBETHE - HEMAZE
BRI RN T SR EAR R
MEREBTEBREE - INRKRERET
Rk E 0 TR B E B R R B R AR
BRTZEBEINETIHE -

BREARBERNZATEIEFE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
SFESTE FEx
Earnings 2
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AR ESREARRF ZE8A
holders of the parent used in the basic L8 A T—rﬁ/\ﬁgfﬁﬂﬂ
earnings per share calculation 23,394 104,572
Effect of dilution: BESRUE ¢
Share-based payments VAR (7 A E R &9 30 (145) (86)
23,249 104,486
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EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13. BARZEREZIFEEAEGLERZE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT A (&)
(continued)

2022 2021
2022 20214
(Restated)
(g=5)
Shares Bin
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR T ESREARZFNFRE
in issue during the year used in the basic BT L RAR N T
earnings per share calculation 622,234,810 621,807,139
Effect of dilution — weighted average BERMUE — SRR TR
number of ordinary shares:
Share-based payments LARR A A 2 85 3K 1,270,926 1,353,340

623,505,736 623,160,479

EQUITY INVESTMENT DESIGNATED AT FAIR 14. EEAUAAEBEFEEHZEIA

VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hib2EUBEHNRERE
INCOME
2022 2021
2022 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET

Equity investment designated at fair value AU AREEFERE
through other comprehensive income BETTAHMEE RN

RERE
Unlisted equity investment, at fair value AR BETENIEETRERE
Food Union AustAsia Holdings Pte. Ltd. Food Union AustAsia
Holdings Pte. Ltd. 1,222 816
The above equity investment was irrevocably designated HRAEEHFERESTBRERNTE - W
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Hﬁ’r&&ﬁ?&?‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ% ERUAR R EES

Group has no significant influence on the investee. BE#&H AHEMEERE
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRE
Buildings Machinery Office
and site and Motor furniture Construction
facilities equipment vehicles and fixtures in progress Total
BFR WARER
BRE HERRE HDEH EEEE HEIR CHS
UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 USD’000 USD’000
S S S SEYH S S
31 December 2022 2022F 124310
At 1 January 2022 202261 A1H
Cost A 295,483 279,461 4,014 5,948 5,613 590,519
Accumulated depreciation 2HMERRE
and impairment (57,788)  (112,194) (1,173) (3,006) - (174,161)
Net carrying amount FHFE 237,695 167,267 2,841 2,942 5,613 416,358
At 1 January 2022, net of 202251818
accumulated depreciation EHRZTER
and impairment AE 237,695 167,267 2,841 2,942 5,613 416,358
Additions AE 2,638 18,639 1,045 921 92,574 115,817
Disposal HeE (327) (1,239) (34) (39) - (1,639)
Depreciation for the year FNTE (11,596) (24,524) (358) (651) - (37,129)
Transfer Ez b4 10,504 9,792 - 3 (20,299) -
Translation differences TEES (18,195) (16,299) (110) (268) (2,629) (37,501)
At 31 December 2022, net of 122022412 31
accumulated depreciation and B - 2B 257
impairment ERAE 220,719 153,636 3,384 2,908 75,259 455,906
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 /318
Cost A 284,790 277,683 4,652 6,205 75,259 648,589
Accumulated depreciation ZEMERAE
and impairment (64,071)  (124,047) (1,268) (3,297) - (192,683)
Net carrying amount RHFE 220,719 153,636 3,384 2,908 75,259 455,906
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M BERRE (&)

Buildings ~ Machinery Office
and site and Motor furniture ~ Construction
facilities  equipment vehicles  and fixtures in progress Total
BFK BORER
B EEKERE  RBES EERE TEIR G
UsSD’000 UsSD’000 UsSD’000 USD’000 UsSD’000 UsSD’000
FE7 FE FE TET FET FET
31 December 2021 2021%12A31H
At 1 January 2021 202151518
Cost 5% 209,713 217,828 1,752 3,814 1,486 434,593
Accumulated depreciation ZHMELRE
and impairment (45,593) (90,502) (922) (2,324) - (139,341)
Net carrying amount FmFE 164,120 127,326 830 1,490 1,486 295,252
At 1 January 2021, net of ®2021F1 818
accumulated depreciation EMREITER
and impairment HE 164,120 127,326 830 1,490 1,486 295,252
Additions NE 6,858 26,330 455 1,586 29,071 64,300
Additions from business REEBEHNARE
combination 56,839 21,891 1,880 664 2,116 83,390
Disposal e (226) (1,200) (14) (60) (22) (1,522)
Depreciation for the year FAME (11,072) (21,175) (355) (804) = (33,406)
Transfer b 16,448 10,663 = 11 (27,122) =
Translation differences TEZSH 4,728 3,432 45 55 84 8,344
At 31 December 2021, net of 720214123318 ¢
accumulated depreciation BB RHTER
and impairment AE 237,695 167,267 2,841 2,942 5,613 416,358
At 31 December 2021 120215128318
Cost A 295,483 279,461 4,014 5,948 5,613 590,519
Accumulated depreciation ZEMERRE
and impairment (57,788)  (112,194) (1,173) (3,006) - (174,161)
Net carrying amount FEFE 237,695 167,267 2,841 2,942 5,613 416,358

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate carrying amount
of USD49,735,000 (31 December 2021: USD40,530,000)
was pledged to bank as security for the Group’s bank
borrowings, as further detailed in note 29 to the financial

statements.

MR2022%F 124318 » 49,735,000E 7T
(2021412 A31H : 40,530,000 7T ) &I 8
AAEERPRBITIEALRERBITERN

PR o R

B 2B R AT 29
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16.

LEASES 16. HE
The Group as a lessee AEEEREABEA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of REBpBALERERANSBHEL W 2
leasehold land, buildings and site facilities used in its FRIGHEFEEERBHEESL - THmHE
operations. Leases of land generally have lease terms ERFTABIZI0OFNHEE - HEARK
between 3 and 40 years. Lease terms are negotiated on ERIELER R - W B E TR A IER R
an individual basis and contain different payment terms "o BFREMBMRENHERTRAE2
and conditions. Leases of buildings and other site facilities ES5FMHEN HMXEBREAB12EA
generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Other SFEMEERR SEBNEERE - —%
equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less ME @ NEENFMAEE NG EAEE
and/or is individually of low value. Generally, the Group is HEEE -
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group.
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) (EFHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use RERNAEEERZEENRAEEM
assets and the movements during the year are as BEEROT
follows:
Leasehold Buildings and
land site facilities Total
HELH BFRIEHRIE ast
usD’000 USD’000 uUsD’000
FEx FER FTER
As at 31 December 2020 7202012 H31H &
and 1 January 2021 20211 H1H 47,169 87 47,256
Additions nE 13,909 - 13,909
Additions from business REEBEHNRE
combination 106,034 - 106,034
Charge for the year FAME (8,240) (59) (8,299)
Translation differences e = 2,299 2 2,301
As at 31 December 2021  #2021F12A31H K
and 1 January 2022 20221 A1H 161,171 30 161,201
Additions nNE 79,051 117 79,168
Revision of lease rents Gizker 14,864 - 14,864
Revision of lease terms THEMEET (30,008) - (30,008)
Charge for the year FARMR (14,721) (55) (14,776)
Translation differences TEE% (15,704) 1) (15,705)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31H 194,653 91 194,744




16.

Annual Report 2022
—BoCEER

Notes to Financial Statements

LEASES(continued) 16.

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate carrying
amount of USD1,925,000 (31 December 2021: Nil)
was pledged to bank as security for the Group's
bank borrowings, as further detailed in note 29 to
the financial statements.

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

HE (&)
AEBEEREEA ()
(a) (EAREE (&)

R2022%12A31H » 1,925,0003%
JC(2021F12A31H : ) WE®@
BEDEPERITIEAREBRITHE
HEOER - FIEE2HMB®RERMT
29 -

(b) HEERE
RERBEEEENRMEMZEHBER

movements during the year are as follows: N
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
UsSD’000 UsSD’000
TG FErx
Carrying amount at the beginning of  F¥&REE
the year 151,156 50,335
New leases HHE 79,168 11,272
Additions from business combination R EHEBKAHRE - 95,541
Revision of lease rents HeEs] 15,181 =
Revision of lease terms T EMEET (28,234) =
Accretion of interest recognised FANMERHF S50
during the year 10,686 6,101
Payments (BN (21,653) (14,379)
Translation differences mE=% (15,263) 2,286
Carrying amount at the end of FARMBREE
the year 191,041 151,156
Analysed into: AL
Current portion mEE D 10,870 5,451
Non-current portion EmBNE D 180,171 145,705

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 41 to the financial statements.

HEAENIEADMNH B RRM 41K

==

&
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16. LEASES(continued) 16. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEEREABEA (F)
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) REDAEREMERBHZELN
to leases are as follows: e
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 10,686 6,101
Depreciation charge of EREEENERS:
right-of-use assets 3,241 2,828
Expense relating to short-term REAR SRR
leases 4,233 1,733
Total amount recognised in NIE RN B
profit or loss 18,160 10,662
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17. EFREE

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

Software
B
UsD’000
FEx
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R2020%F 12 A31H &20214F1 A1H
Cost AR 2,366
Accumulated amortization R (1,557)
Net carrying amount at 1 January 2021, R2021F1 A1 HEmZEE
net of accumulated amortization BBk 2EHEE 809
Additions = 293
Additions from business combination REEBEHORE 4
Amortization provided during the year FNETIRE (345)
Translation differences wE=E= 19
At 31 December 2021 M2021F12A31H 780
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R2021% 12 A31 8 k20221 A1H
Cost AR 2,720
Accumulated amortization R (1,940)
Net carrying amount at 1 January 2022, 202261 A1 AREFE - BHBRERET
net of accumulated amortization #H 780
Additions = 109
Amortization provided during the year FRFHREHE (356)
Translation differences mE=% (59)
At 31 December 2022 M2022F 12 A31H 474
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18.

19.

OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS HtRHEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Prepayments for property, plant and M - BB REETEN A
equipment 9,559 8,071
LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE REIEWFIE
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Amounts due from a third party, non-trade  FZESHERKE= 17,103 16,755
Impairment VEREN (4,900) (4,900)
12,203 11,855

The balance of long-term receivable was the shareholder’s
loans to Food Union AustAsia Holdings Pte. Ltd., with
a floating interest rate of 1-year USD LIBOR plus 0.3%
per annum. Management classifies it as a non-current
receivable based on the repayment plan agreed by the
parties. The long-term receivable is repayable beyond
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2022, the Group assessed
that the credit risk had been significantly increased and the
Group accumulated allowance amounting to USD4,900,000
for the long-term receivable which was assessed to be in
stage 2.

EHEWRBELE#®#AEKREMFood Union
AustAsia Holdings Pte. Ltd I2HEEZ
A1 F R TR TRZER S £F0.3%H
SZEERRHE c BRERES T HEMNE
HETEBEBE AR EWIE - WEA
HwEHARE12EA%EE

o

MR20214F K 2022F 128310 » REEF
HEREEFERREKRIEEN  AEEAEE
EWTEAFE 2 RENRERZKIEBIE
4,900,000 3 T & -
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INVENTORIES 20. #FE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 USD’'000
FTEx FE
Raw materials [R# %} 179,314 151,973
Low-value consumables R I=Risp = 6,406 6,246
Finished goods a4 2,031 2,446
187,751 160,665
Provision for inventories GFERE (497) -
187,254 160,665
As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of M2022F12H31H » 81,575,000% T
USD81,575,000 (31 December 2021: USD65,504,000) was (2021512 A31H : 65,504,0003%7T) HIER
pledged as security for the Group's bank borrowings, as HECKFEATEBRITEROER - 5F
further detailed in note 29 to the financial statements. BB 2B REME29 ©
BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 21. EYEE
A — Nature of activities A—EEIME

The biological assets of the Group are mainly dairy cows
held to produce raw milk and beef cattle held for sale.

The quantity of dairy cows and beef cattle owned by the
Group at the end of each reporting period is shown below.
The Group’s milkable cows are dairy cows held to produce
raw milk. Heifers and calves are those dairy cows that
have not reached the age at which they can produce milk.
Beef cattle are raised for sale. Beef cattle mainly consist of
Holstein, Angus and Wagyu.

AEENEMEETRERLEERMYMHR
BN FRFEHENAS

REBERR - AEBHEENDFTNAL
BEMTHAT - AKBENKBFEREER
Kanm B e a4 - BRE RESERES
EPFRONT - AT TIRHEEMFAE - A
FEERFEEIAY - LRI R -

2022 2021
20224 20214

Milkable cows [paSEas 60,554 53,735
Heifers and calves B4 RIEYS 57,396 52,439
Beef cattle A4 29,615 25,414
Total At 147,565 131,588
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202212 A31H

21.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)
A — Nature of activities (continued)

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
heifers reached the age of approximately 14 months old.
After a pregnancy term of approximately nine months,
a calf is born and the dairy cow begins to produce raw
milk and the lactation period begins. A milkable cow is
typically milked for approximately 300 days before a dry
period of approximately 60 days. In general, holstein will
be sold when they reach the age of approximately 480
days, angus are generally sold when they reach the age of
approximately 405 days and wagyu will be sold when they
reach the age of approximately 600 days.

When a heifer begins to produce raw milk, it is transferred
to the category of milkable cows based on the estimated
fair value on the date of transfer.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its
biological assets. The Group is exposed to the following
operating risks:

. Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which it plantation and breeding take
place. The Group has established environmental
policies and procedures aimed at complying with
local environmental and other laws. Management
performs regular reviews to identify environmental
risks and to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate to manage these risks.

I, Climate, disease and other natural risks

The Group’'s biological assets are exposed to the
risk of damage from climatic changes, diseases
and other natural forces. The Group has extensive
processes in place aimed at monitoring and
mitigating those risks, including regular inspections
and disease controls and surveys and insurance.

21.

EMEE (&)
A-EEME ()

— K ERERERIIGI4EA KR - &t
FARBBRET AL - LBHEAMNESR
B ESEE  DFRBREERED - I
HFH - — BRI BEEHCORNE D
HZ Bl - EAKB00 KB o — &K
i AHTIB A E F R E D 4480 KBS A
& IR —REFRED D405 KR
HE - MAEFREDL600KFiG#H HE -

EERLHMREERMDE  REEEAN
EETAREE - SEEAKESFHER -

AEBEER-RINREMEERROAR °
ANEEEERIA TR

I3 EERREREE

AEEABTHELEEEMEESR
X EMEERER - AEEEH
ERERREER  EEETHIR
ENEMER  BEBSETEHE
B DA R R BR 552 o g 6 T R 1) TE O B8 &
RAEEZERR

i, IR - Fom KR M G2

AEENEMEERBERKEREL
RmkEMERERMELENEBER
B o AEBFTAFEN S EEZE MR
BRZERBRARE  BREHAE -
RS AERRR
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BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

B - Value of dairy cows, beef cattle and forage
plants

The fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows, beef cattle
and forage plants owned by the Group at the end of each
reporting period is shown below.

21.

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

EMEE (&)
B— i4 - RAREARMENHERE
REBEANODT - AT REHENRN & &

SHRO2ABEREHERAENBERN
NFR e

2022 2021

20224 20214

USD’000 USD’000

FEx FET

Milkable cows paSE 353,201 344,665
Heifers and calves BRE MBS 142,203 133,032
Beef cattle AL 54,600 49,217
Total A& 550,004 526,914
Current BN & 54,600 49,217
Non-current JERNEA 495,404 477,697

550,004 526,914
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202212 A31H

EYEE (8])

21. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 21.

B - Value of dairy cows, beef cattle and forage

plants (continued)

B- 4 - R4 REARENHEE (&)

Heifers and Milkable
calves cows Beef cattle Total
B4 RESF DRSS SES ast
uUsSD’000 uUsSD’000 uUsSD’000 uUsSD’000
FER FER FER FER
202012 A31H
Balance at 31 December 2020 EoFegoy 106,125 280,177 33,524 419,826
Addition from business REEXEBEHOARE
combination 14,037 11,995 - 26,032
Feeding costs and others BR8N Je Ho A 116,548 - 36,382 152,930
Transfer R (86,697) 86,697 = =
Decrease due to sales HigEmm s (4,294) (37,236) (50,500) (92,030)
(Loss)/gain arising from KA AR EBERH
changes in fair value EXREBH (B
less costs to sell 8B)/ W (6,013) (4,731) 19,590 8,846
Translation differences HE (6,674) 7,763 10,221 11,310
2021412 A31H
Balance at 31 December 2021 EFegoN 133,032 344,665 49,217 526,914
Feeding costs and others R B AN R E At 132,939 - 64,939 197,878
Transfer 2t (106,616) 106,616 = =
Decrease due to sales BE] 85 5 ik 2> (3,714) (35,537) (55,708) (94,959)
Gain/(loss) arising from KEAREBERIEE
changes in fair value P& e
less costs to sell (E518) 5,777 (32,317) 3,796 (22,744)
Translation differences WEER (19,215) (30,226) (7,644) (57,085)
R20229F12H31H
Balance at 31 December 2022 B4 5 142,203 353,201 54,600 550,004
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BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

B - Value of dairy cows, beef cattle and forage
plants (continued)

The Group has engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuers, to assist the Group in assessing the
fair values of the Group’s dairy cows and beef cattle. The
independent valuer and management of the Group held
meetings periodically to discuss the valuation techniques
and changes in market information to ensure that the
valuation was performed properly. The valuation techniques
used in the determination of fair values as well as the key
inputs used in the valuation models are disclosed in note
40 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s dairy cows and beef
cattle in the amount of USD477,057,000 (31 December
2021: USD319,248,000) were pledged to banks to secure
certain bank borrowings granted to the Group, as further
detailed in note 29 to the financial statements.

The aggregate gain or loss arising on initial recognition of
raw milk and from the changes in fair value less costs to
sell of biological assets is analysed as follows:

21.

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

EMEE (&)
M - R4 REAERENHNEER (&)

AEBEEFTEINEETE AT — PS8
THEFGERARERAR - BEAERFT
HAEENNFMALNAREE - BUb
BEMMEASETEETHETE®  IRE
BERMMMSEENE L  UREREENE
BT o AREE AR BEMGERM AR
HERASREANE 2 ASIERIBRE
BIsE40P B -

B2022%F12H31H AEEEEA
477,057,000% 7T (2021F 124318 :
319,248,00% 7w ) M4 RA4EETR TR
T LERETAEEMNE TIRITER &7
B 2R BIREM 29 -

BRHD A TR R A WA A D A BER
4 i S 80 B T 2 A O 28 S AS IRAB R AT
o :

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
USD’000 USD’000
FET T3z
Losses arising from changes in fair RENF AR EBEBBEEKAZ
value less costs to sell of dairy cows FHESE (26,540) (10,744)
Gains/(losses) arising from changes in fair & & fEHEY R 7 BER S &K
value less costs to sell of forage plants e (EE) 3,131 (572)
Gains arising from changes in fair value less & B RIZE D A (BIE B &R A E
cost to sell of beef cattle Eyl:oll & 3,796 19,590
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw T YIRS F2 X ¢ (B BERL SH B B
milk at fair value less costs to sell at the )25 W 5R SRR A0 2 A O U R
point of harvest 124,786 153,770
105,173 162,044
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202212 431H

22,

TRADE RECEIVABLES FEUR R I8
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FxEx FET
Trade receivables e IA 50,392 46,600
Impairment NERIE] - _
50,392 46,600

For sales of raw milk and milk products, the Group’s trading
terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period of sales of raw milk is 30 days
since the invoice date. The credit period of sales of milk
products is generally 30 to 45 days since the invoice
date, extending up to 90 days for major customers. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and has a credit control department to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

AEBEHEATF 2 HMHEERB DL IR
MEEGRREIZRRE  EREFPRIN - B
FHEPAEMNIE - RRNHENEES
REZHHIEI0R - IBRHENEEH—
RAEBEBBEIOEISKR  TEEFPAIER
EHRZOKX - EXEFHERELR - A&E
HEREEREGAEREBIZES - URE
EEEHFFIABEERREERE - B
EHMSREEETHERN - £ L3
A Be RS2 | e WOk TR B 3R 2 N [R 2 P B F HY
2 HUABBARETNEEAR - AKE
W E L HER ORGSR A E A M
ffERERTA - BREFIATEER -
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of loss allowance, is as follows:

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

FEW R ()

RBEIR - BUGOR (NRERRE) 1%
SRHE N HIREDOMIAT

2022 2021

20224 20214

USD’000 USD’000

FEx FET

Within 1 month —@mAR 48,309 45,108
1 to 2 months 1&22{8A 1,453 1,337
2 to 3 months 2Z&31EA 185 98
Over 3 months 3ME AL E 445 57
50,392 46,600

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are amounts due
from a related party of USD1,833,000 as at 31 December
2022 (31 December 2021: USD1,925,000), which are
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the
major customers of the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables of
USD48,643,000 (31 December 2021: USD40,426,000)
were pledged to banks to secure certain bank borrowings
granted to the Group, as further detailed in note 29 to the
financial statements.

An impairment analysis is performed at the reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The expected credit loss rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit
or other forms of credit insurance). As at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022, the expected credit loss rate
was immaterial. For the trade receivables from customers
of farms in China, no loss allowance was accumulated
because the risk was assessed to be minimal at the end of
reporting period.

202212310 » AEEMEFKIE
EEW B T 508 - &% A1,833, ooo%
ﬁ(2021¢1zﬂ31 H :1,925,000%7T) °
BEEURAAEETERFREHENEER
RIEE -

R2022%F 12 A31H » 48,643,000% 7T
(2021512 H31H : 40,426,0003%7T) HY
JEW IR IR FIEIT  WERRTAEE
METRITER  F5RE28YBHRERME
29 -

RRE B BFEARBEREITRES T © KU
AEEHEEREE  EHEEBBXENIE
El\ﬁ*ﬁw;ééﬂﬁ N2 ZEREF 5% (AR
EmER - BRPERIREE - ARNE
aaazﬁfrﬁz{;i‘ﬂ% 2 RE) <@ B
B o B2021F 12 A31H K2022F 124
318 - BHIEEEBEXRLTEK o pLHEK

BREPHEKFIANS - ARERSHRE
BTG AR/ - E W R EEE -
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2022% 12 A31H

23.

24,

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. EfNXE - - HtEWREREMGEE
OTHER ASSETS
2022 2021
20224F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Prepayments SEENE e 20,989 18,311
Deposits and other receivables e MEMERFIR 1,396 416
22,385 18,727
The financial assets included in the above balances relate PIA L& SR EENT W EELN &
to receivables for which there was no recent history of S HELNERGIEER - R2021F K
default and past due amounts. At 31 December 2021 2022F 12 A31H ' AEEEFEERRE
and 2022, the Group expected that the credit risk was K- - BFEHEEBSBEXEAEKN  FitEE
considered to be low and the expected credit loss rate was BB E /il o
immaterial, thus the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 24. HEeREAESZEYURBEHER
PLEDGED DEPOSITS
2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Cash and bank balances R e RIRITAE R 57,998 23,248
Less: Pledged deposits B B IRTEK (860) (1,103)
Cash and cash equivalents RERREFEY 57,138 22,145

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group were denominated in the following
currencies. The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RBERR - AEENRE R|ITEHBIAT
SIEREGE - ARBTHEEmABRAEME
¥ - B RARE B A M CHMNEE IR 551
(BE  SERNEEERRE)  AEEBA
FHRBERECEIINERBNRITEARE
SBMRHMER -
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 24.
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

BERBASEENUARCERERK
(%)

2022 2021
2022 20214

USD’000 USD’000

FEx FE

RMB AREE 34,858 21,872
usb eI 23,113 1,131
SGD ot 27 245
Total &a&t 57,998 23,248

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The cash and bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank balances of
USD860,000 (31 December 2021: USD1,103,000)
were pledged to bank as security for the Group’s bank
borrowings and the purchase of imported alfalfa, as further
detailed in note 29 to the financial statements.

RITRESBREBEE BRITERFRZFHH =X
REAE - RERRTERTFARILEE
HIRLEREVE B R AFHVIRTT o

72022412 A31H * F860,000% 7T (2021
F12H31H : 1,103,000%7T) HIRIT4E
EIEFRIT  EAAEERTERRERE
DEHEMER  FBRE28UBHREAN
29 °

TRADE PAYABLES 25. EAFRIE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
UsSD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Trade payables FETFRIE 151,954 79,640
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31 December 2022
2022% 12 A31H

25. TRADE PAYABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of

25. FE{TFIE (48)
RNEREMRENBZHBMNENEZIEY R
2

each reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as BT -
follows:

2022 2021
2022 20214
uUsSD’000 USD’000
TEx FET
Within 2 months 218 A LAR 126,981 71,248
2 to 6 months 22618 A 18,141 6,192
6 to 12 months 621218 A 5,175 926
Over 1 year I 1,657 1,274
151,954 79,640

As at 31 December 2022, the trade payables of
USD16,960,000 (31 December 2021: USD4,961,000), which
are due to a related party are repayable within 110 days.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on the terms of 30-180 day.

M2022%12H31H * 16,960,000% T
(2021%12H31H : 4,961,000 70) HYJE
NRIBREMI0RKAS N TR S -

FEMFRIBB TR BEEHEEA302180
3% o
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31 December 2022
202212 A31H

26. HtENREREEHR

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Notes UsSD’000 USD’000
HisF FTT FET
Current ENHA

Other payables H e 50R 1,341 996
Accruals FEETIE B 5,481 1,794
Payroll payable ENTE 10,379 11,501
Construction payables JEfTREEEE 45,789 20,146
Contract liabilities AR (a) 2,743 1,870
Interest payable FER RIS 2,813 2,103
68,546 38,410

Non-current JEBNER
Other non-current liability HmIEREBaE (b) 13,115 13,646
Contract liabilities BHAaE (a) 622 1,390
13,737 15,036

Included in the Group’s other payables are amounts due to
a related party of USD381,000 as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: USD6,000).

Notes:

(a)

(b)

R2022F 12318 » AEBHMENKIEA
B ¥R~ BE B 77 FXIE 381,000 7T (20214
12H31H : 6,000FE7T) °

st
Contract liabilities (a) EHEE
The contract liabilities of the Group represent only the KEBHNAYABEETEANR
advances from customers. The following table shows 1B o NREFFINEREHVTAED
revenue recognized that was included in the balance BEESBHE A -
of contract liabilities at the beginning of each reporting
period.
2022 2021
20224 20214F
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Advances from customers RPEBENMNFIAE 1,870 6,589
Other non-current liability (b) HikREaE

As at 31 December 2021 and 2022, the balance of
other non-current liability represents the deposit from a
third party customer purchasing raw milk which will be
due in 2024.

R2021F KX 2022F12A31H » HA
RBAESREAE = AEPNER
iRe - ZIEE 2024 F FIH o
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2022% 12 A31H

27.

28.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT LIABILITY 27. URGEBERNNARERE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 USD’'000
FTEx FE
Current BNER
AAG Share Appreciation Plan AAGR D 18 BET & - 1,856
AAG Performance Share Plan AAGE D ETE - 2,731
- 4,587
LOANS FROM A FORMER SHAREHOLDER 28. AIRRER
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Current BN &
Loans from Japfa Ltd. FEBEER = 6,300
Non-current JEBNER
Loans from Japfa Ltd. FREXR - 19,240

Loans from Japfa Ltd. are non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-bearing at a rate from 3.67% to 4.67% per annum
in 2021. Management classifies the current and non-current
portions of the loans based on the repayment plan agreed
with Japfa Ltd. on a yearly basis.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company has capitalised all
of the outstanding loans from Japfa Ltd., in an aggregate
amount of USD25,540,000 by way of the issue of
31,041,673 new shares.

FRERAIEEHEE - BIER - 1R20214F
FFEK3 67%E467%:18 - EEEBFFIR

R R T AR T MY R SR B

EPEARR D HEIT O HE

B B EA K2 3F

M2022F12A31H » KRQARI AT
31,041,673 FHRMA TR 8B T
25,540,000 TR 2 HBAREZEZERER

flg e
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2022912 A31H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 29. FrEHRITERK
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity USsD’000 rate (%) Maturity UsSD'000

BIRAIZE(%) L TER

ERFIE (%) RS TETL

Current 0
Bank loans - secured RITER - FHEA 3.8-5.08 2023 67,104 3.85-5.22 2022 25,056
Current portion of long-term  REFRITERENHLE
bank loans - secured o —BHEH 4.21-7.29 2023 57,540 413-7.3 2022 40,500
124,644 65,556
Non-current FEBE
Bank loans - secured BOTER - FHEA 4.21-7.29 2024-2028 187,282 4.13-7.3 2023-2026 202,422
311,926 267,978
2022 2021
20224F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FTEx FET
Analysed into: DR
Bank loans: RITERK
Within one year or on demand —FAYIEEK 124,644 65,556
In the second year E-F 47,931 70,024
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FoFE2FNF (BEEREMF) 128,974 132,398
Above five years AFMNUE 10,377 =
311,926 267,978
Notes: Vorzat
(a) The Group’s facilities amounted to USD658,944,000 in (a) AREE #2022 F ) E 3 A658,944,000

2022 (2021: USD407,394,000), of which the unutilized
bank facilities were USD304,438,000 in 2022 (2021:
USD56,038,000). As at 31 December 2021 and 2022,
the Group's facilities are secured by the pledge of
certain of the Group’s assets.

%77 (20214 : 407,394,000 7T) © H
# 304,438,000 T IR 1T E 34 2022
FERFEF (20214 : 56,038,000
JL) ° FR20214F K 2022128318 -
AEENERUAAEBHNE TEAERT
BB PRI o
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31 December 2022

2022512 A31H

29.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

The Group’s bank loans are secured by:

)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

As at 31 December 2022, pledged deposits of
USD860,000 were pledged to banks to secure
certain bank borrowings granted to the Group
(81 December 2021: USD930,000);

As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables
of USD48,643,000 were pledged to banks to
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the
Group (31 December 2021: USD40,426,000);

As at 31 December 2022, inventories of
USD81,575,000 were pledged to banks to
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the
Group (31 December 2021: USD65,504,000);

As at 31 December 2022, property, plant and
equipment of USD49,735,000 were pledged
to banks to secure certain bank borrowings
granted to the Group (31 December 2021:
USD40,530,000);

As at 31 December 2022, biological assets of
USD477,057,000 were pledged to banks to
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the
Group (31 December 2021: USD319,248,000);

As at 31 December 2022, right-of-use assets of
USD1,925,000 were pledged to banks to secure
certain bank borrowings granted to the Group
(31 December 2021: Nil);

As at 31 December 2022, shares of a subsidiary
of USD26,430,000 were pledged to banks to
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the
Group (31 December 2021: USD26,430,000);

As at 31 December 2022, investments in certain
subsidiaries of USD336,967,000 were pledged
to banks to secure certain bank borrowings
granted to the Group (31 December 2021:
USD336,967,000).

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s
bank loans amounting to USD139,558,000
were guaranteed by the Company and certain
subsidiaries of the Group (31 December 2021:
USD66,170,000).

29.

FTESRITHER (&)

Wiat - ()

(b)

AEEEIRTTEFUA T IS IAMEHEIR

)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

R2022%F12831H » 2K
177%860,000F LB IF TR
7 WERBETAEENET
RITEZ (2021F12A318 :
930,000%7T) :

R2022%F12A318 » UK
JH48,643,0003 st 2 K3 T iR
7 WERBTAEENET
RITEZ (20215F12A318 :
40,426,000 7T) :

R2022%12A31H &
81,575,000 F t B I 7 iR
7 WERBTAEENET
RITEZR (20215F12A31H :
65,504,000 7T) :

MR2022F12A31H W% - |
E K &#49,735,000% L E K
HFPERIT UWERETAEH
RE FERTIE R (2021F 124
318 : 40,530,000%7T)

R2022612831H  £9 8
E 477,057,000 c 2 K3 F 4R
7 WERBTAEENET
RITEZ (20215F12A318 :
319,248,000%7T) :

R2022% 128318 » FRA%E
EE 1,925,000 L2 EA FIR
7 WERBRTAEENET
RITER (20215F12A8318 :
=)

MR2022% 128318 B A
A% 17 26,430,000 st 2 K 3
FIRIT - WERETAEED
BT RITER (2021412 A 31
H : 26,430,000 7T)

MR2022F 12831 H » & THE
ATFRE336,967,0005 T2 K
BTRT UWERBETAEE
R FERITE K (2021F 12 A
31H : 336,967,000 1) ©

MR20226 128310 AEHE
139,558,000 LM ZH 5 R1TE
FAARBMAEENE T T
N AHRHEIER (20219512 A31
H : 66,170,000%7T) °
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 29. FrERITERE)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Miat - (#&)
(c) The bank borrowings are denominated in following (c) IRITEFA T EEFE -
currencies:
2022 2021
20224 20214
uUsD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
usb = 41,514 65,368
RMB AR 270,412 202,610
311,926 267,978
DEFERRED TAX 30. EERIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during FRELEHEEEREENEHNT :
the year are as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities EEHRESE
Withholding
taxes Total
A &5t
UsSD’000 uUsD’000
FER FER
At 1 January 2021 7202141818
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated FARGREBRRNBRAELES
statement of profit or loss during the year B\ (KaE11)
(Note 11) 600 600
Gross deferred tax liabilities recognised 72021412 A 31 B4R A Bk
in the consolidated statement of financial MEFERELTH IR EE
position at 31 December 2021 L 600 600
Gross deferred tax liabilities recognised 72022412 A 31 B4R A B Ak
in the consolidated statement of financial REFERELTHIEE FEE
position at 31 December 2022 L 600 600
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30.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following item:

30.

EAERE (&)
EER RS E ()

BRI TSR B HPRER A E E AR HER -

2022 2021
20224 20214

USD’000 USD’000

FTEx FET

Tax losses HIEEE 10,041 13,147

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries had unused tax losses of USD10,041,000 (31
December 2021: USD13,147,000) incurred by the non-
agricultural business in the PRC. These unused tax losses
will expire in subsequent 5 years as disclosed in the
following table if not utilised. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in relation to such tax losses as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

M2022F 128318 AEBEETFTHENE
ARBHEFEMNIEREBEANKRFEAT
TEE518/510,041,000% 70 (20214 12 A 31
H :13,147,000%7T) - A FRAEE © &
LR AR E RS ERE RS F R B (BT
FA) - ARG ARENELREEARE
ABFEO IR K - MEARZEFRIE

ERERRERAEE

2022 2021
20224 20214

USD’000 UsD’000

FEx FET

Year 2022 20224 £ - 2,381
Year 2023 20234 E 2,777 3,090
Year 2024 20244 E 5,542 6,054
Year 2025 20255 E 1,486 1,622
Year 2026 2026 Z - =
Year 2027 2027 F & 236 =
10,041 13,147
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DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30. EZERIE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued) EZEHELME (&)
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a BE(RFEAREMBECEMSRE) - B
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to B AR S A AN E 1 ZEZR B A SN B IR
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises HEERMOBEHMI0%HMIENF - LR TE
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective E2008F1 A1HRBREM - BAMK2007F
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 1231 BREEARF - 20 B R A5
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be BEEEMENBNEEER 2 BFETKD
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China E - RIRTAEAEENTEHIN R - REEK
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, BAMERS% - At - REBEAERRF
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable W p 2 BB A B 82008 1 A1 HEE
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those ERRFIAEIRE R SHMANTER o WK
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of FEIKTE R AIR2022F 12 A31HHRTEF
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. Deferred taxation 396,978,000 7T (20214612 H31H -
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial 415,738,000% 7T ) 4R & BT IS R T IRIEIE
statements in respect of the accumulated profits of the TRIBRE - ThEBR PN & [ 48 S 12 il 1 1) BT Iy
PRC subsidiaries amounting to USD396,978,000 as at 31 EZHENRRE BERAEEBRBEPERA
December 2022 (31 December 2021: USD415,738,000), WERNES  ZSERZERAIRINR
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal RATRE TSR E o
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future because the Group will retain the funding for the
development in Mainland China.
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the RRARAMERREZ AR BN FEEMABH
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders. BR
SHARE CAPITAL 31. KX
Shares gl
2022 2021
20224 20214
Issued and fully paid: BEETRARE
Number of shares in issue EETRNHEE 699,857,112 336,111,968
Share capital (USD'000) fA (F37T) 385,992 308,502
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31.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 31.
Shares (continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital

R (4)
R4 ()
ARABBAEFHHEMT

is as follows:
Number of
shares in Share
issue capital
SRITRAHE ;&
Notes uUsD’000
otz FERx
K2020%F 124318 &
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 2021%F1H1H 336,111,968 308,502
20214612 A318B &
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 202291 H1H 336,111,968 308,502

Share split 15 5 1 (a) 285,695,171 -
Issuance of shares upon listing RBEBBR A

on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange W& G 30,640,000 22,853
Issuance of shares pursuant to BRI IE AR AT 2 BT AR D

share option scheme (b) 16,368,300 29,097
Transfer from loans from a former ERERIREER

shareholder (c) 31,041,673 25,540

2022412 A 31 H K&2022

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2022 F1A1H 699,857,112 385,992

Notes:

(a) On 5 December 2022, pursuant to the share split, each
share in the capital of the Company was sub-divided
into 1.85 shares. Upon completion of the share split,
the total number of issued shares of the Company
increased from 336,111,968 shares to 621,807,139
shares.

(b) Certain of the options under the Group’s share option
schemes were settled by issuance of 16,368,300 new
shares on 30 December 2022.

(c) All of the outstanding loans from Japfa Ltd. with an
aggregate amount of USD25,540,000 were capitalized
by way of issuance of 31,041,673 new shares on 30
December 2022.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares
carry one vote per share without restrictions. The ordinary
shares have no par value.

(a) M2022F 12850 - BERH D
RRABBRARFRBMOIFD R1.85K
Befp - RIRD A FTKE - ARFE
BITIRMEEHHA336,111,968REE
621,807,139% °

(b) AEEBERESSATETRBREES
2022412 A30 H #1716,368,300 %
R EITREE o

(c) #EE25 540,000k T 2R EEE
BEFFEBN2022F12 A30 3 & 1T
31,041,673 H D E AL ©

EREFEAARERARAE KK ESR
B-MBEEBRERES ERERE T
EfAIR S o BB EEE -
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group operated two share option schemes for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the share options
include employees in the Group. The Group adopted the
share option scheme (“AAG Share Appreciation Plan”) on
6 June 2012. Under the scheme, the Group granted share
options for four times on 9 July 2012, 28 November 2013,
30 April 2015 and 29 April 2019. Each option shall vest
over a period of 4 years of continuous full-time employment
from the date of grant. Options may only be exercised
upon the full satisfaction of the dual conditions that: (a)
the option has fully vested (and not upon if the option has
only partially vested, regardless of whether the exercise is
limited to such vested portion) and (b) if the IPO condition
has been met.

In July 2020, the Company implemented the “AAG
Performance Share Plan” (the “AAG PSP”). The purpose of
the AAG PSP is to, inter alia, foster an ownership culture
within the AustAsia Group which aligns the interests of
executives and employees of the AustAsia Group with the
interests of its shareholders and to motivate participants in
the AAG PSP to achieve key financial and operational goals
of AAG and/or its respective business units. The AAG PSP
shall continue in effect for a term of five years, provided
always that the AAG PSP may continue beyond the above
stipulated period with the approval of the shareholders of
the Company.

The aggregate number of shares of the AAG Share
Appreciation Plan to be delivered pursuant to the exercise
of options on any date, when added to the number of AAG
Share Appreciation Plan already issued and that may be
issued in respect of all outstanding options granted under
this option scheme and all other shares issued under
any other share-based incentive schemes that may be
implemented by the Group, shall not exceed two per cent
of the issued shares of the Group on the day preceding
the relevant date of grant. The committee shall have
the absolute right to determine the number of shares of
the AAG Share Appreciation Plan to which each eligible
participant is entitled.

32.
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LU 5 B B 894 K

AEBEERTMIBERETS  BOERE
REBELENRINEMBRMNE ERSHE
REMEBRER - BREMNSERK2HER
BAEENEES - XEBER2012F6 A6 H
A TBRETS ([AAGRK K IEERTE]) -
BIEZTE - A&EBEMR2012F7H9A8 -
2013411 A28H ~ 201544 A30H %2019
FA4A29BKR T TREARE - SBBRED
EEAARECZAREESHMIE4IF - &
EREMEUTEERENERLT « FAITT
FEERE - (a)BRED T2 HI (MIEED
DHEBRERE  ERRSETEZAETS
BAEHE)  R(b)MEE R AFREERIEMY -

202057 R - RRBIEHE T [AAGE R
BT - AANGERRHFTEINEBEME (A
B1FE) fEAustAsia GroupRNEBHEEE AR X
1t - ¥ AustAsia Groupm & M 1& B W FIz5
HBREFRREFT - WHBAAGE B H
HEMSEEERBAAGE,RESHER
PR BAR M IS RIEE BIE - AAGERBRG
EMAREAAST  BELARDAMREHR
A AAGE SR DT B AT LA E BB F il AR
TEHEAMR o

R IETEAER] B AT B AR A T X T R AAG AR
DIEEFTEIR MBS - MEEEITHAAG
XD IBEBIEE - AN AR IR IR AL B AR
HERTEIE TR A R TTER B IRE M E1TH
AAGRR D IZEETEIMEE - URIBEAEE
] 85 B 15 B9 (T (o] E 4 DARR 15 & ELRE A0 R Bh 51
BIRITHMATE MR G - TERBHEBRET
BEIRI —RASBERTRMONED 2= °
ZECHRRYEIVATEBREESERZEE
BREESHAAGRMIGEZIRMGER -
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
(a) AAG Share Appreciation Plan

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the
AAG Share Appreciation Plan as at the end of each
reporting period are as follows:

As at 31 December 2022, the Share Appreciation
Plan was settled by the issuance of an aggregate
number of 180,800 shares after taking into account
the share split and the offering price of HK$6.40.

As at 31 December 2021

32. URGAEBRNSR(E)
(a) AAGKR#HEEE

RERE R R - AAGRHIZEEE
EVTTHE(EE RATREHIRAT

R2022F12A31H - RiHEEE
BiBEITA £ 180,800 B (&5t
MDD REEE6.40/87T) #1T
4t o

A

M2021F12H31H

Number of options Exercise price (USD) Exercise period
BRERE ITREME (ET) 1TEHR
164,666 1.25 2013-12-31 to 2022-9-30
201312 31 HE 202249 A30H
243,332 1.25 2014-12-31 to 2022-9-30
201412 31 HE 202249 A30H
42,665 1.25 2015-12-31 to 2022-9-30
2015412 A31 HE202249 A30H
494,500 1.35 2016-12-31 to 2022-9-30
201612 A31HE 202249 H30H
339,998 1.45 2019-4-29 to 2022-9-30
2019F 4 A29H£2022F9 A30H
1,892,396 1.50 The later of 2020-4-28 to 2022-9-30 and IPO date
202064 A28 H&E2022F9A30H &
BRAREE R (AREERE)

3,177,557

The Group reversed an expense of USD145,000 in
2022 (2021: USD86,000).

AEBER2022FREFA L 145,000E 7T
(20214 : 86,0003 7T) °
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

AAG Share Appreciation Plan (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under
the AAG Share Appreciation Plan during 2021:

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

32. LROAERNTRK(E)

(a)

AAGR D1 E T2 (&)

R20214F » IRIBEAAGHK D G E 5T
2 TR B M RTTIE

Weighted
average Number
exercise price of options
IREFIGITREE BREHE
UsD
Y
At 1 January 2021 R2021%F1A1H 1.42 4,289,230
Granted during the year FREH - -
Forfeited during the year FRRIK = =
Exercised during the year FRITE 1.38 (1,111,673)
Expired during the year FREIH = -
At 31 December 2021 2021612 A31H 1.44 3,177,557
Exercised during the year FRITE 1.39 (1,002,697)
Issuance of shares pursuant to share BiEBEIET 21217 H N/A
option scheme (Note 31) (H1a£31) TEH (2,174,860)
N/A
At 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H & A -
AAG Performance Share Plan (b) AAGEMRMBETE

Under the terms of the AAG PSP, the directors and
employees of the AustAsia Group who have met the
relevant criteria set out in the AAG PSP or by the
remuneration committee of AAG (“AAG remuneration
committee”), are eligible to participate in the AAG
PSP. Controlling shareholders (and their associates)
of the Company are also eligible to participate in
the AAG PSP provided that their participation and
actual or maximum number of shares in AAG and
terms of any award to be granted to them under the
AAG PSP have been duly approved by independent
shareholders of the Company.

RAAGEB R M T & KRBT
AustAsia GroupHEEREEETA
HAAGHE I H T EISKAAGH B &
B2HENHEBIRE  pEEARSH
AAGE LD TS AR B AR AR
R(REBEBA)NEGEKRLSEAAG
B EHE (ATIR R M PITEAAGH
SR EAHAAGR N B R AR
g URBEBAAGE RN EEIZET
fth P9 & (E ] BB O ISR E BB AN A &)
BRI L) -

245



246

AustAsia Group Ltd.

MEEEARARA

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(b)

AAG Performance Share Plan (continued)

The ordinary shares which are the subject of the
awards are based on 100% of the grant. The shares
awarded on the vesting date could range from 0%
to 200% depending on the achievement of pre-
determined conditions within specified periods.
Settlement will be in cash unless the Company has
achieved an IPO by the date of settlement, in which
event settlement will be in AAG shares.

For equity-settled tranches, the Group applied the
binomial option pricing model in measuring the fair
value of the share awards at the grant date. The
equity-settled tranches are recognised as expenses
over the performance period. The equity-settled
component referring to this right is recognized as
AAG performance share plan reserve in note 33 to
the financial statements.

For cash-settled tranches, the Group applied the
binomial option pricing model in measuring the
fair value of the share awards at the grant date.
The fair value is subsequently remeasured based
on the fair value of the share awards at each
reporting date and recognized as expenses over
the performance period. The liability of cash-settled
tranches referring to this right is recognized as AAG
performance share plan liability.

The Group applied the sum-of-the-part method
under the asset-based approach in the valuation of
the equity value of the Group by using the income
approach in estimating the value of the subsidiaries
in Mainland China, and the market approach in
estimating the value of the equity interest in FUAA.
Based on the fair value of the equity value per
share, the Group applied the binomial option pricing
model in measuring the fair value of the share
awards.

32.

AR 40 B E /8K (8)

(b)

AAGER R 5T & (8)

ERBREIR SRR M EEZ100% % T
FTEH - REE B RERMLLAIN
R0%E200% 2+ BEBEURRFRIE
HHERFERIHRMERIBER - BRIER
AEIELERHMER T B

T BABURSETHE  58RQ
RIEBHRERAHEE » AIHEIAAAG

PR EITHEE -

B Rt ENE D  AEERAT
“IHEAHBEEEREREENETH
HIRM BB AR EE - BEEHE
DHERGEHRNRER BT - EZiE
MBS EE D EMBHEM
33 W HER BAAGE MR 5T &
-

HRREFEEWNILD  AEBRAT
“HEAHREERELURGENR TH
RO ZBN AR EE - RAEERE
BREEHRE AR DEBN AR
BEETEHNEE - WHEFEHNE
RARFAX - EZENEHNREEE
B B ERERSAAGE M &
gRE-

AEERATEEEREDHLD &
AL AR B 1) B (B (EAE 1T TR
PR Mo s VR 4 o B 7 3 PR B 1 R O (B
BEETHE - RAMSEHFUAAR
A EEETEE - ERNERK
HEENAAEBE  AEEEERRA
T_EAMEEERY R GE MmN
BB AREE -



32.

33.

Annual Report 2022
RO CEER

Notes to Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
(b) AAG Performance Share Plan (continued)

The following table illustrates the number and

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

32. LROBERNGR (FE)
(b) AAGHEXMMR =Bl (4)
TRIVRFEAAAGHE I D5 BRI 2K

movements of the AAG Performance Share Plan EREBEIFN
during the year:
2022 2021
20224F 20214
Number Number
HE HE
Outstanding at 1 January 1 A1 B EITES 9,929,600 9,318,600
Granted during the year FAR L 682,100 611,000
Exercised during the year FRITE (568,600) =
Issuance of shares pursuant to share 15 & B X b=+ 21 317 IL 1D
option scheme (Note 31) (H1a£31) (8,750,000) =
Outstanding at 31 December #12 431 BB 1,293,100 9,929,600

The Group recognized expenses of USD13,525,000
in 2022 (2021: USD15,703,000).

REBRN2022FE MR 13,525,000 7T (2021
4 1 15,703,000%7T) FIT °

RESERVES 33. f#f&
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes USD’000 USD’000
k3 SFESTE FET
Statutory reserve EERES (a) 78,286 71,943
AAG R 1 BT E|
AAG Share Appreciation Plan (Note 32)  (Kt:£32) (1,829) 361
Japfa Performance Share Plan EREBRRMETE (b) 1,061 1,046
AAGE R 5T 8l
AAG Performance Share Plan (Note 32) (Ht7#32) 2,607 16,715
Merger reserve A HEE (c) (8,409) (8,409)
Fair value reserve AR EERE (d) (6,309) (6,715)
Foreign currency translation reserve NS B (A (e) (47,794) 23,101
Retained profits BEME 396,699 379,648

414,312 477,690
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33. RESERVES (continued) 33. fHE (&)
Notes: Hiat
(a) Statutory reserve (a) EEHES
In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law BEFENDRBRNE QT
applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC, the BOREEY MBRARARELTEE
subsidiaries are required to make appropriation to 2 o RIBEANTE S ERANERE
Statutory Reserve (“SR"). At least 10% of the statutory FHEERIAFENEL10%BRAD
profits after tax as determined in accordance with the BEEEEES AR EEREESLNE
applicable PRC accounting standards and regulations £ 2 e TN B B A Bl EE A AR 50% o
must be allocated to SR until the cumulative total of o R A RESPIHLE  SEEEEE S AT A
the SR reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered AR B AR S E A I Est
capital. Subject to approval from the relevant PRC BRI - EEHEESTERR AL
authorities, SR may be used to offset any accrued HIRIEAL B, o
losses or increase in the registered capital of the
subsidiary. SR is not available for dividend distribution
to shareholders.
2022 2021
20224 20214
UsD’000 USD’000
FTER TET
Balance at 1 January W1 A1 ENES 71,943 54,373
Transferred from retained profits B A HE 6,343 17,570
Balance at 31 December K12 A31 Bk 78,286 71,943
(b)  Japfa Performance Share Plan (b) EREMR A T E

The Company’s former holding company, Japfa Ltd.,
operates an equity-settled share based compensation
plan. The shares were granted to employees of the
Company and its PRC subsidiaries, subject to certain
conditions being met. In July 2020, the pre-determined
market conditions and the performance period have
been modified by the Japfa Remuneration Committee.

During 2019, new shares were granted to employees
of the Company and its PRC subsidiaries, subject to
their performance at the end of 2018. The fair values of
awards granted are determined using the Monte Carlo
Simulation Model and the expenses are recognized
over the vesting period.

ANATIH BT IERR A AMEE B & A RS
BURGBEROTNAE - FEET
BHNARB REFEMNBRARINES
BERTFZERD - R2020F7A @ %8
¥MNZ BB TEAHEENTIBREME
AT TIE -

R2019%F - AR A REHEKE A F
MEEENHEEBEET2018F RMELR
WMEETHR - BTREOAAEED
FMASKREERENETS  ANEB
HARERR S -
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33. RESERVES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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33. f#fE (&)
Hiet - (&)

Japfa Performance Share Plan (continued) (b) EREVRDEE (F)
During 2020, new shares were granted to employees 20204 - FEETRENEARE R
of the Company and its PRC subsidiaries, subject to HAEMBARNESEERTHR - 1R
certain conditions being met. The shares awarded BRE RN ERK TR B S R 2
on the vesting date could range from 0% to 200%, E - REE R RERRM LN HK0%
depending on the level of achievement against pre-set Z200% 2 c BT EBOALEED
performance conditions within the performance period. FRESBREERENET  BREB
The fair values of awards granted are determined using RN -
the Monte Carlo Simulation Model and the expenses
are recognized over the vesting period.
The following table illustrates the number of shares of TRIREAREEERRRD T 2RI D
the Japfa performance share plan and the movements HEREEIFR
during the year:
2022 2021

2022F 20214F
Outstanding at 1 January »1 A1 B BEITESN 6,471,500 6,207,300
Granted during the year FAEE - 264,200
Exercised during the year FRITHE (6,471,500) =
Outstanding at 31 December W12 A 31 B#&1TESN - 6,471,500
The expenses of share award recognized amounted to R2022%F F MRORHOEEHAZ A
USD15,000 in 2022 (2021: USD419,000). 15,0002 7T (20214 : 419,000%5)
Merger reserve (c) EOHREE
The merger reserve represents the difference between EOHEBRE NN EELRZEST
the consideration paid and the net assets of a HANMBAREEFECHENZERE -
subsidiary restructured under common control. The AEEKAERESZETHRRZEST
Group has applied the pooling of interest method for HEESH -
business combination under common control.
Fair value reserve (d) NREERHE

The fair value reserve represents the present value
changes recognized for the Company’s equity
investment for which the Company has elected to
present the value changes in other comprehensive
income.

D5 BB REER AR A AR
AMRERD  ARFRBEHSEE
SEE AR R AR -
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33. RESERVES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve represents
exchange differences arising from the translation of
foreign operations whose functional currencies are
different from that of the Company’s presentation
currency.

33.

it ()
Hret - (&)
(e) IMBBMERE

SNEMEFRRIERENEEEEART
FIHmEE N R EINEBITERELN
PE S ZEHE

2022 2021

20224 20214

USD’000 USD’000

FEx FEx

Balance at the beginning of year REYH AR 23,101 5,863
Net effect of exchange differences BINEBITEE AR FER 280

arising from translation of foreign 2
operations (70,895) 17,238
Balance at the end of year RER G (47,794) 23,101

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year of 2022, the Company had non-
cash additions to share capital and deductions
to shareholder’s loans of USD25,540,000 and
USD25,540,000, respectively, in respect of issuing
shares to certain shareholders of Japfa Ltd. in
exchange for the settlement of the Group’s loans
from Japfa Ltd.. In addition, the Company had non-
cash additions to share capital and deductions to
reserve of USD29,097,000 and USD29, 097,000,
respectively, in respect of settlement of certain
share options under the Group’s share option
schemes.

34.

FEREREBRWE

(a)

FEFRERS

MN2022%F « BAEEMHE TRRE
BIIRMDURKBREELAEERE E
EMERMNE XA HAMNIER
SEMBARARINBRBREERD 5 A
25,540,0003% 7T & 25,540,0003%
TC o AN - REEE AN EERER S
BTETERENS  AXARHEAR
FERSENBRARNGBEED A
29,097,000% 7T % 29,097,000 7T °
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Changes in liabilities arising from financing

REREREBRMEE ()

(b) BMEFHRELNAEBEEDH

activities
2022 2022
Interest- Other payables
bearing and accruals-
bank Lease Loans from interest
borrowings liabilities a shareholder payable
HiEARIER
FEstAR
HERITER HEEE BRRERK - EARE
UsD’000 USD’000 USsD’000 UsD’000
TER TER TER TER
At 1 January 2022 M2022%F1A1H 267,978 151,156 25,540 2,103
Changes from financing RIEEELREE
cash flows 65,095 (21,653) - (21,877)
New leases FHE - 79,168 = =
Revision of a lease rent  FA&E:] - 15,181 - =
Revision of a lease term  FAHIERT - (28,234) - -
Capitalisation of loans ~ BREEFHEAX(L
from a shareholder - - (25,540) -
Foreign exchange SN B
movement (21,147) (15,263) - (204)
Interest expense BEAREFIERE
capitalised - - - 950
Interest expense B = 10,686 = 21,841
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 311,926 191,041 - 2,813
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 34. RSB E&RERKE (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RETBHFELENEESE (EH)
activities (continued)

2021 20214F
Interest-
bearing Other payables
bank Lease Loans froma  and accruals-
borrowings liabilities shareholder interest payable
B e~ 7RI I e
HERITER HEEE BRERER FIEE - BAFR
USD’000 UsD’000 USD’'000 UsD’000
FET FET T FET
At 1 January 2021 RK2021F1A18 142,641 50,335 25,540 471
Changes from financing EEBRLREE
cash flows 119,925 (14,379) - (13,932)
Acquisition of W BT 1 A)
subsidiaries - 95,541 - -
New leases g - 11,272 = =
Foreign exchange SN B
movement 5,412 2,286 - 30
Interest expense FEHX = 6,101 = 15,534
At 31 December 2021 2021612 H31H 267,978 151,156 25,540 2,103
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERESRHAE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the AR RERNBER SR LA
statements of cash flows is as follows: LU
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
usD’000 USD’000
TER FETT
Within operating activities gz mes 4,233 1,733
Within financing activities frRVE EEH 21,653 14,379

Total A&t 25,886 16,112




35.

36.

37.

38.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35.

No significant contingent liabilities were recognized within
the Group during the year.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 36.

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s bank
loans are included in note 29 to the financial statements.

COMMITMENTS 37.

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of each reporting period:

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

FHEE
RER AEBYEBRAEALFAE -

EERH
AEEAREBRRTERMBEREENFS
BRI IR M FE29 o

EIE
AEBREIRERE NI EAEKE -

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 UsSD’000
FEx FEx
Capital commitments in respect of: BT HEBE A FSE
Construction in progress EETRR 17,776 9,971
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. EAMLRZ
(a) The Group had the following transactions with (@) FAEERFRNEBABHETTUAT
related parties during the year: X5 :
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes USD’000 USD’000
k3 FET FEx
Entity controlled by the shareholder A2 REEAFE MK
which has significant influence RIEHIMER
over the Company
Sales of products EmiEE (i) 22,155 18,592
Entities controlled by the same AN E— AR A R
Controlling Shareholders of the Il E RS
Company (ir)
Purchase of inventories BETE (iii) 33,440 19,750
Management fee expense EEERAMY 499 389
Former immediate holding company Ail B #1227 (iv)
Interest expense FBEAX (iv) 1,551 1,447
Recruitment expenses RERL - 142
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38.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

The Group had the following transactions with
related parties during the year: (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(i)

(iv)

The sales of products to the entity controlled by
the shareholder which has significant influence
over the Company were made according to the
published prices and conditions offered to the
major customers of the Group.

Before 30 December 2022, these entities were
the fellow subsidiaries of the Company. Since
30 December 2022, these entities have changed
to be controlled by the same Controlling
Shareholders of the Company.

The purchase of inventories was mainly related
to feed. The transactions have been conducted
in accordance with market prices agreed
between the parties.

The interest expense was mainly related
to the loans from Japfa Ltd. Before 30
December 2022, Japfa Ltd. was the immediate
holding company of the Company. Since 30
December 2022, the Company has ceased to
be a subsidiary of Japfa Ltd. and Japfa Ltd.
has changed to be controlled by the same
Controlling Shareholders of the Company.

38.

BEBLERX5 (&)
FEEREREBBTETTAT

(a)

x5 :

ER

)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

(&)

B ARFEBERFZEHBRR
ERHNERBFONEREET
REAAEEIEZFREHD
NEER RIGIETT -

R2022%F12A308 /T » 25T
BAEARBNRZRKEBRR
B2022F 12 A30 B #E 25T

[
=
B omg o

BESASARTR 2
e

MEGEISRANAMN - X
%35 T8 15 8 5 R R IR
BARHTT -

MERXTEHRREEERNE
B - 72022812 A30H
Bl - EBERADRANERER
AFl e B2022F12A30H & -
ARBTBREZNHEL
A MEHREBR/XARFR
— PR AR IR o
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 38. BEHAXRS (&)

(b)

(c)

Compensation of key management personnel (b) FEBXTEEEAEHMH:
of the Group:

2022 2021

2022 20214F

USD’000 USD’000

FTER FET

Short-term employee benefits EHEEEEF 3,004 2,799

Share-based payments expenses LARR ) RER N RFE 12,617 15,026
Total compensation paid to key SNTEEEEABNTHRE

management personnel 15,621 17,825

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s FBREERESTRAEMESME—

emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial SHEEHPR T EHRERMIFEI -
statements.
Outstanding balances with related parties (c) EERBLHREMNEL

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with RERE AR - A& B B 5 R R
related parties as at the end of each reporting ENEHROFBEREERVBEREWE
period are disclosed in notes 22, 25, 26 and 28 to 22252628 -

the financial statements.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. RERESHWERMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RWESKR  SHEeRTAMNEREEAERT :
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
As at 31 December 2022 M2022612831H
Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income amortised cost Total
LR REE
FFTEREH
BETTAHM R
2HEUEH RAGTEN
SREE SREE &ast
usD’000 usD’000 usD’000
FEx FEx FER
Cash and cash equivalents BeMBREEEY - 57,138 57,138
Pledged deposits [mEzwEE= - 860 860
Trade receivables FEWRIR - 50,392 50,392
Deposits and other receivables & & K H b e U 7118 - 1,396 1,396
Long-term receivable RHEIEWFRIA - 12,203 12,203
Equity investment designated  {EEABUAREBETEER
at fair value through other H#err AHME2ER
comprehensive income R IRRERE 1,222 = 1,222
Total A&t 1,222 121,989 123,211
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REHESHERMITA (F)

Financial liabilities cRAE
Financial
liabilities at
fair value
through other Financial
comprehensive liabilities at
income amortised cost Total
UAREE
STEEHEEE
STAEMEE RS A
WENESREE TENEREE &ast
usD’000 usD’000 uUsD’000
FEx FEx FEx
Trade payables e A - 151,954 151,954
Financial liabilities included in st AE b (S 5B K FEAT
other payables and accruals HEMEREE - 63,058 63,058
Interest-bearing bank T BERITIER
borrowings - 311,926 311,926
Lease liabilities HEaE - 191,041 191,041
Total At - 717,979 717,979
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. R®RERZ/sMWEmIA (F)
(continued)

As at 31 December 2021 2021 12831H
Financial assets EeWMEE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income  amortised cost Total
RAnEETER
HEEr AL M2 B HEK AT EM
HE=NEREE SREE a5t
USD’000 USD’000 UsSD’000
FEx FEx FEx
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEZEY = 22,145 22,145
Pledged deposits [REwCEE- = 1,103 1,103
Trade receivables fEN IR - 46,600 46,600
Deposits and other receivables &% K H 1 e Y 5118 = 416 416
Long-term receivable £ B FE Wk E - 11,855 11,855
Equity investment designated  {EEBUARBETER
at fair value through other HEerr AHM2EK
comprehensive income mERERE 816 - 816

Total A&t 816 82,119 82,935
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39. RERBAINEWMIA (H)

TRAE

Financial
liabilities at

fair value
through other
comprehensive

Financial
liabilities at

income  amortised cost Total
AR EERE
BE#ZEA
Hith2mEz=a E28 - FISIDWIN
SRR FENERAR &5t
USD’000 USD’000 UsD’000
FET FET FET
Trade payables FE T 50IE = 79,640 79,640
Financial liabilities included in  &T AE i B R0 K E A
other payables and accruals HEMEMARE - 36,891 36,891
Loans from a former shareholder ATA R & - 25,540 25,540
Interest-bearing bank sTERITIER
borrowings - 267,978 267,978
Lease liabilities HEBRE = 151,156 151,156
Total a5t - 561,205 561,205

259



260

AustAsia Group Ltd.
MEEEARARA

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 431H

40.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged
deposits, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, derivative financial instruments, trade
payables, other payables, short-term interest-bearing bank
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of long-term receivable and long-term
interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value
as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
long-term receivable and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings as at the end of the year were assessed to be
insignificant.

40.

QAREEFE

TREERRBZAABEDNRERBTALE
RHEHTERMIZBELFREENFTR
TETENXZMEFNEEAR - T57
ERBRIVBREFTE AR EE

RekReEFEY SEBER - BURFK
- RERHEMBERFE  ITEERTA
FERTERIR - MBI - B BRITHE
RZanBEOUDREREE  T2HRZ
ETEANEHZHMNE -

REEWFIAR R SRITERZAIAE
EEEBERAFRUER  EERRRF
BRERNTAZRAAMAE - BIERRK
RenBETHRANRGE - BAKEEHRN
FIRA R BBRIA KRG BRT R A M E
TOTENRRMEINAABEZLIHC
HRALTEK °
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

The fair values of unlisted equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income have
been estimated using the market approach. The market
approach indicates the value of a company based on a
comparison of the valuation of comparable publicly traded
companies and transactions in the similar field of business.
This may be done by looking at key value indicators, such
as multiples to earnings, book value, sales and cash flows,
after taking into consideration relevant adjustment factors
to reflect the differences between the subject company
and the comparable companies. The Group has adopted
the Guideline Company Method (“GCM”) in deciding the
fair value of its investment in FUAA. GCM indicates that the
market value of the shares of a business by comparing it
to publicly traded companies in similar lines of business.
The conditions and prospects of companies in similar
lines of business depend on common factors such as
the overall demand for their products and services. The
directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting
from the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statements of financial position, and the
related changes in fair values, which are recorded in other
comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were
the most appropriate values at the end of each reporting
period.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
various counterparties, principally financial institutions
with good credit ratings. Derivative financial instruments,
including interest rate swaps and forward currency
contracts are measured using quoted prices from financial
institutions with which the interest rate swaps and forward
currency contracts are entered into. The carrying amounts
of interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts are
the same as their fair values.

40.

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

[ REEE (H)

BERUAREBEEEREHA AL ME
RN ETREREN R ABECERS
MEEEITEE - MBEREAI L ETHAE
M ERBUEBELINR BB RER R —
FABMERE KBEEHBEHEAEXR @ &
RATHBEREEER  HIWAFEEH -
REE - HERMRSREER - WRBREF
WARBEALL AR ZENER - KREED
RAESIREDE ([l RARPE]) UHEEE
RFUAARR BN QA EE - 585 REDER
BECEEYCEHRURBHREN LT ARE
TTHBERRTZEXEROMSEE 5
BELRBEHE R R AR & AT R BURR K
RIEZ fInSHEERRRGHEBETE -
EERA KAGERMEEH - XNEAE
BRRRIIBEN G DA EE  URREM
2HKEINENAABENERHEHIES
2 BREWERRBREE -

AEBEZEAHTFH (EBREEFRRY
WEREE) ZATTESRIA - TESR
TA(BEMNREHEREESH) KRAK
IR MR EES DN RBEEN R
Bt E - MEEHREREE A NN REE
BERAEEMRR -
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40.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of biological assets and other financial asset
which were measured in Level 3 as at 31 December 2021

and 2022:

Type

b

Valuation technique

fRE M

40. ALREEFE(E)

Significant unobservable
input

EATABERARE

LA AR2021E K2022F 12 A31 B4
BERRE=FEeNEmemEEGHER
RHER TN ERG AZIENEES

Inter-relationship
between significant
unobservable inputs and
fair value measurements
EXRTAEHEHAMBER
AEEFEZENELEE

Heifers and calves

BT RES

The fair value of 14-month-
old heifers and calves is
determined by reference

to the local market selling
price.

14EARERF REFHA
RBEDZ2REMTSEEE
F o

For the groups of heifers
and calves which are
younger than 14 months
old, incremental costs
required to raise the cows
from their respective ages
at the end of each reporting
period up to 14 months
were subtracted.
R Tm 148 A8 E K&
B REESRE AR
FHREBFRAEE14EA
PR EIEE KA -

For heifers and calves
which aged between 14
and 24 months, incremental
costs required to raise the
heifers from 14 months to
their respective ages at

the end of each reporting
period were added.

W 14Z24A AE K4 R
B ENESRESRREE
ERARI14ERAREEREF
BRPT B HIE SR o

Estimated local market
selling prices of 14-month-
old heifers was RMB21,800
and RMB19,500 per head
as at 31 December 2022
and 2021, respectively.
20224 K 20214 12 A 31
B 14EAREKFBEH
MSEBEFTIAIAEEAR
# 21,8007t & A R #19,500
IT o

Incremental costs for
heifers and calves which
are younger than 14 months
old ranged from RMB9,755
to RMB18,373 and
RMB8,453 to RMB16,882
per head as at 31
December 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

K 20224F K 2021412 A 31
B Twmi14EANEEERK
4 REH G E KA 5 Bl
T AR 755 TE AR
18,373 TR AR¥EB,453 T
AR#16,8827T °

Incremental costs for
heifers and calves which
aged between 14 and 24
months were RMB13,242
and RMB12,976 per head
as at 31 December 2022
and 2021, respectively.
20224 K 20214 12 A 31
B 14Z=24EAMBEKSE
FEF RIS AD 7
BAREA3 22T R AR
12,9767T °

An increase in the
estimated local market
selling price used would
result in increase in the
fair value of the heifers
and calves, and vice
versa.

PR A At B minEE
EABEBENG RIEFH
NABEEM  RZIR -

An increase in the
incremental costs used
would result in a decrease
in the fair value of heifers
and calves which are
younger than 14 months,
and vice versa.

PR SRR AR IS
BN 1418 A 0 B R4 B
SRR EERD  R2TF
SR o

An increase in the
incremental costs used
would result in an increase
in the fair value of heifers
and calves which aged
between 14 and 24
months, and vice versa.
BT 5% FA #3862 B A 38 1N 8
B14E 24 AMB K F K
BEMAREBEEN  R2
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of biological assets and other financial asset
which were measured in Level 3 as at 31 December 2021
and 2022: (continued)

Type

fcFicl

Valuation technique

fRE M

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

40. DAREHEFE (E)

Significant unobservable
input

EATUTBERARE

LA AR2021F K022 12 A31 B4
BEMAE=RIFENEMEREEHERN
AHEATABRGASENORE : (&)

Inter-relationship
between significant
unobservable inputs and
fair value measurements
EXRTAHEHAMBER
REEFEZENEEBRRER

Milkable cows

R

The fair values of milkable
cows are determined using
the multi-period excess
earnings method, which is
based on the discounted
future cash flows to be
generated by such milkable
COows.

BB AR BEERAZ A
BWREET - ZAETDER
BB E £ R AR K

=N
RERE ©

The estimated feeding
costs per kilogram (“kg”)

of raw milk used in the
valuation process ranged
from RMB2.27 to RMB3.06
and RMB2.20 to RMB2.70
as at 31 December 2022
and 2021, respectively.
20224 [ 2021412 B 31

B REEBEFERANET
SRR R A ET SRR AR 5 R
NFARE22TTEARE
3.06 TR ARME2.20TE A
R¥2.707T °

A milkable cow could have
as many as six lactation
cycles. Estimated average
daily milk yield per head

at each lactation cycle
ranges from 27kg to 40kg
and 25kg to 38kg as at 31
December 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

GRS EMFLBEIZ E R
R ° R20224F 2202112 8
31H » BHEEMNUMILERD
BEHEREET F B RENE
DRINF27 FRE40TF =R
25FRE38FR o

An increase in the
estimated feeding costs
per kg of raw milk used
would result in a decrease
in the fair value of the
milkable cows, and vice
versa.

FIER A RS T = REHE L
ST ERREAK AN 15 00 16 B BBk B
SRR EBERD  RZTR

An increase in the
estimated average daily
milk yield per head used
would result in an increase
in the fair value of milkable
cows, and vice versa.
FREC R ) G 5B RK BF F A fil 51
T HEDE I ERK
BB R A BEEM - R
IR e
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40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 40.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of biological assets and other financial asset
which were measured in Level 3 as at 31 December 2021
and 2022: (continued)

AREEFE (1E)

LATN AR 20214 k20224 12 A31 B4
BEMAE-GHENEMBERMEEGERN
BHMER T ERGASIENEE : (8)

Inter-relationship
between significant

Significant unobservable unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique input fair value measurements
EXRTUEHEHAMBER
pEid) fhERM EXFTEERABE REEFEZENEERR

Estimated average prices  An increase in the

of raw milk per kg ranged  estimated average price of
from RMB4.49 to RMB5.21  raw milk would result in an
and RMB4.54 to RMB5.26  increase in the fair value
as at 31 December 2022 of milkable cows, and vice
and 2021, respectively. versa.

20224 2021412 A31  REMDEE FIHEBRILMN
B 8FTRRHEDOMGT SEBRREFHAREER
HERIBINTARE449 S RZ2TA -
TEARES 21T RARKE

4.54TE AR#5.267T °

Discount rates for estimated An increase in the

future cash flows used were estimated discount rate
12% and 12% as at 31 used would result in a
December 2022 and 2021, decrease in the fair value

respectively.

of milkable cows, and vice

R2022F 20214 12H31  versa.
B - FTERAMMETARFRIBESR P A A G ELIR X8 i
SRR E12%K12% o BRRIFH AL EBETE

W RZ IR
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of biological assets and other financial asset
which were measured in Level 3 as at 31 December 2021
and 2022: (continued)

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

40. 2 R{EEFE (F)

Significant unobservable

LA AR2021F K022 12 A31 B4
BEMAE=RIFENEMEREEHERN
AHEATABRGASENORE : (&)

Inter-relationship
between significant
unobservable inputs and

Type Valuation technique input fair value measurements
EAFRABEBABBEN

EFid) fhER M ERTABERARE REEFEZENEEBRE

Beef cattle The fair values of newborn  Estimated local market An increase in the

A4 beef cattle and mature beef selling prices of newborn estimated local market

cattle were determined

by reference to the local
market selling prices.
MERFREARFH R E
BN2REMMISEBETE °

The fair value of immature
beef cattle was determined
by reference to the local
market selling prices

of newborn beef cattle

and mature beef cattle,
adjusted by the estimated
incremental daily gain in
weight at the end of each
reporting period.

SHERR - RERAER
/"tfﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁ”%ﬁiﬁfﬁﬂﬁk
ARFHETISEEET
WARMR (5T R B EIg 8 1T
PE o

beef cattle per head
ranged from RMB2,000 to
RMB2,930 and RMB2,000
to RMB2,930 as at 31
December 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
20224 [ 2021412 A 31
H - SSEFERAFR-EE
WHIHEBI RN FARE
2,0007tE ARKE2,9307T
MARE2,000TE ARE
2,9307T °

Estimated local market
selling prices of mature
beef cattle per head
ranged from RMB22,136 to
RMB29,880 and RMB21,076
to RMB29,145 as at 31
December 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
20224 ;2021412 A 31
BEKAAFOEEE
WHHEBI RN FARE
22,136 TZ AR#29,8807T
MARE21,076 TEARKE
29,1457T °

selling prices of newborn
beef cattle used would
result in an increase in the
fair value of beef cattle,
and vice versa.

FRER AR 3T A A A B0 (A 52 3
TiHEE LABERARLH
RABEEM  RZIR -

An increase in the
estimated local market
selling prices of mature
beef cattle used would
result in an increase in the
fair value of beef cattle,
and vice versa.

FRER B A A AL - B0 {512 3
TiHEE LABERALH
NAEEEN - RZINA °
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40.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of biological assets and other financial asset
which were measured in Level 3 as at 31 December 2021

and 2022: (continued)

Type

b

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation technique

fRE M

40.

Significant unobservable
input

EXTIBERARE

AREEFE (E)

AT AR2021FE K2022F 12 A31 B4
BEMRE=FEmEMmemEEHERN
BHEATABEHARENRE : (8)

Inter-relationship
between significant
unobservable inputs and
fair value measurements
EXRTAEHEHAMBER
REEFEZENEEBRR

Equity investment
designated at fair
value through other
comprehensive income
EERUARBEGEE

HE B AR b2 E G
pORR 1R 4

The fair value of equity
investment designated at
fair value through other
comprehensive income is
estimated using the market
approach. Fair value is
estimated based on value
of comparable listed
companies and discounted
for lack of liquidity.
EERUAABEFSEHEE
st AE b 2 E e AR AR
BN AR BERATSEM
it e RABEMBRBAILR EH
NAWEEETTHET - WEER
ZRE)EMmBLIR o

The average daily gain in
weight per head ranged
from 0.87kg to 1.43kg and
0.87kg to 1.43kg as at 31
December 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
20224 [ 2021412 A 31

H - SSETHAESEHSHINT
0.87F5%%£1.43F %= %0.87
FrRZE1.43F% o

Lack of marketability
discount (“LoMD”)
R Z B AT

An increase in the average
daily gain in weight per
head would result in the
increase in the fair value
of the immature beef
cattle, and vice versa.
BRI HEENEINEE
BURKARF D R BEE
mo 2R e

An increase in the

LoMD would result in a
decrease in the fair value
of the unquoted equity
investment.

BRZ ST 08I IS B
BOE L TREREN DA E
BRD -

If the LoMD increases

by 1%, the estimated fair
value of equity investment
will decrease by

USD 16,000 and USD9,000
as at 31 December 2022
and 2021, respectively.

M 20224 [ 2021412 A 31
B - M= @M HE &
1% » RIERE BB AR
BEE D A2 16,0003 T
19,0003 7T ©
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Fair value hierarchy
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The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s

financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as

follows:

Assets:

As at 31 December 2022

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

DAEEE ()

AEBETBITA (P FJEEEETEEEEA’T
AN
Pz

EfE
AEMEENERTA) MEREERAAEE

R2022%12A31H

Fair value measurement using

AREBEEFEFRAUTEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SERTIEHRE BEATEREGHA BEATABE
(B-&) BB (EZR) BARE(F=%) &t
UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000
FTER TER TER TER
Equity investment designated ETE AN DA EE
at fair value through other SFEEHEEHA
comprehensive income H A 2 T U s Y
PR E - - 1,222 1,222
Biological assets — current EWEE—RE - - 54,600 54,600
Biological assets — non current 418 E—3ER® - - 495,404 495,404
- - 551,226 551,226
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31 December 2022

2022F12H31H

40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 40.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 December 2021

N,
2

BE (
NABEER (&)
M20215E12A31H

.1]13
fim
i

A
oy

N

Fair value measurement using
NREEFERMBUTEL

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EXNAER EATAEE
R TIS IR E PN ¢ LN 6
(B—4) (F=#H) (B=4) At
UsD’000 USD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000
FET FTET F=r FET
Equity investment designated 38T AMUAR(ERE
at fair value through other SAERHZHA
comprehensive income Hn 2 E A
MRIERE = = 816 816
Biological assets — current EYEE—RE - = 49,217 49,217
Biological assets — non current “£¥&E—3IERE - - 477,697 477,697
- - 527,730 527,730

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no

transfers into or out of Level 3 for both assets and

liabilities.

The movements in fair value measurements of biological
assets within Level 3 during the year are disclosed in note
21 to the financial statements.

FA -BENBEOMBEESE —HREFE_R
AABEAEZEER  TEE=HFNEA
HEH -

X

EZRNEMEEN AR BEGEHE NS
BB S AN 21 R -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise bank loans, other interest-bearing
loans, cash and short-term deposits. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's obligations
with a floating interest rate. The Group closely monitors
its interest rate risk by performing periodic reviews and
evaluations of its debt portfolio and gearing ratio. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of the bank loans
of the Group are disclosed in note 31 to the financial
statements. The Group enters into interest rate swaps, in
which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals,
the difference between fixed and variable rate interest
amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon
notional principal amount. In the opinion of management,
the Group has no significant interest rate risk.

41.

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

cREAREEBERBE

&%?ﬁil,ﬂ\’il\ CAEENTIZSMIABRE
RITER EMEAERER R RkEHE
e %2 @mﬁIﬂE’UExH MR RSB
EKEBELEEED  AEEHFAAEEBM

EEREANZEEMSREEREE I
FE W R IE K JE T FRIE o

rEEeRITAEEEANEIEZRR AT ER
% INERR - EERRATENERR - =
EFERBEHR UEEBESERR  H

BT o

=R

AEEHEBRNTSNXEBHEREBEAE
BN EFEHERFRE  AEEEB
HEHEBHEHEREAABLXETERRE
RetHE - OISR EM R EE - ANEEIRTT
BRI &R RN R R M E31
BE - AREATUNXREY  KEERIR
B R D 88 B ] 31 348 (] 78 ) o B m] 488 )
SHHENERE  ZERN2EZATRNE
BEATLHEAE  c ERERR  AEEITE
AN KR o
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31 December 2022
202212 A31H

41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41. <©rRAREEBEREEK ()
AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) = m ks ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRETRTEMEEMESRFAENBEN
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other T AEERAANE CGRREEE R EMER
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax MEE)MASEEREZHAN RSB ELES
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the HIHRRE ©
Group’s equity.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in basis points before tax in equity*
EHehm, B4 A0 77 M
(M 2) ®mORD) (@) *
% USD’000 uUsD’000
% TEx FER
2022 20224
RMB AR 0.5 1,590 -
RMB AR (0.5) (1,590) -
2021 20214
RMB AR 0.5 1,357 =
RMB AR (0.5) (1,357) =
* Excluding retained profits. * TEFBEBFFE -

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk principally
relates to the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China,
Singapore and Hong Kong where some of the transactions
are denominated in United States Dollar (“USD”) and
Singapore Dollar (“SGD”). The functional currencies of the
Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China, Singapore and
Hong Kong are Chinese Renminbi (“RMB"), SGD and Hong
Kong Dollar (“HKD"), respectively.

S L B

7 £% 18 T e ) S BE PR i = R B AR SR X R
A~ IR EENRBRARNED XS
AT (T ]) RFmg T ([#T]) 5iE
B - AEERPEAM - IR EEERN
MEARNNEEEIIRARE (AR
1) # kBT (B -
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202212 A31H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41. SmEKREEBERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SPEE R B (4E)
Therefore, the fluctuations in the exchange rates could Eit - EXREAUETELAEERNLEE
affect the Group’s results of operations. The Group entered B AEERITERNEESAREPAREE
into forward currency contracts to hedge foreign currency AETTIMERIRITE FRFTE £ INE R b -
risk arising from the Group’'s bank loans denominated in BTSRRI BT 31 P ER - BIRER A - K
USD as disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements. In SE mERINERR ©
the opinion of management, the Group has no significant
foreign currency risk.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the TRETAEETAANE (BREEEER
Group'’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair values BEMNAABEEES) RASEESTHME
of monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity HEERFITENERLT HETLASE
to a reasonably possible change in the USD exchange rate EERBAEEEYNERSRETEHMN
against the respective functional currencies of the Group’s BRRE -
entities, with all other variables held constant.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
USD rate before tax in equity**
EEREM BiATFE REZS AN
JSOR2)  #iGRd) S OR D) **
% UsSD’000 uUsD’000
% FER FEx
2022 20224
If the USD weakens against WETHARBRE
the RMB (5) 836 836
If the USD strengthens against {37035 A REFHE
the RMB 5 (836) (836)
2021 20214
If the USD weakens against WETHARKERE
the RMB (5) 326 326
If the USD strengthens against f#3TH AREFHE
the RMB 5 (326) (326)

* Excluding foreign currency translation reserve.

*

TEIBINERE R -
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41. <©rRAREEBEREEK ()
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk FERE
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy AREEEER A RSB RIFNFE =TT
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers X5 - ARBEOBRRBAA B BIREE RN
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit EORGMNBFHAEIEEEGRF o Ik
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances Sh - AREEY IR TR SREITEE - A
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's SEEROIERBRLTEK -
exposure to bad debts is not significant.
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BEERRFRER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRIFIRBEAREEEBRRNOEEERR
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, EREEAR  ERERNAHEM (FRIFR
which is mainly based on past due information unless other th B R AT AN LT L BRARE ) T
information is available without undue cost or effort, and ) RREREMRNERERIME -
year-end staging classification at the end of each reporting
period.
As at 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A
EEBR  2BESEEER  simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-BE E-RR  ESER O ECRE &t
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
TERT TERT TERT S TEn
Trade receivables* e B - = = 50,392 50,392
Financial assets included in STAERNIE - HERRIE
prepayments, other receivables REMEENNERERE
and other assets
- Normal** — IE&* 1,396 - - - 1,396
Long-term receivable REEMGIE - 12,203 - - 12,203
Pledged deposits [REEPEEES
— Not yet past due — mAREH 860 - - - 860
Cash and cash equivalents R RR2EEY
- Not yet past due — MAREH 57,138 - - - 57,138
59,394 12,203 - 50,392 121,989
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41.
AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2021

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

cREREEBEREEK (&)

BESRBRERKE (E)
HR2021F12831H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 ATEH
=EEE 2HBRHEESE Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
S FZRBE  F=BBR  HhRE A%
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’'000 USD’'000
TErn TEn TEn TEn TEn
Trade receivables* R R - = = 46,600 46,600
Financial assets included in STATRNHIE - it
prepayments, other receivables WiEk - HEEN
and other assets HERMEE
- Normal** = B 416 = = = 416
Long-term receivable REEYIE = 11,855 = = 11,855
Pledged deposits BHEBER
— Not yet past due — MR 1,103 - - = 1,103
Cash and cash equivalents Re kR EEY
- Not yet past due — KRB 22,145 = = = 22,145
23,664 11,855 - 46,600 82,119

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 22 to the
financial statements.

> The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

o AR B R A O o k) M
T R B AE T B R B R SR R
S22 -

* SEATEN TR - E b UG R M E
BrepBEENERERRE B XRERIN
REBRAEEMNOBERT - EEEEER
WESIET ] KA SWMEENEER
BEWES1FE] -
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral.

At the end of each reporting period, certain concentrations
arose from credit risk of the Group’s trade receivables due
from the Group’s five largest customers as follows:

41. LREREEAEREEE (&)

REREBRRFERER (H)

HRASEEERERAREERFNE=]
HEITR S WEFWEERR -

RERESHR  ARERKEFAKREFK
HEAMETEERRERERNT :

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

R2022F 20214

12H31H 12A31H

Customer A BEA 22% 26%

Customer B =FB 24% 26%

Customer C ®FC 7% 10%

Customer D ZFD N/A* 7%
i@ A

Customer E =FE N/A* 4%
~EA*

Customer F EFF 6% N/A*

i A

Customer G XFG 4% N/A*

TEA*

63% 73%

a The corresponding trade receivables were not those * RERERAR - BRZERTFOHEER

due from the Group’s five largest customers at the end
of each reporting period.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by establishing
credit verification procedures. Management determines
that there are minimal concentrations of credit risk
within the Group as the customers of the Group’s trade
receivables are recognised and creditworthy.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

B FAREENRARES °

EERBROETREETVRBRIEERER
FFETER - EEERA  ARAEBEEK
FIENFFPHERN B EERY - Rt AR&E
EHEERREREEHE -

B B 7 5 [ X e W T T T R 1 15 B LB Y
BEBURF BRI MR 22 EE -
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2022912 A31H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41. 2REMEEEEREE (8)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk TR B LB

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using AEERALBERDERTE T AERHA
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the AemEpmEk ZIAGZEEHSMIA
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial kemEE (WEYIE) BB RKRE
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows KEHEBHBRRERE -

from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at AEENSRAERSHREHRNIHER
the end of each reporting period, based on the contractual (REHRBEBAMNFTE D) AT -
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Group KEE

As at 31 December 2022
A2022%F12831H

On demand

or less than
1year 1to5years Over5 years Total
RERERE
RO E 1256 BiB5E &t
USD’000 uUsSD’000 uUSD’000 uUsSD’000
FERT FERT FER FER
Lease liabilities HEARE 20,899 74,565 238,570 334,034
Interest-bearing bank FTEERITIER
borrowings 145,165 204,599 10,839 360,603
Trade payables e FA 151,954 - - 151,954
Financial liabilities included & A A &~ Z8
in other payables and K FEFHIER &
accruals TEEE 49,943 14,389 = 64,332

367,961 293,553 249,409 910,923
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41.

AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Group (continued)

cREREEBEEREEK (&)

REBEER ()
FEE (&)

As at 31 December 2021
H2021F12831H

On demand
or less than
1year 1to5years Overb5 years Total
REREEN
D1 12545 HBimsF A&t
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
F=T F=T F=T FETT
Lease liabilities HEAE 18,818 51,932 224,527 291,772
Interest-bearing bank FFERITER
borrowings 80,281 229,014 - 309,295
Loans from a former KE—BRREER
shareholder 8,062 21,033 - 29,095
Trade payables FEAT5RIE 79,640 = = 79,640
Financial liabilities included & AE # & 08
in other payables and MEETIRE
accruals TRAE 23,245 15,685 - 38,930
206,541 317,664 224,527 748,732
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

As at 31 December 2021 and 2022, the Group had long-
term receivables denominated in United States dollars and
certain interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated in
RMB. The interest rates of these instruments are based
on the LIBOR with a tenor of one or six months, which will
cease to be published after 30 June 2023. Replacement of
the benchmark rates of these instruments from LIBOR to
an RFR has yet to commence but it is expected that there
will be renegotiations of terms in the future. During the
transition, the Group is exposed to the following risks:

. Parties to the contract may not reach agreement in
a timely manner as any changes to the contractual
terms require the agreement of all parties to the
contract

° Additional time may be needed for the parties to
the contract to reach an agreement as they may
renegotiate terms which are not part of the interest
rate benchmark reform (e.g., changing the credit
spread of the bank borrowings due to changes in
credit risk of the Group).

The information about financial instruments based on
an interbank offered rate that has yet to transition to an

alternative benchmark rate is as follows:

As at 31 December 2022

41.

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

SREMEE B ERBUER ()
FREEHRE

R2021EK2022512A318 - KEEA
DA%TEEHEE’JEﬂﬁﬁuﬁz%lé&ux/\ﬁﬁgéﬂa
METHERITER - ZETAMFE
REBERITRERS - IR A—E A EJZ/\1I
A #12023F6 A0 B A EIEAM - MK
A KZE TAEMEEN R HBERITRE
FWEERAERKRAE  BEAREBER
&R o @ERRE - NEBMEEATRE

© ARENTREERMERBE - &
RENERHERZELHFEANE
FRAE -

+ ANEFTREEESEMERG

MR EFRE R BRI TER A
1% EREFMER (P10 - HRAE
B B e 0 B T 2 SR 1T R SR
EEFE) -

ERRITAEFRENZERRBESERE

EREMNEMTAERNAT :

R2022%12 A31H

Non-derivative Non-derivative

financial financial

assets — liabilities —

carrying value carrying value

IESTE S EPTE S

BE-REE &HfE-REE

UsD’000 uUSsD’000

FTERT FTER

Long-term receivable KHEEWR A 15,469 =
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEERITIER - 41,514
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

As at 31 December 2021

41.

tREARSEEEREXK (F)
FIREENE (F)
R2021F 12 A31H

Non-derivative  Non-derivative

financial financial

assets — liabilities —

carrying value  carrying value

EITE SR EPTE SR

EE—REE &EFE--KREE

USD’000 USD’000

FET FET

Long-term receivable = B pE K8 15,469 =
Loans from a former shareholder RE—BAIREER = 25,540

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximize shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the year.

EXER
AEEEAEENTERRRRERARER
BREMRESN  THEFRBRNERLE L
X EEBARAEBREE -

AEEEEEERERS  WRELEIRLE
FAMEREENRRSEELETRHE -
REFXABRENGRE  AEEAEGHE
ARRIKMAOBRE - ARREEEARET
AL o REBAREAIMNBHEIMEE REKR
ARR - RBRME E2EANER K



41.

Annual Report 2022
RO CEER

Notes to Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is debt divided by capital. Debt includes interest-bearing
bank borrowings, loans from a former shareholder and
lease liabilities. Capital includes equity attributable to
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of
each reporting period were as follows:

41.
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

THAREERRRBE (&)

EREE (F)

ARBEREARGEL R (BMERFER A
BEAR)SEER - EBHEEFSRITER
BREFRBEAE - EABERARES
AR - RNEBRRRRNEAAEL
KT

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
UsSD’000 UsSD’000
FEx FEx
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRRITER ORB RIERE)

(current and non-current) 311,926 267,978
Loans from a former shareholder KB —BBIREER - 25,540
Lease liabilities (current and non-current) HEEE (R EIERE) 191,041 151,156
Debt B 502,967 444,674
Equity attributable to owners of the parent ~ &FARIEA AREIGHEZ 800,304 786,192
Gearing ratio BEREELE 63% 57%
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42,

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42. ZXAREBERRE
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the REEEAR - ANA A8 8RR R E R
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: T
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FEr
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB R R E 554,895 560,443
Equity investment designated at fair value  #EFEAUAABEFERLEE
through other comprehensive income FFAE MR E R E MR ERE 1,222 816
Long-term receivable RHEE W GE 12,203 11,855
Total non-current assets EmBEERE 568,320 573,114
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, other receivables and other — FBfIZUE  EfthEWGRIE M H A
assets BE 29,303 34,773
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIBREEEY 22,921 981
Total current assets MEEERE 52,224 35,754
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals EAhpE I R EETIR B 216,739 215,513
Share-based payment liability AR AERA S REE - 4,587
Loans from a former shareholder RE—RBAIRRER - 6,300
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERITER 32,366 23,532
Tax payable JE 4N R 5 5
Total current liabilities mENE FiEEE 249,110 249,937
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEFE (196,886) (214,183)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERREBARE
LIABILITIES 371,434 358,931
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBAME
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HERITIER 9,148 41,836
Deferred tax liabilities RERERE 600 600
Total non-current liabilities R aEERE 9,748 42,436
Net assets BEFE 361,686 316,495
EQUITY =
Share capital f& A 385,992 308,502
Reserves & (24,306) 7,993
Total equity e 361,686 316,495
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42.

COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
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31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

RARFBIRRE ()

ARARNFBHEZNT -

Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets
at fair value
through other Share
Share  comprehensive option  Accumulated
capital income reserve losses Total
WRRBEsE
BEEHHA
i 2 Bl
SRAEN
BA  ArEERE RERERE RitEE CH)
UsSD'000 USD'000 USD’000 USD'000 USD'000
Txn T A Txn S
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 7202012 A318 k20211 A 1A 308,502 (6,298) 4,668 (765) 306,107
Loss for the year ERER - - (1,686) (1,686)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMZEER (417) = = (417)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FR2EFRLE = (417) = (1,686) (2,1030
Equity-settled share option arrangements ~ WEX S EMERER = = 12,491 - 12,491
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 72021128318 202251 A 1A 308,502 (6,715) 17,159 (2,451) 316,495
Loss for the year FRER = = = (18,678) (18,678)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FRENZABE = 406 = - 406
Total comprehensive loss for the year FR2EEBAE = 406 = (18,678) (18,272)
Issuance of shares upon listing on the REBBHRA ETETRG
Hong Kong Stock Exchange 25,210 = = = 25,210
Issuance of shares pursuant to share REERETIRTRG
option scheme 29,097 - (29,097) - -
Capitalisation of listing expense FIRATERE (2,357) = = = (2,357)
Transfer from loan from a shareholder ERATE—EREHER 25,540 = = = 25,540
Equity-settled share option arrangements  JAEREERBRERH = = 15,070 = 15,070
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 4318 385,992 (6,309) 3,132 (21,129) 361,686
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B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2022
2022% 12 A31H

43. EVENTS AFTER EACH REPORTING PERIOD 43.

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by
the Company or by the Group after 31 December 2022.

44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44,

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 1 March 2023.

BEHRER

R2022%F 12 A31B 2% » AAAIKAEE
BEARBEBEE -

it B T B B A 3R R

SR ERNC023FIA1HEEES I AR
FHET)E -
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As of December 31,

HZ12831H
2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-CF R ZE-RE Z“E-NHF
UsSD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD'000
FER TEx TEn TEn
REVENUE WA 562,786 521,921 404,792 351,505
Cost of sales HERA (560,695) (519,384) (404,685) (351,532)
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw milk at fair TERERRAAEENEE
value less costs to sell at the point of harvest AN S ERFER
EEfRE 124,786 153,770 128,253 108,128
Gains arising from changes in fair value less cost to REAF AR EEREE
sell of beef cattle A B IR 3,796 19,590 21,850 13,460
Gross profit e 130,673 175,897 150,210 121,561
Other income and gains HE A R dia 7,441 13,968 5,930 4,951
Losses arising from changes in fair value less costs REHMEMEEARBE
to sell of other biological assets WIHEK AR BE (23,409) (11,316) (14,163) (12,047)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERS (429) (540) (632) (4,193)
Administrative expenses TBFAY (49,495) (43,028) (24,173) (16,394)
Impairment losses on financial assets SREERBESRE - (4,900) = =
Other expenses HitA% (6,811) (1,440) (3,374) (4,716)
Finance costs AR (32,527) (21,635) (13,605) (14,405)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS R B &L & £ H A1 FIE 25,443 107,006 100,193 74,757
Income tax expense FIEREY (2,049) (2,434) (1,114) (127)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING REFBELEBOFENTE
OPERATIONS 23,394 104,572 99,079 74,630
Loss for the year/period from a discontinued operation REBKIHEEEKEN
RN/ BrER - - (3,239) (7,063)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD FR/ BHRFE 23,394 104,572 95,840 67,567
Attributable to: VSN
Owners of the parent NAER A 23,394 104,572 95,840 67,567
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M=

As of December 31,

HZ12A31H
2022 2021 2020 2019
“E--f R ZTZTF ZENE
UsD’000 USD'000 UsSD'000 USD'000
FER TEr TEn TEn
Total assets BERE 1,542,141 1,375,235 975,439 970,560
Total Liabilities BEEE 741,837 589,043 323,770 405,012
Total equity ERAE 800,304 786,192 651,669 565,548
Attributable to Owners of the Company YN 2N 3 800,304 786,192 651,669 565,548
Non-controlling interests IR R - - - -
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Definitions and Glossary

BERARR

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the RAFERA @ BrXERBBHIEN A THEEET
following expressions shall have the following meanings. HRE

“‘AAG PSP"

[AAGHE R D5t 8l ]

“Annona”

[ Annona

“Audit Committee”

[BZEEE]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[EFg]

“CG Code”

“Companies Ordinance”

[ RMEDI ]

“Constitution”

the AAG Performance Share Plan adopted by the Company on 3 July
2020, which was amended on 5 December 2022

RARIR2020F 7 A3 RERMHIAAGE M D 5T &l - &t E17020225F12 A5 H
&&7

Annona Pte. Ltd., a private company limited by shares incorporated
under the laws of Singapore on 3 November 2009 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Japfa

Annona Pte. Ltd. * —ZRMR 20094 11 A 3 B ARIE T AN3E0E 2R T Ak 32 A9 AL A R
MERRE - REENZENB AT

the audit committee of the Board

EEgERZES

the board of directors of the Company

RRBEES

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules

LR BT ER+ ATE R R E AT R

AustAsia Group Ltd., a company incorporated under the laws of
Singapore with limited liability on 17 April 2009

AustAsia Group Ltd. © —KH2009F 4 317 BiREF =R T MR LA
R A

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time
EREDF622F (R ANMED]) (B TNRHEET A 7T )

the constitution of the Company (as amended from time to time), adopted
on 11 November 2022 and effective from the Listing Date
RARR2022F 11 A 11 BERMIWLH £ B EIE E R BBER (ETRHERT)



286

AustAsia Group Ltd.
MEEEARARA

Definitions and Glossary

BERARR

“Controlling Shareholders”

[ AR

“Director(s)’

[E%]

‘ESG”
[ESG]

“ESG Report”
[ESGH#4]

“Global Offering”
[ZIREE

noow

“Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”

S SE AN

“HK$” of “Hong Kong dollars”
[T

“Hong Kong”
(&8

“Japfa”

[fE3% ]

“Listing’
[ ]

has the meaning given to it in the Listing Rules and, unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to the group of Controlling Shareholders
comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa, the Scuderia
Trust, Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee of the Scuderia Trust),
Magnus Nominees Limited, Fidelis Nominees Limited, Fusion Investment
Holdings Limited, Rangi Management Limited, Tasburgh Limited and
Tallowe Services Inc.

BA FmARRAFAETHEE - BERXESEMEI - fEHRenaldo Santosast
4 + Gabriella SantosaZ &= * Scuderia Trust * Highvern Trustees Limited
(fE&Scuderia Trustfy52 3L A) * Magnus Nominees Limited * Fidelis
Nominees Limited » B & EER AR Q7 - Rangi Management Limited
Tasburgh Limited & Tallowe Services Inc. 48 &) — 481 fE A% 3R

the director(s) of the Company
RRRES

Environmental, Social and Governance
RIE - g RER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R g8 RERRE

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Shares

BRARNNEBLBARMBEREREE

the Company and its subsidiaries
RARREMEB LA

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BREEE®ET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEIEBRRITRIE

Japfa Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore on 8 October 2008 and
listed on the Mainboard of SGX-ST (stock code: UD2)

£% - —KP20084F 10 48 BAEFT MK s MBS R FT A2 PR EMR ey 2 &)
(FEHNHE - UD2)

The listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
M An FERGE B2 P E AR T
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BERARR

“Listing Date” 30 December 2022, being the date of listing of the Shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange

[ Em A i 2022412 30 A - AR ARG BRI AT = #) H

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

[ B A i (BEBMERZMERATES EMRA) (EARHERT )

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

[MRZE<r Al i AR RIS ATE E T EIT AE BT AR HHIRAESTA

“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Board

[REZRET ] i EEgRL%EE

“PRC” or “China” the People’'s Republic of China, but for the purposes of this annual report

only, except where the context requires, references in this prospectus to
PRC or China exclude Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

[ ] £l PEARANE  EERAKNFRMNE - MXBESBMEIN - NFRE P EAE
BTBEES - RPIRAK

“Prospectus” The prospectus of the Company dated 16 December 2022
[fARER ] | ANRABI A B2022F 12 A16 H 2 BKRERE

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

[ARE] 5 FEEEEBARKE

“Remuneration Committee’ the remuneration committee of the Board

[FEE 2 | & ExeFMEEe

“RSU” restricted share units granted under the RSU Scheme

[ PR il 17 B8 iz | 5 IR 2 BRI A £ B8 7 51 &35 T B0 PR 1 1 A 1 BB iz

“RSU Scheme” the post-IPO RSU Scheme adopted by the Company on 5 December
2022.

[ S20R i M0 B8 it &1 s RAAEIR2022F12 A5 AFMAN B R AR EEE R HIRG, B2

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong

Kong), as amended or supplemented from time to time
[FEH KB EG) ] 5 BRENFEST EC(EF RG] (ETRAERT S T)
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BERARR

“Shares”

[ Bt ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ AR

“Singapore”

[ 37 3 |
“Singapore Companies Act”
[ R ELED ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bt 22 FfT |

“U.S.” or “United States”
[Z£E |

“US$” or “USD”
ESv

ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company

AR FBA B BB

holder(s) of Shares
auESZEPN

the Republic of Singapore
TN H AN

the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

1967 FCRENE) - EARHERT ~ WA E a5 &k

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMEXSMAR LT

the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any state of
the United States and the District of Columbia
ENERERE - AEL KB - EEMEMAIMN R fmt R R

Dollars, the lawful currency of the U.S.

XENEEEEET
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